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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

Xl ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended May 31, 200
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number: (-14376

Oracle Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 94-287118¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)

500 Oracle Parkway
Redwood City, California 94065

(Address of principal executive offices, includingip code)

(650) 506-7000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlie Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢ifie Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share
Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sslobrter period that the registrant was requirefilésuch reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 daysSYIXI NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge]dfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant isn@relerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 offlxehange Act). YESXI NO O

The aggregate market value of the voting stock hgldon-affiliates of the registrant was $50,087,000 based on the number of shares held
by nonaffiliates of the registrant as of May 31, 2005 éased on the reported last sale price of comrumk ®n November 30, 2004, whict
the last business day of the registrant’s mostnticeompleted second fiscal quarter. This cal¢olatioes not reflect a determination that
persons are affiliates for any other purposes.

Number of shares of common stock outstanding dsioé 24, 2005: 5,146,713,8

Documents Incorporated by Reference:

Part lll—Portions of the registrant’s definitivegay statement to be issued in conjunction withs&ght's annual stockholders’ meeting to be
held on October 10, 2005.
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Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Annugkport on Form 10-K contains forward-looking stag@ms that involve risks and uncertainties
that could cause our actual results to differ miallgr Factors that might cause or contribute tohsdifferences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in the section entitled “Managem&iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionda&Results of Operations—Factors That
May Affect Our Future Results or the Market Pri¢&®air Stock.” When used in this report, the wordggects,” “anticipates,” “intends,”
“plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and sianilexpressions are generally intended to identifwérd-looking statements. You should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking states, which reflect our opinions only as of theedaf this Annual Report. We undertake no
obligation to publicly release any revisions to fbewvard-looking statements after the date of ttisument. You should carefully review the
risk factors described in other documents we fiberf time to time with the Securities and Exchangen@®ission, including the Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by us in our 208€al year, which runs from June 1, 2005 to May Z106.

PART |
Item 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camypWe develop, manufacture, market, distribute, service database and middleware
software as well as applications software desidgadtlp our customers manage and grow their busiogsrations.

Our goal is to offer customers with scalable, tdkasecure and integrated database and middlewarapplications software that provic
transactional efficiencies, adapts to an orgaroe&iunique needs and allows better ways to acedsnanage information at a low total cost
of ownership. We seek to be an industry leadeaghef the specific product categories in whichoempete and to expand into new and
emerging markets. In fiscal 2005, we focused cengfthening our market position and enhancing oistiag portfolio of products and servic

as well as acquiring and integrating businessdsatbdelieve will improve our competitive positie@xpand our customer base, provide greater
scale to increase our research and developmerdcoderate innovation.

In January 2005, we completed the acquisition ofplReSoft, Inc., a provider of enterprise applicatsmftware products for approximately
$11.1 billion. We have completed the substantigbnitg of our planned legadntity mergers, information system conversionsiateration o
PeopleSoft’s operations and expect to finalizereaoraining integration activities within the next shonths. In April 2005, we completed the
acquisition of Retek, Inc., a provider of softwamutions and services to the retail industry fopraximately $700 million. We also completed
other smaller acquisitions over the past severals/and expect to continue to acquire or make tmessts in complementary companies,
products, services and technologies in the futtee. Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates for additional information related to
our acquisitions.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 1986 aslaWsre corporation and is the successor to op@baginally begun in June 1977.

Software and Services

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces. Our software business is further orgahizes two operating segments: (1) n
software licenses and (2) software license updatdgroduct support. Our services business isdudiganized into three operating segments:
(1) consulting, (2) advanced product services &)eéducation. Our software business represented 80% and 76% of total revenues and our
services business represented 20%, 21% and 248tabfévenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, rasdyg. See Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation related to our operating segments.
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Software Busines:
New Software License

New software licenses include the licensing of base and middleware software, which consists oOtteele Database and Oracle Fus
Middleware, as well as applications software. @ahhology and business solutions are based ortemén e-business model comprised of
interconnected database servers, application senweb servers and desktop computers or mobiledgviunning web browsers. This
architecture enables end users to access busiagsart applications through a universally adoptell browser interface, while providing
enterprises the most efficient and cost effectiethod of managing business information and apjdicat

In an internet e-business model, database seneaamage and protect the underlying business infoonatvhile application servers run the
business applications that automate a myriad ahbas functions. We have focused on concepts ssiglobal single instancepplication
deployment that establishes fewer, high qualitabases of important business information, rathem ttozens or hundreds of disparate
databases that are difficult to synchronize anddioate. Our integrated, component-based archite@chieves high quality business
information and can be adapted to the specific :e¢dny industry or application. Oracle technoladgo operates on multiple systems
including Linux, UNIX, mainframes and Windows.

New software license revenues include all feeseshfrom granting customers licenses to use ouwsoé products and exclude reven

derived from software license updates and prodympart. The standard end user software licenseeagget for our products provides for an
initial fee to use the product in perpetuity basach maximum number of processors, named usether metrics. We also have other types of
software license agreements restricted by the nugftemployees or the license term. New softwarense revenues represented 35% of total
revenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Database and Middleware Software

Our grid software provides a cost-effective, highfprmance platform for running and managing viljuany type of business application for
companies of any size. With an increasing focukencost, high volume server and storage componé@ntscle grids are designed to
accommodate demanding business environments, pitiléding the ability to assign and reassign conmgupower to various applications.
This ability to reconfigure computing resourcesiasded simplifies computing capacity, planning praturement. With a grid infrastructure
approach, customers do not need to purchase elxagbsare or be caught with too little computing powuring high traffic periods. New
software license revenues from database and middéeproducts represented 81%, 82% and 81% of nitwase license revenues in fiscal
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Oracle Database

The Oracle relational database management systarkeig component of a grid infrastructure and ezmbiie storage, manipulation &
retrieval of virtually any type of data includingaditional relational data, XML, OLAP cubes, docurts images and many others.

The Oracle Database is unique in that it can rystiegtions with a very high degree of scalabilitydaeliability across multiple low cost
computers clustered together. This is achievedsiiyguOracle Real Application Clusters, a clustaredfiguration of Oracle 10g Databases
creates a single, scalable and fault tolerant datfrom an interconnected cluster of inexpensiigh-volume servers. To increase computing
capacity, our customers can simply add computetiset@luster, and the database software adaptdize the additional computing resources.
This significantly improves application scalabilaynd availability without requiring users to modiheir applications or purchase excess
computing capacity. Customers can achieve sigmificast savings by eliminating dedicated fail-oservers, and by using loweost hardwar
as the basis of the cluster, instead of largergneapensive computers.

Oracle Database 10g also contains self-diagnosidgalf-tuning features, as well as features theitifate customers’ ability to build, deploy
and manage internet applications at lower costs.KHy features of the
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Oracle Database include improved database avéijalfiinctionality, enhanced security capabiliteesd an integrated infrastructure for builc
business intelligence applications.

Oracle Fusion Middleware

Oracle Fusion Middleware is the brand for Or’s family of middleware products, which includes €eaApplication Server, Orac
Collaboration Suite, Oracle Developer Suite andcf@r®ata Hub, among others. Oracle Fusion Middlevediows customers to easily integt
heterogeneous business applications and automsiteesa processes and is built on industry standaicts as J2EE, Business Process
Execution Language and other web services standardsdldition, Oracle Fusion Middleware supportdtiple development languages and
tools, allowing developers to build and deploy vgebvices, web sites, portals and web-based applisatOracle’s middleware is used to
support Oracle applications, as well as other enita applications and independent software ventthatsuse Oracle Fusion Middleware as the
basis to build their own custom applications.

Oracle Application Server

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware is Ogatpplication Server 10g. Designed for grid compgtiOracle Application Server 10g
incorporates clustering and caching technologyctvimicreases application reliability, performarsegurity and scalability. Oracle Applicati
Server 10g also provides a complete integratiotigeta that is designed to simplify and acceleratsibess, application and data integration
projects.

The new Identity Management option for Oracle Apglion Server 10g makes it easier for compani@esaonage multiple identities and access
privileges, which helps to safeguard informatianitjcal systems and applications against unautledriaccess.

Oracle Application Server 10g also includes Or&uletal, which allows personalized portal siteseéadpidly developed and deployed, all with
single sign-on and security. Portal sites are abkairusing portlets, which are reusable interfamamonents that provide access to web-based
resources such as applications, business intetl@egports, syndicated content feeds and outsogafddare services. With the wireless
capability of Oracle Application Server 10g EntésprEdition, portal sites can be made availabknpwireless device.

Oracle Collaboration Suite

Oracle Collaboration Suite is a single, integrateie that manages email and voicemail messagesiirfdes, calendaring, conferencing, ins
messaging, file sharing, search and workflow. Thac@ Collaboration Suite centralizes administratod lowers operating costs by
consolidating email and file servers. Additionallgers are provided with one folder for their epféés, voicemail and facsimile messages.
The Oracle Collaboration Suite is built on the Qgd2atabase and Oracle Fusion Middleware, suppaoterprise-scale implementations, and
offers high-availability features such as rapidvserfailover, disaster recovery and automated bacWith Oracle Collaboration Suite, users
access all their communications content via deskfigications, the internet, personal digital dasits or mobile phones, improving
communication and collaboration.

Oracle Developer Suite

Oracle Developer Suite is an integrated suite géigpment tools designed to facilitate rapid depalent of internet database applications and
web services. The Oracle Developer Suite contgpliation development and business intelligenoéstand is built on internet standards
such as Java, J2EE, XML and HTML.

The Oracle Developer Suite includes Oracle JDewlapJava development environment for modelinddimg, debugging and testing
enterprise-class J2EE applications and web servicesldition, the suite contains Oracle Desigadnol that allows developers to model
business processes and automatically generatgeasatedatabase applications, and Oracle Forms Dpgela development tool for building
database applications that can be deployed unctiangmth internet and client/server based enviremis
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The Oracle Developer Suite also includes Oracleeiause Builder software that consolidates fragntedéda and metadata (machine
understandable information for the web) pulled frpackaged applications, custom applications anaickeg@pplications. Oracle Warehouse
Builder enables developers to graphically designnttultidimensional database schema and to autcatigtgenerate and load the data
warehouse.

Oracle Data Hub

Data hubs serve as centralized data repositonidsefobusiness definitions such as customers, mteacand employees. The Oracle Customer
Data Hub is a packaged solution that enables coiapém create a single, high quality enterprisearusr identity database by consolidating
customer information from heterogeneous sourceerAlfie data is consolidated into the central custodata store, it can be standardized,
cleansed and enriched by use of embedded fundtipaald then used by other applications with neal-time synchronization. The Oracle
Customer Data Hub can operate independently ofl©egplications. The Oracle Customer Data Hub diffeom a data warehouse in that it
does not store information about every transadtisalving a particular customer. It is specificaigncerned with creating a high quality
master customer list. Also, data hubs provide ecnstadata quality management tools, and near-nea-tiperational access to a master
customer list, whereas a data warehouse is typiaakd for analysis of historical and summarizeta.dghe Oracle Customer Data Hub is
designed to help companies gain a complete andstensview of a customer across all transactiatesys. Oracle has announced the creation
of additional hubs to consolidate information rethto products, financial information, or otheraditbm a variety of systems and applications.

Applications Software

Oracle’s portfolio of enterprise applications sadte includes the Oracle E-Business Suite, Peopi&érprise, JD Edwards EnterpriseOne
and JD Edwards World. Each of our enterprise apptias, which is offered as a fully integrated suit available on a component basis,
provides enterprise information that enables congsato manage their business cycles and provi@digence in functional areas such as
financials, human resources, maintenance managemantfacturing, marketing, order fulfilment, prad lifecycle management,
procurement, projects, sales, services and supaliyn lanning. Our applications are built on operhiiectures and are designed for flexible
configuration and open, multi-vendor integration.

Oracle’s applications combine business functiopalith innovative technologies such as workflow @edf-service applications, to enable
users to lower the cost of their business operatignproviding customers, suppliers and employea#sself-service internet access to both
transaction processing and critical business in&ion. Companies can use sséfrvice applications to automate a variety of bessrfunctions
such as customer service and support, procuremepense reporting and reimbursement. Each prothectd also available in multiple
languages and currencies, enabling companies fmstipoth global and local business practices agédllrequirements.

Our applications can be tailored to offer custongevariety of industry-specific solutions. We retbgimproved our offerings to retail
customers with our acquisition of Retek, Inc., pding software that connects every part of a retalbusiness, from customer to supplier,
with solutions for planning, merchandising, suppiain and in-store applications. New software lggerevenues from applications software
represented 19%, 18% and 19% of new software licemgenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respgtiv

Project Fusior

Our vision for the future of our application prodsics Project Fusior, a nex-generation, servioriented platform and set of applications tc
built on open industry standards, extensible byaraers and partners and interoperable with thirty@nd existing installations. Fusion is
being designed to leverage the best functionality @mbine the best features, flows and usabiiitiyst of the Oracle E-Business Suite,
PeopleSoft and JD Edwards application productsanmproduct line. We believe the resulting suftagplications will deliver a superior
ownership experience through improved usabilitgmide business process automation, built-in bssimetelligence and industry-specific
capabilities.
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Software License Updates and Product Supg

Software license updates provide customers withtsitp unspecified software product upgrades, ranarce releases and patches rele

during the term of the support period, which isi¢gfly one year. Product support includes inteawtess to technical content, as well as
internet and telephone access to technical supposbnnel. Product support typically is providedy global support centers. Software
license updates and product support are genenadlgchas a percentage of the new software licezese Substantially all of our customers
purchase software license updates and product gughen they acquire new software licenses. Intaadisubstantially all of our customers
renew their software license updates and prodyspict contracts annually. Software license updatesproduct support revenues represented
45%, 44% and 41% of total revenues in fiscal 2@0®4 and 2003, respectively. We attribute the amggrowth of our software license
updates and product support revenues to the higgwad rate of our existing subscription base, @neiase in our support contract base from
acquisitions and an increase in the amount of nedyzt support contracts associated with the datew software licenses.

Services Busines
Consulting

We globally deploy professionals who specializéhia design, implementation, deployment, upgradenaigdation services for our databa
middleware and applications software. We focusnoplémenting software with a number of consultingederators such as preconfigured
business flows, all of which increase the pacehatlwour customers achieve value from our appleceti Our consulting services help
customers consolidate their information technologgrations, integrate disparate systems and iretbassecurity of their data assets.
Consulting revenues represented 15%, 16% and 198tadfrevenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, aetbyely.

Advanced Product Service

Advanced product services are comprised of On Ddmaad advanced product support services. Throughl©On Demand, we host, moni
administer, upgrade and maintain our database,levidde and applications software for our custoreéreer at Oracle or at a customer
designated location. We believe Oracle On Demaiatbles our customers to lower information technologgts and improve their business
efficiency as we manage the availability, secuggrformance and change management for our soft@aneadvanced product support
services assist customers in configuration ancbpmidnce analysis, personalized support and anmdsit® technical services. Advanced
product services revenues represented 3%, 3% anaf 8§tal revenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2088pectively.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as part of our mission of accelerating tloptoin of our technology around the

world. Our training is provided primarily throughilglic and private instructor-led classroom evebitd,is also made available through a variety
of online courses and self paced media trainin@bBrRoms. Education revenues represented 2%, 298%naff total revenues in fiscal 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Marketing and Sales

Sales Distribution Channel:

In the United States, we market our products amdas primarily through our own sales and serarganization. Sales and service emplo!
are based in our headquarters and in field officesughout the United States.

Outside the United States, we market our produndssarvices primarily through our subsidiary saled service organizations. Our
subsidiaries license and support our productseir thcal countries as well as within other foremuntries where we do not operate through a
direct sales subsidiary.
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We also market our products worldwide through iedirchannels. The companies that comprise oureadahannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. Our partners resellppaducts or combine our database, developmerga toal applications with computer
hardware, software application packages or serfaresubsequent redistribution and/or implementatio

The Oracle Partner Network allows us to pursue besiness opportunities through partners as weidliisdirect customers. Partners in the
program include consultants, education provideternet service providers, network integratorseliess, independent software vendors and
system integrators/implementers. Partners canpalgtipate in the Oracle Technology Network. Tiiiegram is specifically designed for the
database administrator, internet developer andcgtjgins suite user communities. We provide apfibos, technology, education and techr
support that enable our partners to effectivelggnate our products into their business offerifigie combination of Oracle’infrastructure an
applications and our partners’ expertise broadem&xposure in new markets.

International Markets

We sell our products and provide services worldwider geographic coverage allows us to draw onnessi and technical expertise from a
worldwide workforce, provides stability to our opons and revenue streams to offset geographyifgpeconomic trends and offers us an
opportunity to take advantage of new markets fodpcts. Our results of operations could be affebiedconomic and political uncertainty or
changes in the laws or policies in the countriestiich we operate and by macroeconomic changesidimg currency rate fluctuations,
recessions and inflation. A summary of our domesstid international revenues and long-lived assedstiforth in Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Seasonality

General economic conditions have an impact on asinless and financial results. The markets in whietsell our products and services he¢
at times, experienced weak economic conditionshhae negatively affected revenues. Our quartesdylts reflect distinct seasonality in the
sale of our products and services, as our revesmaetypically highest in our fourth fiscal quargerd lowest in our first fiscal quarter. See
“Quarterly Results of Operations” in the Managermetiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations section of
Form 10-K for a more complete description of thasemality of our revenues and expenses.

Customers

Our customer base consists of a significant nurobbusinesses of many sizes and industries, gowarhagencies, educational institutions
resellers. No single customer accounted for 10%hane of revenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Competition

The enterprise software industry is intensely cditipe and evolving rapidly. We compete in varimegments of this industry includii
database software, middleware (business intelligemgplication integration, portal server, J2EEliapfion server, development tools and
identity management), collaboration, developmealstoenterprise applications and consulting/systieegration, among others. Total cost of
ownership, performance, functionality, ease of stdards-compliance, product reliability, seguaitd quality of technical support are key
competitive factors that face us in each of thasie which we compete. Our customers are also deimg less complexity and lower cost in
the implementation, sourcing, integration and ongahaintenance of their enterprise software, whigh led increasingly to our product
offerings (database, middleware and applicatioeg)dviewed as a “stack” of software designed tokwogether. Our product sales (and the
relative strength of our products versus our coitgps) are also affected by the broader “platfocnimpetition between industry-standard Java
(J2EE) and Microsoft Corporation’s .NET programméanyironments and by operating system competiteiwben Windows Server, Unix
(Sun Solaris, HP-UX and IBM AIX) and Linux. Openusoce
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alternatives to commercial software in many of pamary markets, such as MySQL in database ands)Boapplication servers are also
impacting the competitive environment. These préslace typically offered free of charge and arelitlgavailable over the Internet.

In the sale of database software, scalabilityablity, availability and security are key compiett differentiators for our database software.
competitors include International Business Machi@egporation, Microsoft, Sybase, Inc. and the opaurce databases, MySQL and
PostgreSQL, among others. Our ability to continuslhovate and differentiate our database offehiag enabled us to maintain our leading
position in database software over our competitors.

In the sale of middleware products, our offeringuiles a package of software functionality inclgdiousiness intelligence, integration, portal,
J2EE application server, development tools andtigemanagement software. Our ability to offer # fange of rich functionality in a
standards-based, open architecture has been akeetitive differentiator. Our competitors includiM, Microsoft, BEA Systems, Inc., SAP
Aktiengesellschaft, Sun Microsystems Inc., Sybaskapen source projects such as JBoss, but wéagls@wompetition in each element of our
packaged functions. Business intelligence compstitclude Business Objects S.A., Cognos Incorpdidilyperion Solutions Corporation &
others. Application server competitors include Bod Software Corporation, Fujitsu Software CorgoratHitachi Software Engineering Co.,
Ltd., IONA Technologies PLC and others. EnterpAggplication Integration competitors include webMedls, TIBCO Software, Novell and
others. Enterprise portal vendors include, EMC @mapon (Documentum), Plumtree Software, Vignettegoration and Computer Associa!
Identity management vendors include Hewlett-Packarchpany and Computer Associates, among othersi 8pece vendors Red Hat and
Novell are also increasingly bundling middlewaradtionality with their respective Linux distributie. As a package, our middleware solut
have experienced rapid growth in recent yearsivel& our competitors.

In the sale of collaboration products, we compei@arily with Microsoft (Exchange/Outlook), IBM (Doino/Notes) and Novell (Groupwise).
In addition, we compete in the related content rgangent markets with EMC (Documentum), FileNet, Beson Software and Vignette,
among others.

In the sale of development tools, ease of usedatarcompliance and the level of abstraction (aateeh code generation) are key competitive
differentiators. We compete against Borland Sofen@orporation (Delphi), IBM (WebSphere), MicrospfisualStudio.NET), Sun
Microsytems (Sun Studio), Sybase (PowerBuilder) atheérs. The success of our development tooloiet} related to the relative popularity
of our platform (database and middleware) comp#rexir competitors, as well as the larger competibetween Java and Microsoft’'s .NET.

The sale of applications software, in particularghanging rapidly due to the development and gepémt of Service Oriented Architectures
(SOA) and web services, application integrationdted/are as well as “software as a service” offesjrayich as those from Salesforce.com and
RightNow Technologies, Inc. in Customer Relatiopdiianagement (CRM) applications. As a result ofaequisition of PeopleSoft, we
presently offer several product lines, which ariéesufor different needs of customers in differgmustries. We compete against SAP, Lawson
Software, Inc., Intentia International AB, Micros@&usiness Solutions (Great Plains, Solomon, Axdgevision), Siebel Systems, Inc., Sage,
Inc., SSA Global and many other application prokéd&hese include numerous point solution provideich as Epicor (accounting), SunGard
Data Systems (treasury), Kronos (time and attere)afi@leo (recruitment), Callidus (compensation)tgfnatic Data Processing, Inc. (ADP)
(payroll), Ariba (procurement), i2 (order managetheMRO (enterprise asset management), DSCi (lmgistGEAC (inventory), Broadvision
(marketing), Kana (analytics), Salesforce.com &dece automation) and Amdocs (customer service).

With service-oriented architectures, our packagglieations also compete with custom solutionsegitteveloped ifouse or by large systel
integrators such as Accenture Ltd. or IBM Globaiv@res. Our pre-packaged applications also compg#inst business process outsourcers
including ADP, Fidelity Investments, Ceridian Corgtion, Hewitt-Cyborg Limited and others. Our apption products are architected around
a single database model, which we believe is adifégrentiator between us and our most significarhpetitors.
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In the sale of consulting and systems integrat@mises, we both partner with and compete agaioseAture Ltd., Electronic Data Systems
Corporation, IBM Global Services, Bearing PointpGa&mini and many others.

Research and Development

We develop the majority of our products internaltyaddition, we have also acquired technologyugtobusiness acquisitions. We a
purchase or license intellectual property rightséntain circumstances. Internal development allog/® maintain technical control over the
design and development of our products. We hawareber of United States and foreign patents andipgrapplications that relate to various
aspects of our products and technology. While wier that our patents have value, no single pateeif is essential to us or to any of our
principal business segments.

Research and development expenditures were 13%ah8%2% of total revenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 20@83, respectively. As a percentage
of new software license revenues, research andajgwent expenditures were 37%, 36% and 36% inlfi3@@5, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Rapid technological advances in hardware and soétd@avelopment, evolving standards in computervare and software technology,
changing customer needs and frequent new produotinctions and enhancements characterize the a@ftmarkets in which we compete.
plan on continuing to dedicate a significant amafriesources to research and development effrtsaintain and improve our database,
middleware and applications software, includingeistment in Project Fusion.

Employees

As of May 31, 2005, we employed 49,872 -time employees, including 11,445 in sales and mamxe4,937 in license updates and proc
support, 14,125 in services, 13,114 in researchderdlopment and 6,251 in general and adminis&atositions. Of these employees, 21,544
were located in the United States and 28,328 wa@ayed internationally.

None of our employees in the United States areesgmited by a labor union; however, in certain imaonal subsidiaries worker counc
represent our employees. We have not experiengediark stoppages and believe that our employedioakare good.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form -K, Quarterly Reports on Form -Q, Current Reports on Forn-K and amendments to reports filed pursuar
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exch&mwg®f 1934, as amended, are available free ofgghan our Investor Relations web site at
www.oracle.com/investor as soon as reasonablyipedoie after we electronically file such materiathwor furnish it to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The information posted onaaly site is not incorporated into this Annual Reépor
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers and significant employeesas follows

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Elliso Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directa

Safra A. Cat: President, Interim Chief Financial Officer and [Rit@r

Charles E. Phillips, J President and Directt

Gregory B. Maffei President and Prospective Chief Financial Off

Keith G. Block Executive Vice President, North America Sales anddDlting
Sergio Giacolett Executive Vice President, Europe, Middle East afiicA Sales and Consultir
Juergen Rottle Executive Vice President, Oracle Support and Or@ciddemanc
Charles A. Rozwe Executive Vice President, Server Technoloy

Derek H. Williams Executive Vice President, Asia Pacific Sales andgnting
John Wookey Senior Vice President, Applications Developm

Daniel Cooperma Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Jennifer L. Mintor Senior Vice President, Finance and Operat

Mr. Ellison, 60, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 18Ff7Ellison served as Chairman of the
Board from May 1995 to January 2004 and from Ma9QLa@ntil October 1992. He served as President fvtay 1978 to July 1996.

Mr. Henley, 60, has been Chairman of the Boardesifanuary 2004 and a director since June 1995-bftley served as an Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer from Marct®1until July 2004. He also serves as a direct@@afWave, Inc.

Ms. Catz, 43, has been a President since Janu@#dy B8s been Interim Chief Financial Officer siba&rch 2005 and has served as a Director
since October 2001. She served as an ExecutiveRfEegident from November 1999 to January 2004 amib&Vice President from April
1999 to October 1999.

Mr. Phillips, 46, has been a President and hasedeas a Director since January 2004. He servedesuBive Vice President Strategy,
Partnerships, and Business Development, from M&g 20 January 2004. Prior to joining us, Mr. Pp#liwas with Morgan Stanley & Co.,
Incorporated, a global investment bank, where he avislanaging Director from November 1995 to May286d a Principal from December
1994 to November 1995. From 1986 to 1994, Mr. Risilvorked at various investment banking firms oalM®treet. Prior to that, Mr. Phillips
served as a Captain in the United States Marineas an information technology officer. Mr. Ppilialso serves as a director of Viacom Inc.
and 51job, Inc.

Mr. Maffei, 45, joined the company in June 2009 assident, and will be appointed Chief Financidic@f in July 2005. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Maffei served as Chief Executive Officer of 3&dworks Corporation, a telecommunications sergioider, from January 2000 to June
2005. Mr. Maffei was previously Chief Financial @#r of Microsoft Corporation from July 1997 to dany 2000. In June 2001, several
subsidiaries of 360networks filed voluntary petisaunder Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codesandessfully emerged from bankruptcy
protection in November 2002. Mr. Maffei also serassa director of Starbucks Corporation and Eledatrérts, Inc.

Mr. Block, 44, has been Executive Vice PresidemtithN America Sales and Consulting since Septemb@2 and Executive Vice President,
North America Consulting since February 2002. ModR served as Senior Vice President of North AngefCommercial Consulting al
Global Service Lines from June 1999 until Janud@92 He served as Senior Vice President of the Centiad Consulting Practice from April
1999 until May 1999. Mr. Block was Group Vice Pdesit, East Consulting from June 1997 until MarcBA Prior to joining us in 1986, Mr.
Block was a Senior Consultant at Booz, Allen andnittan.
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Mr. Giacoletto, 55, has been Executive Vice Pragideéurope, Middle East and Africa Sales and Cdimgukince June 2000 and Senior Vice
President, Business Solutions since November 1988vas Vice President, Alliances and Technologyfidarch 1997 to November 1998.
Before joining us, he had been President of AT&TuBons for Europe since August 1994. Previously/shent 20 years with Digital
Equipment Corporation in various positions in Ewwap marketing and services.

Mr. Rottler, 39, has been Executive Vice Presid@nscle Support and Oracle On Demand since Septe2@0d. Prior to joining us, he served
as Senior Vice President, Public Sector, Custororti®ns Group at Hewlett-Packard Company (HP)nfildecember 2003 to September
2004, where he was responsible for HP’s worldwidbklie Sector, Health and Education business. Mttl&owvas Vice President, HP Services
Worldwide Sales and Marketing from May 2003 to Daber 2003, Vice President, HP Services Worldwidekdting, Strategy and Alliances
from May 2002 to May 2003 and Vice President andésal Manager, HP Services North America from ApG00 to May 2002.

Mr. Rozwat, 57, has been Executive Vice Presideatyer Technologies since November 1999 and serw&knior Vice President, Database
Server from December 1996 to October 1999. Mr. Rzgrved as Vice President of Development fromebdaer 1994 to November 1996.
Prior to joining us, he spent 17 years in varioositions at Digital Equipment Corporation.

Mr. Williams, 60, has been Executive Vice Presidésia Pacific Sales and Consulting since Octol@02and Senior Vice President, Asia
Pacific from July 1993 to October 2000. Mr. Williarserved as Vice President, Asia Pacific from Ap#i91 to July 1993. Mr. Williams joined
Oracle United Kingdom in October 1988 and serveRegional Director, Strategic Accounts from Octob288 to April 1991.

Mr. Wookey, 46, has been Senior Vice President lidppons Development since April 2000. Mr. Woolkssrved as Senior Vice President,
Financial Applications Products from April 1999anuary 2000 and Vice President, Financial Appboat Products from June 1995 to April
1999. Prior to joining us, he spent eight year¥ias President of Development at Ross Systems, Inc.

Mr. Cooperman, 54, has been Senior Vice Presi@argeral Counsel and Secretary since February Fa8it.to joining us, Mr. Cooperman
had been associated with the law firm of McCutctizwyle, Brown & Enersen (which has since becomegBam McCutchen LLP) from
October 1977, and had served as a partner sineel@88. From September 1995 until February 1997 Qdoperman was Chair of the law
firm’s Business and Transactions Group and fromilA®89 through September 1995, he served as theatylag Partner of the law firm’s San
Jose office.

Ms. Minton, 44, has been Senior Vice Presidentaide and Operations since October 2001. She sasvBdnior Vice President and Corpo
Controller from April 2000 to September 2001 andé/President and Corporate Controller from Noveni8&8 to March 2000. Ms. Minton
joined us in May 198¢
ltem 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devetntonsulting and administrative
personnel. Our headquarters facility consists pfaximately 2.5 million square feet in Redwood CBalifornia. We also own or lease office
facilities for current use consisting of approxielgt10.8 million square feet in various locationghe United States and abroad. Due to our
restructuring and merger integration activitie$isgal 2005, we have vacated approximately 3.4diomlsquare feet or 24% of total owned and
leased space. This additional space is subletinglzetively marketed for sublease or disposition.

ltem 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 22 of Notes to Cdidsbed Financial Statements in Item 15 of thistRdi0-K is incorporated herein by
reference.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:

None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaqg Natioraak®t under the symbol “ORCL” and has been tradeNasdaqg since our initial public
offering in 1986. According to the records of otarisfer agent, we had 25,379 stockholders of regpmaf May 31, 2005. The majority of our
shares are held in approximately 1.6 million custoaccounts held by brokers and other institutmm$gehalf of stockholders. However, we
believe that the number of total stockholders s ldan 1.6 million due to stockholders with acdsat more than one brokerage. The
following table sets forth the low and high salegrof our common stock, based on the last daily, sa each of our last eight fiscal quarters.

Low Sale High Sale
Price Price
Fiscal 2005
Fourth Quarte $11.52 $ 13.62
Third Quartel 12.6¢ 14.6:
Second Quarte 9.8¢ 13.3¢
First Quartel 9.9C 11.9:
Fiscal 2004
Fourth Quarte $11.2¢ $ 13.0¢
Third Quartel 12.4( 14.8¢
Second Quarte 11.2¢ 13.7¢
First Quartel 11.2¢ 13.6¢

Our policy has been to reinvest earnings to futdréugrowth and to repurchase our common stockupmitsto a program approved by our
Board of Directors. Accordingly, we have not paadie dividends and do not anticipate declaring dagtlends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we sold agragate of 12,473 shares of our common stock ¢ibédi employees of Oracle EMEA Limited,
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, who areipigants in the Oracle Ireland Approved Profit ShgiScheme (the Ireland APSS) at an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $147 0@0purchased the shares in the open market aathe price the shares were sold to the
Ireland APSS participants and paid customary bamicommissions of approximately $1,000 in conoaatiith the purchase. There were no
underwriting discounts or commissions in connectidth the sale. The Ireland APSS permits an elgéhployee to receive shares of comi
stock in a tax efficient manner as a portion ofsemployee’s bonus, as well as to contribute agodf their base salary allowance towards
the purchase of additional shares in certain cigtances. The securities are held in trust for thpleyees for a minimum of two years. The
shares of common stock were offered and sold iarre¢ upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act 33,%s amended, and the safe harbor
provided by Rule 903 of Regulation S under the 8tes Act, to employees of Oracle EMEA Limited ware not “U.S. Persons” as that term
is defined in Regulation S.

Stock Repurchase Progral

In 1992, our Board of Directors approved a progtamepurchase shares of our common stock to retthecdilutive effect of our stock optic

and stock purchase plans. The Board has expandedghrchase program several times by either istrgdéhe authorized number of shares to
be repurchased or by authorizing a fixed dollar ami@xpansion, most recently in October 2004. Fifoeninception of the stock repurchase
program to May 31, 2005, a total of 1.8 billion s#®mhave been repurchased for approximately $2llighb At May 31, 2005, approximately
$1.9 billion was available to repurchase sharesuoftommon stock pursuant to the stock repurchesgram.
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The following table summarizes the stock repurcleaivity for the three months ending May 31, 2@0% the approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant todbk itpurchase program:

Total Number of Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares Shares that May
Total Number of Average Price Purchased as Yet Be
Part of Publicly Purchased Unde
Shares Paid Announced
(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased Per Share Program the Program
March 1, 200t March 31, 200! — $ — — $ 2,157.:
April 1, 2005- April 30, 2005 20.€ 11.8¢ 20.€ 1,908.!
May 1, 200%- May 31, 200t — — — 1,908.!
Total 20.¢ $ 11.8¢ 20.€
I I I

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following table sets forth selected financiatadfor the last 5 years. This selected finana@#h dhould be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related rintdgded in Item 15 of this Form 10-K. During f&@005 we acquired PeopleSoft, Inc.,
Retek Inc. and other smaller companies for appratéhy $12 billion. Each of these acquisitions wesoainted for as a business purchase and
accordingly, the results of these businesses hese imcluded in our consolidated financial stateismsimce their respective dates of
acquisition.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Total revenue $11,79¢ $10,15¢ $ 9,47¢ $ 9,67: $10,96:
Operating incomi 4,022 3,86¢ 3,44( 3,571 3,77
Net income 2,88¢ 2,681 2,307 2,22¢ 2,561
Earnings per shar- basic 0.5¢ 0.51 0.44 0.4C 0.4¢
Earnings per shar diluted 0.5t 0.5C 0.4: 0.3¢ 0.4¢
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,13¢ 5,21¢ 5,30z 5,51¢ 5,591
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,231 5,32¢ 5,41¢ 5,68¢ 5,86¢
Working capital 41€ ® 7,06¢ 5,06¢ 4,76¢ 5,04¢
Total assets 20,687 @ 12,76 10,96 10,80( 11,03(
Shor-term borrowings and current portion of l--term debt 2,69: G 9 152 — 3
Long-term debt, net of current portic 15¢ 168 17t 29¢ 301
Stockholder’ equity 10,83} 7,99¢ 6,32( 6,115 6,27

(@ Total working capital decreased as of May 31, 200®arily due to cash paid to acquire PeopleSadt @amincrease in short-term
borrowings.

@ Total assets increased as of May 31, 2005 dueddwgtl of $6,962 and intangible assets of $3,334ilag from business combinations. ¢
Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial States

@ Short-term borrowings increased due to amountlbad under our commercial paper program and afkoality borrowed by Oracle
Technology Company, a who-owned subsidiary of the Company. See Note 5 of NtmeéConsolidated Financial Stateme
ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis néfi¢ial Condition and Results of Operations wittogearview of our acquisition activity
and our key operating business segments and signiftrends. This overview is followed by a diséms®f our critical accounting policies and
estimates that we believe are important to undedstg the assumptions and judgments incorporatediimeported financial results. We then
provide a more detailed analysis of our financa@idition and results of operations.
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Acquisition of PeopleSoft and Retek

In January 2005, we completed the acquisition ofplReSoft Inc., a provider of enterprise applicatsaftware products for approximately $1
billion. We have completed the substantial majooitpur planned legal-entity mergers, informatigstem conversions and integration of
PeopleSoft’s operations and expect to finalizereaoraining integration activities within the next shonths. In April 2005, we completed the
acquisition of Retek, Inc., a provider of softwamdutions and services to the retail industry fgpraximately $700 million. We also completed
other smaller acquisitions over the past severals/and expect to continue to acquire or make tmessts in complementary companies,
products, services and technologies in the futtee. Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates for additional information related to
our acquisitions.

We believe our acquisitions of PeopleSoft and Retgdport our long-term strategic direction, str@egtour competitive position in the
enterprise applications market, expand our custdrase and provide greater scale to increase oastiment in research and development to
accelerate innovation and increase stockholderevalu

Business Overview

We are the worl's largest enterprise software company. Our worldvaigerations are comprised of two businesses, wdanhist of five
operating segments based upon our software angts@fferings. Each of these operating segmentsih@gie characteristics and faces
different opportunities and challenges. Althoughregort our actual results in United States dollas conduct a significant number of
transactions in currencies other than United S@wdars. Therefore, we present constant currenfgyrination to provide a framework for
assessing how our underlying business performeldiding the effect of foreign currency rate flucioas. An overview of our five operating
segments follows.

Software Busines

Our software business consists of new softwarasiegevenues and license updates and product suppenues. Our software business,
which represents 80% of our total revenues, is alsdighest margin business. We expect that ditwaee business revenues will continue to
increase, which should allow us to continually iy margins and profits.

New Software License: We license our database, middleware and apmitasoftware to businesses of many sizes, govertragencies,
educational institutions and resellers. The growthew software license revenues is affected bystrength of general economic and business
conditions, as well as governmental budgetary caimgs, the competitive position of our softwareducts and acquisitions. The software
business is also characterized by long sales cythestiming of a few large software license tranissms can substantially affect our quarterly
new software license revenues. This is particulalg for applications products given the relatvainall size of new application software
license revenues. Since our new software licensentges in a particular quarter can be difficulptedict as a result of the timing of a few la
software license transactions, we believe that sigfiware revenues on a trailing twelve-month pegoalides more visibility into the
underlying performance of our software revenues thzarterly revenues.

New software license revenues for fiscal 2005 v&ré billion, which represents a growth rate of 160ér the corresponding prior year per
License revenues earned from large transactiofisedeas transactions greater than $500,000 we¥e 8@% and 36% in fiscal 2005, 2004
2003, respectively. Over the last few years, custsrdelayed or limited their technology capitalrspieg as a result of weak domestic and
international economic conditions. These weak eosoa@onditions resulted in more customers restrictheir software procurement to well-
defined current needs and a decline in purchasessdad to accommodate future customer growth skafi2005, revenues earned from large
transactions increased by 23%, reflecting strobgemess confidence as general economic conditiopoved, particularly in the United
States. We believe that demand for our softwardymis will continue to increase as a result ofaequisition of PeopleSoft and other
companies, the improvements we have made to theréssand functionality of our software productd #me strengthening of our competitive
position.
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Competition in the software business is intense.goal is to maintain a first or second positioreath of our software product categories and
to grow our software revenues faster than our coitopge We believe that the features and functityalf our software products are as strong
as they have ever been. We have focused on lowtrintptal cost of ownership of our software praduxy improving integration, decreasing
installation times, lowering administration costglamproving the ease of use. Reducing the totstt @bownership of our products provides
our customers with a higher return on their investmwhich we believe will create more demand amdipge us with a competitive advantage.
We have also continued to focus on improving theral quality of our software products and sert@eels. We believe this will lead to higher
customer satisfaction and loyalty and help us aehtir goal of becoming our customers’ leading neddgy advisor.

Software License Updates and Product Supp« Substantially all of our customers purchase saféwicense updates and product support
when they acquire new software licenses. In additosubstantial majority of our customers renesir thoftware license updates and product
support contracts annually. The growth of softwarense updates and product support is influengeithitee factors: (1) the acquisition of
PeopleSoft’s support contract base, (2) the reneatalof the subscription base eligible for renewahe current fiscal year and (3) the amount
of new product support contracts associated withstile of new software licenses.

As a result of the acquisition of PeopleSoft arteobusinesses, we recorded adjustments to redppers obligations assumed in business
acquisitions to their estimated fair value at tbquasition dates. Software license updates andyataglipport revenues related to support
contracts in the amount of $320 million that woblie been otherwise recorded by PeopleSoft and atigeiired businesses as independent
entities, were not recognized in fiscal 2005. Astomers renew these support contracts, we willgeize revenues for the full value of the
support contracts as deferred revenues and re@tirézelated revenue ratably over the contradbger

As our product support subscription base growsrehewal rate has a larger influence on the soéweense updates and product support
revenue growth rate and the amount of new softlieease revenues has a diminishing effect. Theegfine growth rate of software license
updates and product support revenues do not neitgssarelate directly to the growth rate of newoftsvare license revenues. For example, if
new software license revenues remained constaatide updates and product support revenues wontthae to grow as a result of the
incremental license updates and product suppoetigss associated with new software license reveagsaming renewal and cancellation
rates stayed relatively constant. We believe tbfttvaire license updates and product support reewilecontinue to grow as we anticipate
that a substantial majority of our customers, idilg customers with PeopleSoft licenses, will retlegir product support contracts and the
sale of new software licenses will increase oussstiption base.

Services Busines

Our services business consists of consulting, ambaproduct support and education revenues. Serkgsenues represent 20% of our total
revenues, and this business has significantly lonengins than our software business.

Consulting: Consulting revenues tend to lag software revebyeseveral quarters since consulting servicgsyii€hased, are typically
performed after the purchase of new software liesnExcluding revenues earned from PeopleSoft ¢timgeontracts, consulting revenues
have declined in recent periods due to a shifiénrhix of resources to lower cost countries, wiiak resulted in a decrease in billing rates.
Consulting revenues also declined as a result oflecision to work more closely with partners whe performing an increasing number of
implementations of our software. In addition, wedaxperienced higher attrition rates in the Un¢ates and certain other countries as
economic conditions improve and the demand forrieeth talent in certain markets has increased.higeer attrition rate has contributed to
decrease in consulting headcount levels, whichrémdted in a decline in billable hours and revenlfée expect consulting revenues to
increase in fiscal 2006, primarily due to increna¢névenues from PeopleSoft consulting contracts.
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Advanced Product Service This segment includes Oracle On Demand, whicluisoutsourcing service, and other advanced proslygort
services. We believe that Oracle On Demand provageadditional opportunity for customers to lowgit total cost of ownership and can
therefore provide us with a competitive advant#dhough we have de-emphasized some advanced prseduices, Oracle On Demand
revenues continue to grow. We will continue to mekestments in our Oracle On Demand businessgpaticurrent and future revenue
growth.

Education: The purpose of our education services is to &arédmhance the usability of our software produgtedr customers and to create
opportunities to grow new software license revenués expect education revenues to increase inl 2826, primarily due to incremental
revenues for training services provided to custeni@r PeopleSoft products. Over the last few yesgiscation revenues declined due to
personnel reductions in our customers’ informateshnology departments, tighter controls over @ienary spending and greater use of
outsourcing solutions. As a consequence, we haltecesl the number of personnel and facilities spaceder to reduce costs and prevent
further margin deterioration.

Operating Margins

We continually focus on improving our operating gias by providing our customers with superior pradiand services, as well

maintaining a world class cost structure by hig@gsonnel in countries where advanced technicaréigp is available at lower costs. As part
of this effort, we continually evaluate our workferand make adjustments we deem appropriate. Waenake adjustments to our workforce,
we may incur expenses associated with workforcaatizhs that delay the benefit of a more efficienrkforce structure, but we believe that
the fundamental shift towards globalization is ¢alito maintaining a long-term competitive costisture.

Acquisition Strateg)

We have in the past and expect in the future taiae®r make investments in complementary compapieglucts, services and technolog
We believe we can fund additional acquisitions weaitin internally available cash and marketable sgesy cash generated from operations,
credit facilities or from the issuance of additibeecurities. We analyze the financial impact of aotential acquisition with regard to earnin
operating margin, cash flow and return on investauital targets.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogrmiinciples (GAAP). These accounti
principles require us to make certain estimatefguents and assumptions. We believe that the @ssmadgments and assumptions upon
which we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable to us at the time that these estimaidgments and assumptions are made.
These estimates, judgments and assumptions can tiféereported amounts of assets and liabilitiesfahe date of the financial statements as
well as the reported amounts of revenues and egpehging the periods presented. To the extens thier material differences between these
estimates, judgments or assumptions and actudtgesur financial statements will be affected. Boeounting policies that reflect our more
significant estimates, judgments and assumptiodsadrich we believe are the most critical to aiduilty understanding and evaluating our
reported financial results include the following:

. Business Combinations

. PeopleSoft Customer Assurance Prog
. Goodwill

. Revenue Recognition

. Accounting for Income Taxe
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. Legal Contingencie
. Stock-Based Compensation
. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Retul

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a péaticransaction is specifically dictated by GAARJaloes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areastiich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alterrestiwould not produce a
materially different result. Our senior manageniead reviewed these critical accounting policies r@tated disclosures with our Finance and
Audit Committee.

Business Combination

In accordance with business combination accountiregallocate the purchase price of acquired congsaioi the tangible and intangible assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, as well as in-precesearch and development based on their estirfatedlues. We engage third-party
appraisal firms to assist management in determitfiadair values of certain assets acquired aruilii@s assumed. Such a valuation requires
management to make significant estimates and aggumpespecially with respect to intangible assets

Management makes estimates of fair value based aggmmptions believed to be reasonable. Theseatstrare based on historical experit
and information obtained from the management ofttguuired companies and are inherently uncertaitic@l estimates in valuing certain of
the intangible assets include but are not limiteduture expected cash flows from license salegntanance agreements, consulting contracts,
customer contracts and acquired developed techiesl@gd patents; expected costs to develop theoreps research and development into
commercially viable products and estimating castvél from the projects when completed; the acquitedpanys brand awareness and ma
position, as well as assumptions about the peridiine the acquired brand will continue to be usethe combined company’s product
portfolio; and discount rates. Unanticipated evamid circumstances may occur which may affect toeracy or validity of such assumptions,
estimates or actual results.

In connection with the purchase price allocatiof?ebpleSoft, we have estimated the fair value ®fthipport obligation assumed from
PeopleSoft in connection with the acquisition. Vésda our determination of the fair value of thepsupobligation, in part, on a valuation
completed by Standard & Poor’s Corporate Value @Ghimg using estimates and assumptions provideshagagement. The estimated fair
value of the support obligation was determinedairity a cost build-up approach. The cost build-ppraach determines fair value by
estimating the costs relating to fulfilling the igaltion plus a normal profit margin. The estimatedts to fulfill the support obligation were
based on the historical direct costs related teighog the support services and to correct anyrsriro PeopleSoft software products. We did
include any costs associated with selling efforteesearch and development or the related fulfiitmeargins on these costs. Profit associated
with selling effort is excluded because People8aft concluded the selling effort on the supportremts prior to the acquisition date. The
estimated research and development costs havesantibcluded in the fair value determination, &séhcosts were not deemed to represent a
legal obligation at the time of acquisition. Weimsited the normal profit margin to be 30%. The sarthe costs and operating profit
approximates, in theory, the amount that we woelddmguired to pay a third party to assume the stgtdigation. As a result, in allocating t
acquisition purchase price, we recorded an adjustioereduce the carrying value of PeopleSoft'sdeld support revenue at the date of
acquisition by $418 million to $280 million, whi@mount represents our estimate of the fair valub@tupport obligation assumed.

As of the acquisition date, PeopleSoft had enteredsupport agreements for which the underlyingise period had not yet started and for
which PeopleSoft had not yet been paid. These stpgoeements were not reflected on PeopleSoftanba sheet since the service period had
not yet begun and payment had not yet been recéiVechave recorded an intangible asset of $208amitb reflect the fair value of these
contracts as of the acquisition date. The fair gafithese contracts was determined on the sanr uxesl to value the support contracts
reflected on PeopleSoft’'s balance sheet. This gitda asset is reflected as a component of prepaid
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expenses and other current assets in the acconmgaegmsolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 20@5ak% amortizing this intangible asset
over the term of the support contracts. The amatitn is being reflected as a reduction to softWiaense updates and product support
revenues. Accordingly, the revenue recorded uriteset contracts will reflect the estimated fair eatiol fulfill the assumed obligations.

As a result of the adjustments to record Peoplé&Ssifipport obligations assumed at fair value, $6&#Bon of software license updates and
product support revenue that would have been oikemgcorded by PeopleSoft as an independent eavititgot be recognized in our
consolidated results of operations. As former Pe®pft customers renew these support contracts,ilveeaognize the full value of the supp
contracts over the remaining term of the contrabs majority of which are one year. Software Ieewmpdates and product support revenues in
fiscal 2005 were reduced by $314 million as a tesiuteflecting the support obligations at estindsfi@r value. Had we included our estimated
selling and research and development activitied th@ associated margin for unspecified productages and enhancements to be provided
under our assumed support arrangements, the faie efthe support obligation would have been digantly higher than what we have
recorded and we would have recorded a higher anafstiftware license updates and product suppeemee in future periods related to these
assumed contracts.

Other significant estimates associated with th@aeting for acquisitions include restructuring sofestructuring costs are primarily
comprised of severance costs, costs of consolgldtiplicate facilities and contract terminationtso®estructuring expenses are based upon
plans that have been committed to by managementliich are subject to refinement. To estimate vestiring expenses, management utili
assumptions of the number of employees that woellsholuntarily terminated and of future costs pemte and eventually vacate duplicate
facilities. Estimated restructuring expenses mangle as management executes the approved plared3esrto the estimates of executing the
currently approved plans associated with pre-meaggvities of the companies we acquire are reabadean adjustment to goodwill
indefinitely, whereas increases to the estimatesexrorded as an adjustment to goodwill duringoilmehase price allocation period (generally
within one year of the acquisition date) and asaiiey expenses thereafter. Changes in estimateseciting the currently approved plans
associated with pre-merger activities of Oraclé beél recorded in restructuring expenses.

We have identified certain pre-acquisition contimgies, but we have yet to conclude whether thevtdires for such contingencies are
determinable. If, during the purchase price allmraperiod, we are able to determine the fair valfia pre-acquisition contingency, we will
include that amount in the purchase price allocatify as of the end of the purchase price allaragieriod, we are unable to determine the fair
value of a pre-acquisition contingency, we will exsde whether to include an amount in the purcipaige allocation based on whether it is
probable a liability had been incurred and whetireamount can be reasonably estimated. After te&the purchase price allocation period,
any adjustment that results from a pre-acquisitiontingency will be included in our operating résih the period in which the adjustment is
determined.

PeopleSoft Customer Assurance Progr

As discussed in Note 17 of Notes to Consolidatedf¢ial Statements, in June 2003, in responserttender offer, PeopleSoft implemented
what it referred to as the “customer assurancerprojor “CAP.” The CAP incorporated a provisionReopleSoft's standard licensing
arrangement that purports to contractually burdeacte, as a result of our acquisition of PeopleSwaith a contingent obligation to make
payments to PeopleSoft customers should we fa#ke certain business actions for a fixed periotinoé subsequent to the acquisition. We
have concluded that, as of the date of the actpnsithe penalty provisions under the CAP repreaasuntingent liability of Oracle. We have
not recorded a liability related to the CAP, asdeenot believe it is probable that our pasguisition activities related to the PeopleSodtdurct
line will trigger an obligation to make any paymeutsuant to the CAP. The maximum potential penatigyer the CAP as of May 31, 2005
was $3.5 billion. While no assurance can be giwetodhe ultimate outcome of potential litigatiove believe we would also have substantial
defenses with respect to the legality and enfoiitigabf the CAP contract
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provisions in response to any claims seeking payfnem Oracle under the CAP terms. If we determimthe future that a payment pursuar
the CAP is probable, the estimated liability wob&recorded in our operating results in the penoahich such liability is determined.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and weeer events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not t

recoverable in accordance with FASB Statement M2, Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset3he provisions of Statement 142 require that a
two-step impairment test be performed on goodwilthe first step, we compare the fair value ofteaporting unit to its carrying value. Our
reporting units are consistent with the reportaiglgments identified in Note 16 of the Notes to @tidated Financial Statements. If the fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds the carryinge®f the net assets assigned to that unit, gdbdvdgonsidered not impaired and we are not
required to perform further testing. If the cargyvalue of the net assets assigned to the repartiiigexceeds the fair value of the reporting
unit, then we must perform the second step ofrfgairment test in order to determine the impligdvalue of the reporting unit's goodwill. If
the carrying value of a reporting unit’'s goodwitloeeds its implied fair value, then we would recandmpairment loss equal to the difference.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitislgmental in nature and involves the use of sigaift estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions include revenue groweh aad operating margins used to calculate pegdeture cash flows, risk-adjusted
discount rates, future economic and market contitend determination of appropriate market compesabVe base our fair value estimate
assumptions we believe to be reasonable but thatrggredictable and inherently uncertain. Actuglrel results may differ from those
estimates. In addition, we make certain judgmentsassumptions in allocating shared assets anititlegto determine the carrying values for
each of our reporting units. Our annual goodwilpairment analysis, which was performed during theth quarter of fiscal 2005, did not
result in an impairment charge.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive revenues from the following sources:s(dfjware, which includes new software license afthsre license updates and product
support revenues and (2) services, which inclussualting, advanced product services and educatieenues.

New software license revenues represent all feeseddrom granting customers licenses to use owabadae, middleware and applicatic
software, and exclude revenues derived from soéweense updates, which are included in softwiaemnbke updates and product support.
While the basis for software license revenue reitimgnis substantially governed by the provisiofisStatement of Position No. 97-3pftware
Revenue Recogniti¢, issued by the American Institute of Certified RuBccountants, we exercise judgment and use aséisnin connection
with the determination of the amount of softward aarvices revenues to be recognized in each atogyreriod.

For software license arrangements that do not reignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenue when: (1) we enter inegally binding arrangement with a customer forlibense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixeceterchinable and free of contingencies or significarcertainties; and (4) collection is
probable. Substantially all of our new softwareltise revenues are recognized in this manner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangetsiéclude software license updates and prodyspest, which are recognized ratably over
the term of the arrangement, typically one yeaftv&oe license updates provide customers with sightunspecified software product
upgrades, maintenance releases and patches rethasggithe term of the support period. Productpsupincludes internet access to technical
content, as well as internet and telephone acodsshnical support personnel. Software licensetgsdand product support are generally
priced as a percentage of the net new softwaredeéees. Substantially all of our
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customers purchase both software license updatepraduct support when they acquire new softwaenbkes. In addition, substantially all of
our customers renew the software license updatépreoauct support contracts annually.

Many of our software arrangements include conggilitimplementation services sold separately undeswdting engagement contracts.
Consulting revenues from these arrangements aerg@naccounted for separately from new softwarense revenues because the
arrangements qualify as service transactions asetkin SOP 972. The more significant factors considered in dateing whether the reveni
should be accounted for separately include thereatiiservices (i.e., consideration of whethergdbevices are essential to the functionality of
the licensed product), degree of risk, availabififyservices from other vendors, timing of paymeard impact of milestones or acceptance
criteria on the realizability of the software ligenfee. Revenues for consulting services are gégnezaognized as the services are performe
there is a significant uncertainty about the progemmpletion or receipt of payment for the consigjtservices, revenue is deferred until the
uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimdte proportional performance on contracts with fisednot to exceed” fees on a monthly basis
utilizing hours incurred to date as a percentagetal estimated hours to complete the project.rééegnize no more than 90% of the miles:

or total contract amount until project acceptarscelitained. If we do not have a sufficient basisie@asure progress towards completion,
revenue is recognized when we receive final acoeptrom the customer. When total cost estimatesexkrevenues, we accrue for the
estimated losses immediately using cost estimhtdsate based upon an average fully burdened ga#yapplicable to the consulting
organization delivering the services. The complegitthe estimation process and factors relatindpéoassumptions, risks and uncertainties
inherent with the application of the proportionatfermance method of accounting affect the amoahtsevenue and related expenses reported
in our consolidated financial statements. A nunmdfénternal and external factors can affect ouinestes, including labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testemuirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewatting of the software license and consultinggeanions, then new software license reve

is generally recognized together with the consglsarvices based on contract accounting usingretteepercentage-of-completion or
completed-contract method. Contract accountingdied to any arrangements: (1) that include miless or customer specific acceptance
criteria that may affect collection of the softwéicense fees; (2) where services include significaodification or customization of the
software; (3) where significant consulting serviees provided for in the software license contreithout additional charge or are substantially
discounted; or (4) where the software license paynisetied to the performance of consulting sersice

Advanced product services are comprised of Oracl®@mand and advanced product support servicesléda Demand provides multi-
featured software and hardware management andenaimte services for our database, middleware gpitaions software. Advanced
product support services are earned by providisgorners configuration and performance analysisqretized support and annual on-site
technical services. Advanced product services r@@gre recognized over the term of the servicgactnwhich is generally one year.

Education revenues include instructor-led, mediseldaand interndtased training in the use of our products. Edunatwenues are recogniz
as the classes or other education offerings areetded.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allecavenue to each element of a transaction baseditgpfair value as determined by
“vendor specific objective evidence.” Vendor spiecifbjective evidence of fair value for all elemenf an arrangement is based upon the
normal pricing and discounting practices for thpeeducts and services when sold separately argbfoware license updates and product
support services, is additionally measured by émewal rate offered to the customer. We may maualifypricing practices in the future, which
could result in changes in our vendor specific ofbye evidence of fair value for these undeliveetgments. As a result, our future revenue
recognition for multi-element arrangements couféedisignificantly from our historical results.
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We defer revenue for any undelivered elementsreoagnize revenue when the product is deliverealer the period in which the service is
performed, in accordance with our revenue recagmiiolicy for such element. If we cannot objectyvéétermine the fair value of any
undelivered element included in bundled software service arrangements, we defer revenue unélathents are delivered and services have
been performed, or until fair value can objectivieéydetermined for any remaining undelivered elémaithen the fair value of a delivered
element has not been established, we use the absithod to record revenue if the fair value btiabelivered elements is determinable.
Under the residual method, the fair value of thealivered elements is deferred and the remainimtigooof the arrangement fee is allocated to
the delivered elements and is recognized as revenue

The significant majority of our software licensesargements do not include acceptance provisionsieier, if acceptance provisions exist as
part of public policy, for example in agreementshwjovernment entities when acceptance periodsegrgred by law, or within previously
executed terms and conditions that are referencétkeicurrent agreement and are short-term in @atue provide for a sales return allowance
in accordance with FASB Statement No. BR&venue Recognition when Right of Return Exiéscceptance provisions are long-term in nature
or are not included as standard terms of an arraegeor if we cannot reasonably estimate the imzideof returns, revenue is recognized upon
the earlier of receipt of written customer accepéaor expiration of the acceptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentéiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential’ o the software licenses and the planning, btidgexand approval processes undertaken by
the governmental entity. If we determine upon etieowf these arrangements that the likelihoodmif-racceptance is remote, we then
recognize revenue once all of the criteria desdrédaove have been met. If such a determinationatdvenmade, revenue is recognized upon
the earlier of cash receipt or approval of the impple funding provision by the governmental entity

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalte éime of sale and recognize revenue if all oteeenue recognition requirements are met.
Our standard payment terms are net 30; howevensteray vary based on the country in which the agee is executed. Payments that are
due within six months are generally deemed to Xedfior determinable based on our successful calebistory on such arrangements, and
thereby satisfy the required criteria for revenegognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-term financing to credit
worthy customers through our financing divisiom fiscal 1989, when our financing division wasved, we have established a history of
collection, without concessions, on these receasblith payment terms that generally extend ujveyfears from the contract date. Provided
all other revenue recognition criteria have beety me recognize new software license revenuesfesd arrangements upon delivery, net of
any payment discounts from financing transactitmgéiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, $455.6 million, $&6@illion and $364.1 million or
approximately 11%, 10% and 11% of our new softwiaense revenues were financed through our finandivision. We have generally sold
these receivables on a non-recourse basis toghitgt financing institutions. We account for théesaf these receivables as “true sales” as
defined in FASB Statement No. 148;counting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and Extinguishments of Liabilities

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining eorldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucge of a global business, there are many
transactions and calculations where the ultimatetdcome is uncertain. Some of these uncertaiatisg as a consequence of revenue sharing
and cost reimbursement arrangements among relati#tieé® the process of identifying items of reverand expense that qualify for preferer

tax treatment, and segregation of foreign and démigome and expense to avoid double taxatiothddlgh we believe that
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our estimates are reasonable, no assurance cavelpetigat the final tax outcome of these mattetsat be different from that which is
reflected in our historical income tax provisiomslaccruals. Such differences could have a matefifiatt on our income tax provision and net
income in the period in which such determinatiomade.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dertandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvesteidide the United States. Remittances of foreagniags to the U.S. are planned based on
projected cash flow, working capital and investmseeds of foreign and domestic operations. Basdtese assumptions, we estimate the
amount that will be distributed to the United Sga@d provide U.S. federal taxes on these amoMatterial changes in our estimates could
impact our effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be algerierate sufficient taxable income in those jueiszhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We have considered future market growattedasted earnings, future taxable income, theofm@arnings in the jurisdictions in which
we operate and prudent and feasible tax planniagesfies in determining the need for a valuatitowaince. In the event we were to determine
that we would not be able to realize all or parbof net deferred tax assets in the future, anstmjent to the deferred tax assets would be
charged to earnings in the period in which we nal@h determination. Likewise, if we later determiinat it is more likely than not that the |
deferred tax assets would be realized, we wouldrezvthe applicable portion of the previously pded valuation allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax providiased on estimates and assumptions that coutt &iéfim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generatiprded in the period when the tax returns
are filed and the global tax implications are known

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject tomggaudits by federal, state and foreign tax atitiles, which often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate for the potential outéonany uncertain tax issue is highly judgmendde believe we have adequately provided
for any reasonably foreseeable outcome relateletget matters. However, our future results may defavorable or unfavorable adjustments
to our estimated tax liabilities in the period Hesessments are made or resolved or when stafli@itation on potential assessments expire.
Additionally, the jurisdictions in which our earigig or deductions are realized may differ from aurent estimates. As a result, our effective
tax rate may fluctuate significantly on a quartdrsis.

As part of our accounting for business combinatiensne of the purchase price is allocated to golbdwil intangible assets. Impairment
charges associated with goodwill will not be taduigtible and will result in an increased effectivmeome tax rate in the quarter the impairrr
is recorded. Amortization expense associated vatjuged intangible assets is likewise not tax détle; however deferred taxes have been
recorded as part of the purchase price allocatind,therefore, will not affect our post-acquisitionome tax rate. Income tax contingencies
existing as of the acquisition dates of the acgué@mpanies are evaluated quarterly, and any aagns are recorded as an adjustment to
goodwill.

Legal Contingencie:

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess
potential financial exposure. If the potential I&gsn any claim or legal proceeding is considersabpble and the amount can be reasonably
estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimdtess. Significant judgment is required in both determination of probability and the
determination as to whether an exposure is reasppatimable. Because of uncertainties relatethége matters, accruals are based only ¢
best information available at the time. As addigibimformation becomes available, we reassessdtenpal liability related to our pending
claims and litigation and may revise our estimafesh
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revisions in the estimates of the potential lidieii could have a material impact on our resultspafrations and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We currently measure compensation expense fortook-based incentive programs using the intringicie® method prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Employéésder this method, we do not record compensatiperse when
stock options are granted to eligible participastdong as the exercise price is not less thafathenarket value of the stock when the option is
granted. We also do not record compensation exgarsmnnection with our Employee Stock Purchasa Rialong as the purchase price of the
stock is not less than 85% of the lower of the fisd@irket value of the stock at the beginning of ezftdring period or at the end of each
purchase period. In accordance with FASB StatefRentL23,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatiand FASB Statement No. 148,
Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation—Transition and Discloswe disclose our pro forma net income or lossragtdncome or loss p
share as if the fair value-based method had begliedpn measuring compensation expense for owksbased incentive programs. We have
elected to follow Opinion 25 because the fair vadaeounting provided for under Statement 123 regutine use of option valuation models
were not developed for use in valuing incentivelstoptions and employee stock purchase plan shares.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement 2B(revised 20045hare-Based Paymepnivhich is a revision of Statement 123.
Statement 123(R) generally requires share-basedgrag to employees, including grants of employeeksbptions and purchases under
employee stock purchase plans, to be recogniztéitbintatement of operations based on their faresalThis standard is effective for public
companies for fiscal years beginning after June2085. We expect to adopt this new standard abéigénning of our fiscal year ending May
31, 2007 using the modified prospective method.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Returr

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tautding receivables and provide allowances foipthiéion of receivables when collecti
becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based ugpaadafic review of all significant outstanding irees. For those invoices not specifically
reviewed, provisions are recorded at differingsabased upon the age of the receivable. In datérgithese percentages, we analyze our
historical collection experience and current ecolednends. If the historical data we use to caltautae allowance for doubtful accounts does
not reflect the future ability to collect outstandireceivables, additional provisions for doubHatounts may be needed and the future results
of operations could be materially affected.

We also record a provision for estimated salegmstand allowances on product and service relatks &n the same period the related
revenues are recorded. These estimates are baséstanical sales returns, analysis of credit metat and other known factors. If the
historical data we use to calculate these estintdest properly reflect future returns, then amgein the allowances would be made in the
period in which such a determination is made amdmaes in that period could be materially affected.

Results of Operations

As a result of our acquisition of PeopleSoft, wegéancluded the financial results of PeopleSofbim consolidated financial stateme
beginning December 29, 2004, the date we acquiradjarity interest. Therefore, the fluctuationerating results of Oracle in the second
half of fiscal 2005 compared with the same periofiscal 2004 are generally due to the acquisition.

Constant Currency Presentation

We compare the percent change in the results froerperiod to another period in this Annual Repsihg constant currency disclosure. We
present constant currency information to provideaxmework for assessing how our underlying busieeg®erformed excluding the effect of
foreign currency rate fluctuations. To present
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this information, current and comparative prioripeémresults for entities reporting in currenciesestthan United States dollars are converted
into United States dollars at the exchange ragdfect on the last day of the prior fiscal yeathea than the actual exchange rates in effect
during the respective periods. For example, if atityereporting in Euros had revenues of 1.0 millBuros from products sold on May 31, 2
and May 31, 2004, our financial statements woullicerevenues of $1.25 million in fiscal 2005 fuil.25 as the exchange rate) and $1.21
million in fiscal 2004 (using 1.21 as the exchangte). The constant currency presentation woultstede the fiscal 2005 results using the
fiscal 2004 exchange rate and indicate, in thisrgda, no change in revenues during the periodsath of the tables below, we present the
percent change based on actual results as remortedased on constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 Actual Constant 2004 Actual Constant 2003
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 5,79¢ 16% 16% $ 4,98: 3% 2%  $4,84¢
EMEA @ 4,28¢ 17% 9% 3,671 13% 1% 3,25¢
Asia Pacific 1,71% 15% 10% 1,49¢ 9% 1% 1,37
Total revenue 11,79¢ 16% 12% 10,15¢ 7% 2% 9,47¢
Total Operating Expense 1,77 24% 20% 6,29 4% 0% 6,03t
Total Operating Margin $ 4,027 4% -1%  $ 3,86¢ 12% 5%  $3,44(
Total Operating Margin % 34% 38% 36%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 49% 49% 51%
EMEA 36% 36% 34%
Asia Pacific 15% 15% 15%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $ 9,421 17% 13% $ 8,07C 12% 6% $7,19¢
Services 2,37¢ 14% 10% 2,08¢ -8% -13% 2,27¢
Total revenue $11,79¢ 16% 12%  $ 10,15¢ 7% 2%  $9,47¢
% Revenues by Busines
Software 80% 79% 76%
Services 20% 21% 24%

@ Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspthe increase in total revenues is due to incnéshe
PeopleSoft revenues and an increase in sales giroducts and services resulting from improvedssaelecution as a result of product
specialization, a strengthening in our competipsition and a stronger economy, particularly & thmited States. Total revenues were
favorably affected by foreign currency rate fludtaas due to a weakening of the United States dali@inst certain major international
currencies, primarily the Euro, British Pound aagahese Yen. Excluding the effect of currency ftattuations, the Americas contributed
61% to the increase in total revenues, EMEA coutdtl 27% and Asia Pacific contributed 12%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal operating expenses increased 20%. Operatipgnses were unfavorably affected as a
result of the weakening of the United States dalitative to other major
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international currencies. Operating margins asregugage of total revenues decreased from 38%%a J4he decline in operating margins is
primarily due to incremental costs incurred assalteof the acquisition of PeopleSoft such as arratibn of intangible assets, acquisition
related costs, restructuring costs and stock-basegbensation resulting from the assumption of utegeReopleSoft stock options.

International operations will continue to providsignificant portion of total revenues. As a restdtal revenues and expenses will be affe
by changes in the relative strength of the UnitedeS dollar against certain major internationaftencies.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Total revenues increased in fiscal 2004 due tmarease in both new software license revenues and
software license updates and product support resmartially offset by lower services revenuessthmotably consulting revenues. In
addition, total revenues were favorably affecteddrgign currency rate fluctuations due to a weakgiof the United States dollar against
certain major international currencies, primarhg EEuro, British Pound and Japanese Yen.

Improved sales execution, a strengthening of onrpegitive position and improvements in the econeasulted in a 3% increase in n

software license revenues, excluding foreign cuyeate fluctuations. The increase in softwareniggupdates and product support revenues i
a result of the renewal of substantially all of grer year period subscription base, the additibsoftware license updates and product support
revenues associated with new software license tegeim the current fiscal year and more timely vais.

Weak economic conditions in the United States nfitst quarter of fiscal 2004, as well as weakreenic conditions internationally,
particularly in EMEA, in the first half of fiscaldD4 have affected our services growth rates. Hestlly, services revenue growth rates have
lagged new software license revenue growth ratesebgral quarters, as implementation services dndagion services are typically provided
after our customers purchase software licensesddiition, consulting revenues have declined dwedoft demand for consulting
implementation services, the increased use of particompetitive pricing pressures that have ldddgher discounts, and the increased use of
offshore resources that are billed at lower rdfasluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotiee Americas contributed 60% to the increase
in total revenues in fiscal 2004, EMEA contribu86 and Asia Pacific contributed 12%.

Operating expenses were unfavorably affected asuwdtrof the weakening of the United States do#tative to other major international
currencies, resulting in a 4% increase in operagxpenses. Excluding currency rate fluctuations| wperating expenses remained flat due to
lower salary expenses related to a shift in thegerel mix from the United States and EMEA to lowest countries, offset by discretionary
bonus expenses as well as professional fees imtur@nnection with the PeopleSoft tender offer.

Operating margins as a percentage of total reveingesased from 36% to 38% due to the increasen software license revenues ¢
software license updates and product support regmwhich have higher margins than services rexenue

Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statemprasented on a GAAP basis, we use-GAAP additional measures of net income |

diluted earnings per share adjusted to excludaicgpurchase accounting adjustments and expersewsdibelieve are appropriate to enhance
an overall understanding of our past financial genfance and prospects for the future. In additioese adjusted non-GAAP results are among
the primary indicators management uses as a lagianning and forecasting of future periods. Ehadjustments to our GAAP results are
made with the intent of providing both managemert imvestors a more complete understanding of ndedying operational results and
trends, as well as our marketplace performanceekample, the non-GAAP results are an indicatioowfbaseline performance before the
effects of business combination adjustments aneratharges that are considered by managementdatbiele of our core business segment
operational results. The presentation of this &ithtl information is not meant to be consideredalation or as a substitute for net income or
diluted earnings per share prepared in accordaitbeGRAAP.
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The results of operations include the followingghase accounting adjustments and other signifeegpenses incurred in connection with
acquisitions.
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003
Reported GAAP Net Income $2,88¢ $2,681 $2,307
Support deferred reventie 32C — —
Amortization of intangible asse® 21¢ 36 43
Acquisition related chargé3® 20¢ 54 —
Restructuring® 147 — —
Stock-based compensatih 25 — —
Income tax provisioff (264) (29 (14)
Effect on net income of purchase accounting adjastmand expenses incurred in

connection with acquisitior 65E 61 29
Non-GAAP Net Income $3,541 $2,74: $2,33¢

GAAP Earnings Per Sha

Diluted $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5C $ 0.4:
Non-GAAP Earnings Per Sha

Diluted $ 0.6¢ $ 0.51 $ 0.4:

(1) In connection with our purchase price allocative estimated the fair value of support obligadiassumed in connection with business
acquisitions made during fiscal 2005. Softwarerggupdates and product support revenue relatepfmort contracts assumed in
business acquisitions in the amount of $320 millthat would have been otherwise recorded by theised entities, was not recognized
as revenue by Oracle in fiscal 2005. As custormamsw these support contracts over the next yeawillveecognize revenue for the full
contract value over the support peri

(2) Primarily represents the amortization of intangiédsets acquired in connection with our acquisitibReopleSoft

(3) Acquisition related charges primarily consistreprocess research and development expensds,associated with our tender offer for
PeopleSoft prior to the agreement date, stock-baseghensation expenses, as well as personneldalagts for transitional employees
who have been or will be terminated after the catiph of the legal entity mergers or integratiotivdiies.

(4) Restructuring costs include Oracle employee seeerand Oracle duplicate facility closur
(5) Stoclk-based compensation is included in the followingrapeg expense line items of our consolidated statgs of operation:

Year Ended
May 31, 200!

(in millions)
Sales and marketir $ 6
Software license updates and product sug 2
Cost of service 7
Research and developmt 1C
Subtotal 25
Stoclk-based compensation included in acquisition relabedges 47
Total $ 72

Stoclk-based compensation included in acquisition relatedges resulted from unvested options assuméukiReopleSoft acquisitic
whose vesting was fully accelerated upon termimatitthe employees pursuant to the terms of thptercs.

(6) The income tax provision was calculated to refe28.8%, 32.0% and 32.6% tax rate in fiscal 200842and 2003, respective
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Software
Software includes new software licenses and soéWeense updates and product supy

New Software License: New software license revenues represent feeg@drom granting customers licenses to use owabdse and
middleware products, as well as application sofeq@moducts and excludes revenues derived from addtlicense updates, which are included
in software license updates and product suppoemess. We continue to place significant emphasiy #omestically and internationally, on
direct sales through our own sales force. We adeirtue to market our products through indirectroteds.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 Actual Constant 2004 Actual Constant 2003
New Software License Revenue
Americas $1,80¢ 21% 20%  $1,49C 4% 1%  $1,42¢
EMEA 1,50¢ 10% 3% 1,371 12% 1% 1,22¢
Asia Pacific 781 15% 11% 68C 10% 3% 61¢
Total revenue 4,091 16% 12% 3,541 8% 3% 3,27(
Expenses
Sales and marketing 2,50k 18% 14% 2,12 4% -3% 2,05(
Stoclk-based compensatic 6 * * — * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 59 * * 13 * * 22
Total expense 2,57( 20% 17% 2,13¢ 3% -2% 2,072
Total Margin $1,521 8% 4%  $1,40¢ 17% 10 $1,19¢
Total Margin % 37% 40% 37%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 44% 42% 44%
EMEA 37% 39% 37%
Asia Pacific 19% 19% 19%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewa $ 3,26t 13% 9%  $2,89: 11% 1%  $2,61¢
Applications 78t 28% 25% 61E 2% -2% 60¢&
Total revenues by produ 4,05( 15% 12% 3,50¢ 9% 3% 3,22
Other revenue 41 24% 21% 33 -30% -32% 47
Total new software license revent $ 4,091 16% 12%  $ 3,541 8% 3% $3,27(
% Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewa 81% 82% 81%
Applications 19% 18% 19%

@ Excluding stock-based compensation
not meaningfu

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuapnew software license revenues increased due to
improved sales execution, a strengthening in oorpeditive position, a stronger economy, particylamlthe United States, and incremental
revenues from the licensing of PeopleSoft products.
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The increase in database and middleware new s&tic@nse revenues was driven by a 23% increaapplication server revenues, and a ]
increase in database technology revenues. Theaseiia applications new software license revenwesspsimarily due to incremental revenues
from the licensing of PeopleSoft products, improsafes execution as a result of product speci@izaind increased demand for our products,
particularly in North America. Excluding the effemftcurrency rate fluctuations, the Americas cdnttéd 71%, EMEA contributed 12% and
Asia Pacific contributed 17% to the increase in seftware license revenues.

New software license revenues earned from largeaaions, defined as new software license traiosescover $0.5 million, increased frc

37% of new software license revenues in fiscal 20040% of new software license revenues in fig€fl5. New software license revenues
earned from large transactions increased by 23fisdal 2005, reflecting higher business confideas@eneral economic conditions improved,
particularly in the United States, as customergarehasing more licenses to accommodate theirefgrowth.

Sales and marketing expenses increased primamyalbigher commission expenses that resulted Figimer revenue levels, as well as higher
personnel related costs associated with increaded Beadcount.

Stock-based compensation expense relates to thmpssn of unvested PeopleSoft stock options imeation with the acquisition.
Amortization of intangible assets relates primatilyntangible assets acquired in connection withReopleSoft acquisition.

The total new software license margin as a pergenthrevenues was negatively affected as a reshigher personnel related expenditures,
amortization of intangible assets, as well as stwarded compensation charges.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuapnew software license revenues increased inl fisca
2004 primarily due to higher database technologgmeaes in all geographic areas, offset slightlydwyer application revenues, primarily in
Asia Pacific. Improved sales execution, a strengtigein our competitive position and improvemenmtshie economy resulted in a 5% increase
in new software license sales in the United States1% internationally. The Americas contribute@® the increase in new software license
revenues in fiscal 2004, EMEA contributed 15% arsib/APacific contributed 23%.

New software license revenues earned from largesacions, defined as new software license traiosecover $0.5 million, increased by 1:
in fiscal 2004, contributing to the increase in reaftware license revenues. New software licengemees generated from large transactions
increased as a percentage of total new softwagadie revenues from 36% in fiscal 2003 to 37% itafi2004.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, sales and marketing expenses decreafisdah2004 due to lower headcount levels
and advertising costs, offset partially by highememissions. New software license margin increasdi¢al 2004 due primarily to higher new
software license revenues.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsispecified software product upgrades
maintenance releases issued during the suppoddo@ioduct support includes internet access tmteal content, as well as internet and
telephone access to technical support personnelcd$t of providing support services consists Igrgépersonnel related expenses.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 Actual Constant 2004 Actual Constant 2003
Software License Updates and Product Support Revemn
Americas $2,75¢ 15% 14%  $2,40i 11% 10  $2,17(C
EMEA 1,86¢ 21% 13% 1,54 21% 8% 1,27
Asia Pacific 70E 22% 17% 58C 19% 10% 487
Total revenue 5,33( 18% 14% 4,52¢ 15% 9% 3,92¢
Expenses
Software license updates and product supgort 61€ 13% 9% 547 15% 9% 474
Stock-based compensatic 2 * * — * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 127 * * — * * —
Total expense 74t 36% 32% 547 15% 9% 474
Total Margin $4,58¢ 15% 11%  $3,982 15% 9%  $3,45¢
Total Margin % 86% 88% 88%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 52% 53% 55%
EMEA 35% 34% 32%
Asia Pacific 13% 13% 13%

@ Excluding stock-based compensation
not meaningfu

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspsoftware license updates and product support
revenues increased as a result of the renewasalbstantial majority of the subscription base bligfor renewal in the current year, the
addition of software license updates and produgpstt revenues associated with new software licemgenues recognized in fiscal 2005, n
timely contract renewals, as well as the expansfaur customer base resulting from the acquisitibReopleSoft. Excluding the effect of
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridui8% to the growth in software license updatesmoduct support revenues, EMEA
contributed 32% and Asia Pacific contributed 15%.

In connection with our purchase price allocatioe, estimated the fair value of support obligatiossuaned in connection with business
acquisitions made during fiscal 2005. Softwarerlggupdates and product support revenue relatgofmort contracts assumed in business
acquisitions in the amount of $320 million, thatulbhave been otherwise recorded by the acquirétiesnwas not recognized as revenue by
Oracle in fiscal 2005. As customers renew thespadgontracts over the next year, we will recogrttze full contract value over the support
period.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support esgzeincreased primarily due to higher
personnel costs associated with increased headdagher discretionary bonuses and facility expense
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Stock-based compensation expense relates to thmpssn of unvested PeopleSoft stock options imeation with the acquisition.
Amortization of intangible assets relates primatilyntangible assets acquired in connection withacquisition of PeopleSoft.

The total software license updates and product@tippargin as a percentage of revenues decreadisd¢ah2005 primarily due to the
amortization of intangible assets and stock-basespensation charges.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspsoftware license updates and product support
revenues in fiscal 2004 increased 9% as a restitteofenewal of a substantial majority of the sulpsion base eligible for renewal in fiscal
2004, the addition of software license updatespmnduct support revenues associated with new soétliGense revenues recognized in fiscal
2004, as well as more timely contract renewalsluhng the effect of currency rate fluctuationsg thmericas contributed 57% to the growth
in software license updates and product suppoemess in fiscal 2004, EMEA contributed 30% and A%aa&ific contributed 13%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support egseincreased in fiscal 2004 primarily due
to the accrual of discretionary bonuses, as weltligiser salary expenses due to increased headcthmsoftware license updates and product
support margin as a percent of revenues remaiaeddla result of higher revenues offset by ine@aslary and discretionary bonus expenses.

Services
Services consist of consulting, advanced produeices and education.
Consulting: Consulting revenues are earned by providing sesvio customers specializing in the design, impleation, deployment and

upgrade of our database, middleware and applicaioftiware. The cost of providing consulting sezsiconsists primarily of personnel related
expenditures.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual Constant Actual Constant

(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Consulting Revenues
Americas $ 95€ 11% 11% $ 85¢ -14% -15% $ 99¢
EMEA 71¢€ 23% 15% 581 0% -11% 582
Asia Pacific 13€ -T1% -12% 14¢ -17% -22% 17¢

Total revenue 1,81( 14% 12% 1,58¢ -10% -14% 1,761
Expenses
Cost of service&) 1,54¢ 15% 11% 1,347 -8% -13% 1,47:
Stock-based compensatic 6 * * — * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 1 * * — * * —

Total expense 1,55¢€ 16% 11% 1,343 -8% -13% 1,472
Total Margin $ 254 5% 1% $ 24z -16% -19% $ 28¢
Total Margin % 14% 15% 16%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 54% 57%
EMEA 39% 37% 33%
Asia Pacific 8% 9% 10%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic
* not meaningful
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Consulting revenues increased due to incremeexahues earned by performing services under
PeopleSoft consulting contracts, partially offsgtldecline in consulting revenues earned fromiseswendered under Oracle consulting
contracts. The decline in revenue from Oracle chimgucontracts is due to a shift in the mix ofgasces to lower cost countries, which has
resulted in a decrease in billing rates. Consultexgenues also declined as a result of our dectsiovork more closely with partners, who are
performing a higher percentage of the implementatimf our software. Excluding PeopleSoft relatedscidting revenues, the decline in
consulting revenues in the Americas is primarilg do a decrease in the United States. We expeddrigber attrition rates in the United
States, which led to lower consulting headcourgligwesulting in a decline in billable hours aedanues. The decline in Asia Pacific
consulting revenues was primarily due to a largesatiing project in Japan, which was substantietisnpleted at the end of fiscal 2004.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosnsulting expenses increased 11% primarily duegler external contractor costs and
personnel related expenditures due to higher hesdl@nd revenue levels.

Stock-based compensation expense related to thenptien of unvested PeopleSoft stock options imeation with the acquisition.

The total consulting margin as a percentage ofrmaee was negatively affected as a result of additioonsulting expenses attributed to
headcount levels and external contractor relatpemditures, as well as stock-based compensatiogeha

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaipthe decline in total consulting revenues indist004
was primarily due to companies delaying or limitieghnology spending and product implementatiofistorically, consulting revenue growth
rates have lagged new software license revenuethn@tes by several quarters, as consulting sexaoe typically provided after customers
purchase software licenses. In addition, consulvgnues have declined due to soft demand foruttimg implementation services, the
increased use of partners, competitive pricingguress that have led to higher discounts and tlreased use of offshore resources that are
billed at lower rates. The Americas contributed S8%he decline in consulting revenues in fiscddl2(EMEA contributed 27% and Asia
Pacific contributed 16%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotigg decline in consulting expenses is due priméoila reduction of personnel related
expenditures as a result of lower headcount anghiey levels, as well as the hiring of personnebimtries where personnel costs are lower
than in the United States and certain EuropeantdeanThe consulting margin as a percentage afimees decreased slightly, as consulting
revenues declined at a higher rate than consudtipgnses.
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Advanced Product Service Advanced product services are comprised of Or@d@®emand and advanced product support servigesleO
On Demand provides multi-featured software andWward management and maintenance services for talvatse, middleware and
applications software. Advanced product suppostises are earned by providing customers configomagind performance analysis,
personalized support and annual on-site techn&alces. The cost of providing advanced produactises consists primarily of personnel
related expenditures and hardware and facilitistscimr Oracle On Demand.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual

(Dollars in millions) 2005 Constant 2004 Actual Constant 2003
Advanced Product Services Revenu
Americas $ 16& 18% 17%  $ 14C -T% 7%  $ 15C
EMEA 93 11% 3% 84 8% -5% 78
Asia Pacific 41 21% 15% 34 17% 12% 29

Total revenue 29¢ 16% 14% 25€ 0% -4% 257
Cost of Service 252 17% 14% 21€ 19% 12% 182
Total Margin $ 46 10% 6% $ 42  -44% -45% $ 75
Total Margin % 15% 16% 29%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 54% 59%
EMEA 31% 33% 30%
Asia Pacific 14% 13% 11%

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspadvanced product services revenues increased
primarily due to the expansion of our subscripti@se in Oracle On Demand services. Excluding tleetedf currency rate fluctuations, the
Americas contributed 72% to the increase in advéupeeduct services revenues, EMEA contributed 12&/Asia Pacific contributed 16%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal advanced product services expenses incrdaiédorimarily due to higher employee
related expenditures related to increased headcdhatadvanced product services margin as a peofeatenues decreased as expenses grew
at a higher rate than revenues.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuapadvanced product support services revenues
decreased in fiscal 2004 due to companies delayitigniting technology spending. A portion of thealease was also due to a de-emphasis of
certain services. The decrease in advanced predpprt services revenues was offset by an incieaeacle On Demand revenues. The
Americas contributed 91% and EMEA contributed 4@%he decrease in advanced product services resémtiscal 2004, offset by higher
revenues in Asia Pacific.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal advanced product services expenses incrgasadrily due to investments made in
facilities and headcount to support current andriagrowth in our Oracle On Demand business. Tleesdse in the advanced product services
margin as a percent of revenues in fiscal 2004iéstd lower advanced product support revenues igieéhOracle On Demand expenses.
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Education: Education revenues are earned by providing iogirded, media based and internet based traiminiga use of our database,
middleware and applications software. Educatioreesps primarily consist of personnel related exiperes, facilities and external contractor
costs.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual Constant Actual Constant

(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Education Revenues
Americas $ 118 30% 29% $ 87 -12% -13% $ 99
EMEA 10¢ 9% 2% 99 3% -8% 96
Asia Pacific 48 -9% -13% 53 -16% -20% 63

Total revenue 26¢ 13% 10% 23¢ 7% -13% 25¢
Expenses
Cost of service&) 224 8% 4% 207 -3% -9% 214
Stock-based compensatic 1 * * — * * —

Total expense 22t 9% 11% 207 -3% -13% 214
Total Margin $ 44 38% 42% $ 32 -27% -32% $ 44
Total Margin % 16% 13% 17%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 42% 36% 38%
EMEA 40% 42% 37%
Asia Pacific 18% 22% 25%

@ Excluding stock-based compensation
not meaningfu

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004:Education revenues increased due to incrementahums related to PeopleSoft. Excluding the effect
of currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contréal 127%, EMEA contributed 7%, while Asia Pacffantributed a negative 34% to the
overall increase in education revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotig increase in education expenses is primarigytdidees paid to education partners that
provide training to our customers.

The education margin as a percentage of revenuesaiged as revenues increased at a higher ratexpanses.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspthe decline in education revenues is attribetédol
headcount reductions of information technology pengl across multiple industry sectors that hasgelted in a continued reduction of the
demand for technical product training. In additioampanies have delayed or limited technology sipendducation revenue growth rates
have lagged new software license revenue growds taf several quarters, as education servicey@ically provided after our customers
purchase software licenses. The Americas contrib8®86 to the decline in education revenues in fig684, EMEA contributed 23% and A
Pacific contributed 38%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioeducation expenses decreased due to reductigessonnel and related expenditures. The
education margin as a percentage of revenues dedéafiscal 2004 as revenues declined at a higiterthan expenses.
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Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consist gdsirafdersonnel related expenditures. We intend to
continue to invest significantly in our researcll @evelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny; #ne essential to maintaining our
competitive position.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual Constant Actual Constani

(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Research and Developmer
Research and developméhnt $1,481 18% 17%  $1,25¢ 8% 4%  $1,15¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 10 * * — * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 32 39% 39% 23 7% 7% 21

Total expense $1,52¢ 19% 18%  $1,277 8% 6%  $1,18(
Percent of Total Revenue 13% 13% 12%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic
not meaningfu

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004:Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioresearch and development expenses increased in
fiscal 2005 due to higher external contractor castsvell as higher personnel and related exparditelated to the increase in headcount. In
fiscal 2005, total research and development headdnareased by 2,656 employees or 25%. The datadad middleware technology division
has continued to hire engineers, resulting in ah@#dcount increase in fiscal 2005. Applicationgaesh and development headcount incre
45% in fiscal 2005 as a result of the hiring ofnfier PeopleSoft engineers.

Stock-based compensation expense relates to thmpten of unvested PeopleSoft stock options imeation with the acquisition.
Amortization of intangible assets relates primatilyntangible assets acquired in connection withacquisition of PeopleSoft.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of foreign currency ratectiuations, research and development expenses §&t

in fiscal 2004 primarily due to an increase in diionary bonus expenses. In fiscal 2004, reseamdhdevelopment headcount increased 12%
and 10% in the database and middleware technolwggiah and applications development organizatisaspectively. While total headcount
increased from 9,429 to 11,436, salary expensesdtithcrease in proportion to the higher headctecause the hiring occurred in countries
where personnel costs are significantly lower timatime United States.

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses primarilysisbrof personnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humasoteces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual Constant Actual Constant
(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003
General and Administrative
General and administratiy $55C 8% 6% $50€ 15% 8% $441
Percent of Total Revenue 5% 5% 5%
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004:Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiogeneral and administrative expenses increased
fiscal 2005 as compared to the prior year corredipgnperiod primarily due to higher discretionagnibises and benefit expenses.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Excluding the effect of foreign currency ratectiuations, the increase in general and adminigtati
expenses in fiscal 2004 was primarily attributediszretionary bonus expenses, as well as costsiagsd with globalizing certain processes.

Amortization of Intangible Assets Amortization of intangible assets primarily repeats purchased intangible assets associated with o
acquisition of PeopleSoft, which will be amortizeeer a period of 5 to 10 years.

Amortization of intangible assets relate to thédieing intangible assets:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) Useful Life 2005 2004 2003
Software support agreements and related relatipa 10 year: $ 88 $ — $ —
Developed technolog 5 years 86 36 43
Core technolog 5 years 30 — —
Customer relationshiy 10 year: 10 — —
Trademarks 7 years 5 — —

Total amortization of intangible ass: $21¢ $ 36 $ 43

Acquisition Related Charges Acquisition related charges primarily consistroprocess research and development expenses,assstsiated
with our tender offer for PeopleSoft prior to thgeement date, stock-based compensation expesses)las personnel related costs for
transitional employees who have been or will bmieated after the completion of the legal entityrgees or integration activities. Stock-based
compensation included in acquisition related chargsulted from unvested options assumed in thpl@8oft acquisition whose vesting was
fully accelerated upon termination of the employeesuant to the terms of these options.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
In-process research and developrr $ 46 $ — $ —
Transitional employee related co 52 — —
Stock-based compensatic a7 — —
Tender offer cost 63 54 —

Total acquisition related charg $20¢ $ 54 $ —

Restructuring: Restructuring expenses primarily consist of Grarhployee severance costs and Oracle duplicatiyfatosures.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Severance cos $12¢ $ — $ —
Excess facilities 21 — —

Total restructuring charge $147 $— $ —
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Interest Expense Interest expense increased in fiscal 2005 prigndrie to borrowings in December 2004 of $9.2 diillunder a $9.5 billion
unsecured term loan agreement, which we repaidriows installments from February 2005 through M@95. In the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005, we borrowed $2.0 billion under a commercéggr program and $700 million under a 364-day unsekcloan facility that are
outstanding at May 31, 2005. Interest expensesoafi2004 included $5.5 million in commitment feekated to an unused $1.5 billion
revolving credit facility that expired in Decemi®804 and additional interest associated with o&O%hillion senior notes that matured in
February 2004.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 Actual Constant 2004 Actual Constant 2003
Interest expens $ 13t 543% 543% $21 31% 264 $16

Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarily of inteiasome, net foreign currency exchange gains €ese
investment gains (losses) related to equity séesrénd the minority interest share in the netifwaff Oracle Japan.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
Actual Constani Constant

(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 Actual 2003
Interest incom: $18¢t 57% 53%  $11¢€ -9% -13%  $12¢
Foreign currency gains (losse (14) 8% 3% (13) -263% -286% 8
Net investment gains (losses) related to equityrsibes 2 -93% -93% 29 * * (111
Minority interest 42 14% 14% (37 12% 12% (33
Other 33 * * 5 -38% -23% 8

Total nor-operating income, ni $164 61% 58%  $102 * * $ 1

* not meaningfu

The net increase in non-operating income in fi2€AI5 is primarily due to higher interest incomenearresulting from higher average cash
balances and slightly higher interest rates avigilabthe capital markets. In fiscal 2005, the viégl average interest rate earned on cash, casl
equivalents and marketable securities increased 1r&% to 1.9%.

The net increase in nasperating income in fiscal 2004 as compared tafi2003 is primarily due to higher net investmesing compared to
loss in fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2004, we recordeghan of $35.4 million from the sale of all of ousramon stock in Liberate Technologies to a
third-party for approximately $83.5 million. In &al 2003, we recorded impairment charges relabrgthier than temporary declines in the fair
value of our investment in Liberate Technologie$®7.1 million. We concluded that our investmenswéher than temporarily impaired
because our cost basis exceeded the publicly tnaaekiet value of the Liberate Technologies comntooksfor approximately six months. We
also recognized $23.9 million of impairment lossslated to our other investments, which includeg:giments in privately held companies,
venture funds and publicly traded companied. Werdgihed that the decreases in the fair value afetlevestments were other than temporary
based upon the financial condition and near temspgects of the underlying investees, changed imttrd&et demand for technology being sold
or developed by the underlying investees and dentrregarding providing future funding to the urigieg investees.

Provision for Income Taxes: The effective tax rate in all periods is the resfilthe mix of income earned in various tax jurigidins that appl
a broad range of income tax rates. The provisioimimome taxes differs from the tax computed atfdftkeral statutory income tax rate due
primarily to state taxes and earnings consideraddefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. et effective tax rates could be adversely
affected if earnings are
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lower than anticipated in countries where we haveel statutory rates, by unfavorable changes inaasg and regulations, or by adverse
rulings in tax related litigation.

The effective tax rate was 28.8%, 32.0% and 3216%scal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Indig005, the effective tax rate before
significant items was 29.4% as compared to 32.0%igoal 2004. Our effective tax rate for fiscald®lincludes a number of significant items
identified in the third and fourth quarters. Théeefive tax rate for fiscal 2005 was increased eesalt of (1) nordeductible expenses relatec
in-process research and development charges aittbadbtitaxes associated with tender offer costsiired from June 9, 2003 to December 12,
2004 for PeopleSoft that, upon acquisition, hada@apitalized into the basis of the stock forgarposes and (2) the federal and state tax
accrued on the $3.1 billion dividend payment madglay 2005 pursuant to the Jobs Creation Act o#20Wis increase was offset by (1) the
favorable settlement of several domestic and iatgznal audits, (2) the expiration of statutesiwiitation on assessments and (3) a net
favorable revision to estimated tax accruals uplomgffiscal 2004 tax returns.

The following table reconciles our fiscal 2005 effee tax rate before and after significant items:

Effective tax rate 28.&%
Significant items
Acquisition and restructuring cos (0.6)
Dividend pursuant to the American Jobs Creationg&@004 (3.0
Settlement of audits and expiration of stati 3.2
True-up of estimated tax accruals upon filing of prieay tax return 1.C
Effective tax rate excluding significant iter 29.4%

The decrease in our effective tax rate before Bagmit items for fiscal 2005 is attributable to hég earnings in low tax rate jurisdictions.

We provide for United States income taxes on theriegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they are ictemed indefinitely reinvested outside of
the United States. At May 31, 2005, the cumulagigenings upon which United States income taxes havbeen provided were approximal
$2.2 billion. If these earnings were repatriateth® United States, they would generate foreigrctadits that could reduce the federal tax
liability associated with the foreign dividend. Aissing a full utilization of the foreign tax credithe potential deferred tax liability for these
earnings would be approximately $500 million. InyW2005, we repatriated $3.1 billion of the earningforeign subsidiaries in accordance
with the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 andrded a federal tax expense of $118 million antheedax expense (net of the federal tax
benefit) of $3 million. We repatriated the maximamount available for repatriation under the Ameridabs Creation Act of 2004.

This distribution from previously indefinitely reiasted earnings does not change our position doimgrd that future earnings of certain of
our foreign subsidiaries will be indefinitely reested.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of and for the Fiscal Year Ended May 31,

Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 Change 2003
Working capital $ 41€ -94% $ 7,064 39% $ 5,06¢
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 4,80z -44% $ 8,581 32% $ 6,51¢
Cash provided by operating activiti $ 3,652 11% $ 3,19t 5% $ 3,05(
Cash provided by (used for) investing activit $(5,75%) 126% $(2,54¢) -385% $ 89t
Cash provided by (used for) financing activit $1,88¢ 243% $(1,320) -47% $(2,48))

Working capital: The decline in working capital in fiscal 2005ismarily due to cash paid to acquire PeopleSaodt @mincrease in shotgérm
borrowings.
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Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitie€ash and cash equivalents consist of highly digmvestments in time deposits held at
major banks, commercial paper, United States gawem agency discount notes, money market mutualsfamd other money market
securities with original maturities of 90 days esd. Marketable securities primarily consist of owrcial paper, corporate notes and Unites
States government agency notes. Cash, cash equivaled marketable securities include $3.1 bilkeld by our foreign subsidiaries, $2.2
billion of which we consider indefinitely reinvesteutside of the United States. These earningsdMoellsubject to United States income tax if
repatriated to the United States. Assuming a fillzation of the foreign tax credits, the hypoticat deferred tax liability for these earnings
would be $500 million.

Cash flows from operating activities:Our largest source of operating cash flows i catlections from our customers following the fhase
and renewal of their software license updates aodyzt support agreements. Payments from custoimessftware license updates and
product support are generally received by the beggof the contract term, which is generally oealyin length. We also generate significant
cash from new software license sales, and to adesgent, services. Our primary uses of cash fsparating activities are for personnel rele
expenditures, payment of taxes, facilities andretdgy costs. Additionally in 2005, our cash flofskem operations were affected by
acquisition of assets and assumption of liabilitesonnection with the acquisition of PeopleSoft.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Cash flows from operating activities increaseéisnal 2005 primarily due to higher net income,
excluding non-cash charges, and increases in nguisition related deferred revenues, partially etffsy the payment of liabilities assumed in
connection with the PeopleSoft acquisition.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated bydiliigi period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the quarter, was 56 at May 31,
2005 and 59 days at May 31, 2004. The days salstaoding calculation excludes the adjustmentdoce software license updates and
product support revenue related to adjusting theyicey value for deferred support revenues acquipeidnarily from PeopleSoft, to its
estimated fair value. The decline in days salestantling is due to more timely collections, as waslh shift in the mix of total revenues.
Software license updates and product support regare generally billed one year in advance, vithderevenues are recognized ratably over
the annual contract period. Software license upsdatel product support revenues as a percentageabfdévenues increased, resulting in hig
cash collections and lower days sales outstanding.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Cash flows from operating activities increaseéisnal 2004, primarily due to higher net incomel an
the timing of income tax payments, partially offegthigher trade receivables.

Cash flows from investing activities:The changes in cash flows from investing acggitprimarily relate to acquisitions and the timafg
purchases and maturities of investments. We als@ash to invest in capital and other assets tpastipur growth.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004Cash used for investing activities increasedsical 2005 primarily due to cash paid to acquire
PeopleSoft. The increase was partially offset ighér proceeds from maturities of marketable seesrihet of purchases.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003Cash flows from investing activities decreasefisoal 2004 due to higher purchases of marketable
securities offset by lower capital expendituresfignal 2003, we exercised an option under a méesese facility and purchased the leased
properties for $168.3 million.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing actgtprimarily relate to payments made for stock
repurchases, as well as borrowings and paymentsr atatht obligations.

Our Board of Directors has approved a programponehase shares of our common stock to reducelltiteve effect of our stock option ar
stock purchase plans. The Board has expandedpghectese program several
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times by either increasing the authorized numbeshafes to be repurchased or by authorizing a fikldr amount expansion, most recently in
October 2004. From the inception of the stock repase program in 1992 to May 31, 2005, a total®Mlllion shares have been repurchased
for approximately $20.4 billion. At May 31, 2005@oximately $1.9 billion was available to repurséahares of our common stock pursuant
to the stock repurchase program. Cash flow fromraimns and existing cash balances were used toalegse our common stock.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004We generated cash flow from financing activifie§iscal 2005 as a result of net borrowings of7$2.
billion primarily used to pay for the acquisitiohPeopleSoft. In the third quarter of fiscal 200& borrowed $9.2 billion under a bridge loai
fund the acquisition of PeopleSoft and repaid thtére balance as of May 31, 2005 with cash flowsrfroperations, proceeds from maturities
and sale of marketable securities, the repatriaifdoreign earnings and new borrowings. We borrd®2.0 billion under a $3.0 billion
commercial paper program and $700 million undeé4@&ay loan facility through a wholly-owned subaigi in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003We incurred negative cash flows from financingwéties in fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of
common stock repurchases.

In fiscal 2004, we repaid our $150.0 million semotes that matured in February 2004. In fiscalgl9@ entered into a forward contract to
36.0 million shares of our common stock at $4.42sb@re plus accretion, subject to adjustments tiwer. The forward contract had a stated
maturity of February 13, 2003 and was accounte@d$aan equity instrument. The forward contractatetalized our master lease facility that
provided for the construction or purchase of uf182.0 million of property and improvements leabgdis. In fiscal 2003, we settled the
forward contract with a cash payment of $166.3iorill which was recorded as a reduction to additipaal in capital.

Free cash flow: We believe reporting free cash flow provides masibility to our ability to generate cash. Weibgk that this measure is
also useful to investors as one of the bases fmpeoing our operating performance with our compeditFree cash flow is not a measure of
financial performance under U.S. generally acceptambunting principles and should not be considerésblation or as an alternative to net
income as an indicator of our performance, or asl@nnative to cash flows from operating actiwtaes a measure of liquidity. We calculate
free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

Change Change
(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Cash provided by operating activiti $3,55¢ 11% $3,19¢ 5% $3,05(
Capital expenditure® $ (18¢) -1% $ (189 -35% $ (29)
Free cash flov $3,36¢ 12% $3,00¢ 9% $2,75¢
Net income $2,88¢ 8% $2,681 16% $2,30i
Free cash flow as a percent of net incc 117% 112% 120%

(1 Represents capital expenditures as reported infleagh from investing activities in our consoliddtstatements of cash flows presented in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples.

Long-Term Customer Financing

We offer our customers the option to acquire ofimsre and services through separate long-term paycontracts. We generally sell such
contracts on a non-recourse basis to financiaitinigins. We record the transfers of amounts damfcustomers to financial institutions as
sales of financial assets because we are consitiered/e surrendered control of these financiattassn fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, $455.6
million, $356.6 million and $364.1 million or appimately 11%, 10% and 11%, respectively, of our s®fiware license revenues were
financed through our financing division.
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Contractual Obligations

The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymendeufixed contractual obligations a
commitments. Changes in our business needs, catioelprovisions, changing interest rates and dénetors may result in actual payments
differing from these estimates. We cannot provigeainty regarding the timing and amounts of payimeve have presented below a
summary of the most significant assumptions usexliminformation within the context of our consealidd financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. The following is a sumynad our contractual obligations as of May 31, 200

Year Ending May 31,

Thereafter
(in millions) Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Balance Sheet Contractual Obligations
Short-term borrowingé $269: $269 $§ — $ — $ — $ — & —
Principal payments on senior no 15C — 15C — — — —
Payable to PeopleSoft stockhold&ts 6 6 — — — — —
Notes payabl 6 — 6 — — — —
Total balance sheet contractual obligati 2,858 2,69¢ 15€ — — — —
Other Contractual Obligations:
Interest payments on short-term borrowifigs 32 32 — — — — —
Interest payments on senior nofés 14 8 6 — — — —
Operating lease 66C 157 134 10z 85 66 11€
Purchase obligatiorf 27 12 13 2 — - _
Funding commitment§ 10 10 — — — - —
Total other contractual obligatiol 743 21¢ 152 104 85 66 11€
Total contractual obligatior $3,59¢ $2,91¢ $ 30¢ $ 104 $ 8 $ 66 $ 11¢

@ Shor-term borrowings include approximately $2.0 billionpromissory notes under our commercial papergarogvith various maturitie
through September 2005 (weighted average effertieeest rate of 3.13% at May 31, 2005) and bomgsiunder an unsecured $700
million loan facility due May 2006 (effective intst rate of 3.53% at May 31, 200

@ On January 7, 2005, we completed the merger ofIE8oft and converted each remaining outstandingestfaPeopleSoft common sto
not tendered into a right to receive $26.50 peresiracash, without interest. As of May 31, 2006 rillion remained payable to PeopleSoft
stockholders who had not submitted their she

@) Represents estimated interest payments on ourrsasties using an effective interest rate of 5.23%ay 31, 2005. We entered into
interest-rate swap agreement that has the ecoreffet of modifying the interest obligations assbed with our 6.91% senior notes so that
the interest payable on the senior notes effegtivetomes variabl

@ Represents amounts associated with agreement@réhanhforceable, legally binding and specify terimduding: fixed or minimun
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or Ma@ggrice provisions; and the approximate timinghef payment

©) Funding commitments relate to the maximum addificapital we may need to contribute toward our uemfund investments which are
payable upon deman

We believe that our current cash and cash equitslerarketable securities and cash generated fparations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditure, contractualigations and investment needs. In addition, wieetee we could fund other acquisitions with
our internally available cash and investments, cgsterated from operations, amounts available umgiecommercial paper program,
additional borrowings or from the issuance of addl securities.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

Quarterly revenues and expenses have historicaéin laffected by a variety of seasonal factorsuitioh sales compensation plans. TF
seasonal factors are common in the software ingluBlrese factors have caused a decrease in ougdiaster revenues as compared to reve

in the immediately preceding fourth quarter, whiig$torically, has been the highest quarter. We etxibés trend to continue in the first quarter
of fiscal 2006. In addition, our European operadigenerally provide lower revenues in our firstdisquarter because of the reduced economic
activity in Europe during the summer.

The following table sets forth selected unauditaedrterly information for our last eight fiscal gtexs. Revenues and expenses from PeopleSof
are included in our financial results beginningletember 29, 2004. We believe that all necessgagtments, which consisted only of norr
recurring adjustments, have been included in theuats stated below to present fairly the resultsugh periods when read in conjunction v

the consolidated financial statements and relatgesincluded elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The sfithe quarterly financial information

may vary from the annual data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2005 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

August 31 November 3( February 28
(in millions, except per share amounts) May 31
Revenue: $ 2,21¢ $ 2,75¢ $ 2,95C $ 3,87¢
Operating incom $ 71F $ 1,131 $ 77C $ 1,40%
Net income $ 50¢ $ 81t $ 54C $ 1,022
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.1C $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.11 $ 0.2
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1cC $ 0.2

Fiscal 2004 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

August 31 November 3( February 29
(in millions, except per share amounts May 31
Revenue: $ 2,072 $ 2,49¢ $ 2,50¢ $ 3,07¢
Operating incom: $ 61€ $ 91t $ 927 $ 1,40¢
Net income $ 44C $ 617 $ 63E $ 99(
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.0¢ $ 0.12 $ 0.1z $ 0.1¢
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.0¢ $ 0.12 $ 0.1z $ 0.1¢

Stock Options

Our stock option program is a key component ofcitv@pensation package we provide to attract anchregkented employees and align th
interests with the interests of existing stockhodd®Ve recognize that options dilute existing statélers and have sought to control the nur

of options granted while providing competitive canpation packages. Consistent with these dual goalcumulative potential dilution over
the last three full fiscal years has been less th@% and has averaged 1.1% per year. The potelitiibn percentage is calculated as the new
option grants for the year, net of options forféityy employees leaving the company, divided byttlel outstanding shares at the beginning of
the year. This maximum potential dilution will omgsult if all options are exercised. Many of theptons, which have 10-year exercise
periods, have exercise prices substantially higiem the current market price. At May 31, 2005, 26ur outstanding stock options had
exercise prices in excess of the current markeepfonsistent with our historic practices, we dbexpect that dilution from future grants
before the effect of our stock repurchase progralivexceed 1.5% per year for our ongoing busin€sser the last 10 years, our stock
repurchase program has more than offset the diwffect of our stock option program, however, weeymeduce the level of our stock
repurchases in the future as we may use our al@itaish to repay indebtedness. At May 31, 2005mi#emum potential dilution from all
outstanding and unexercised option awards, regagdiEwhen granted and regardless of whether vestedvested and including options
where the strike price is higher than the curreatk®at price, was 9.1%.

The Committee on Compensation and Management Dawelot of the Board of Directors reviews and appsdhe organization-wide stock
option grants to selected employees, all stockoagrants to executive officers and any individstakk option grants in excess of 25,000
shares. A separate Plan Committee, which is anuéixemfficer committee, approves individual stagition grants up to 25,000 shares to non-
executive officers and employees.
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Options granted from June 1, 2002 through May 8052are summarized as follows:

(Shares
in millions)
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 454
Options grante 24¢
Options exercise (157
Forfeitures (77)
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 46¢
Average annualized options granted, net of forfed 46
Average annualized stock repurcha 16¢
Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 5,14t
Weighted average shares outstanding from JuneQP, 2Bough May 31, 200 5,21¢
Options outstanding as a percent of shares ouisguatiMay 31, 200! 9.1%
In the money options outstanding (based on our 8182005 stock price) as a percent of shares oulistg at May 31, 200 6.9%
Average annualized options granted, net of forfegland before stock repurchases, as a percerttighited average shares
outstanding from June 1, 2002 through May 31, Z 0.9%
Average annualized options granted, net of forfedland after stock repurchases, as a percenecdga/ shares outstandi
from June 1, 2002 through May 31, 2( -2.3%

@ Includes 97 options assumed in connection withHPepleSoft acquisition.

Generally, we grant stock options to our existingpyees on an annual basis. During fiscal 2005made our annual grant of options and
other grants to purchase approximately 42.6 milibares, which were partially offset by cancellaiof options to purchase 24.6 million
shares. In June 2005, we made our annual gratdck sptions to employees of the company to puretsgproximately 52.8 million shares.

As discussed in the Critical Accounting Policieg @xpect to adopt Statement 123(R) on June 1, 200&xpense stock-based compensation
using the modified prospective method.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Share-Based Paymen On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statemeni 2B (revised 2004Share-Based Paymer, which is a revisiol

of Statement 123. Statement 123(R) supersedesddg?si, and amends FASB Statement No.S3&tement of Cash Flow&enerally, the
approach in Statement 123(R) is similar to the apghn described in Statement 123. However, Statet23{R) generally requires share-based
payments to employees, including grants of empleyeek options and purchases under employee stackase plans, to be recognized in the
statement of operations based on their fair valBes forma disclosure of fair value recognitionlwib longer be an alternative.

Statement 123(R) permits public companies to al®pequirements using one of two methods:

» Modified prospective method: Compensation coset®gnized beginning with the effective date of dop(a) based on the requireme
of Statement 123(R) for all shabased payments granted after the effective daaeapbtion and (b) based on the requirements of i8&ati
123 for all awards granted to employees prior &dfiective date of adoption that remain unvestethe date of adoptiol

* Modified retrospective method: Includes the requieats of the modified prospective method descrddmm/e, but also permits restatem
using amounts previously disclosed under the pnmdoprovisions of Statement 123 either for (apathr periods presented or (b) prior
interim periods of the year of adoptic

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Casion announced that the Statement 123(R) effettansition date will be extended
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. VWee&bto adopt this new standard on June 1, 2006g tise modified prospective method.
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Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits ofleauctions in excess of recognized compensatioaresgpto be reported as a financing cash
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow asgpitesd under current accounting rules. This reeué@et will reduce net operating cash flows
and increase net financing cash flows in perioter @fdoption. Total cash flow will remain unchandexn cash flow as it would have been
reported under prior accounting rules.

As permitted by Statement 123, we currently accéamshare-based payments to employees using @pRits intrinsic value method. As a
consequence, we generally recognize no compensaigirfor employee stock options and purchasesrundgeEmployee Stock Purchase Plan.
Although the adoption of Statement 123(R)’s failueamethod will have no adverse impact on our liaheet or total cash flows, it will
affect our net income and diluted earnings pereshine actual effects of adopting Statement 12@({Ryepend on numerous factors including
the amounts of share-based payments granted fattire, the valuation model we use to value fushrare-based payments to employees and
estimated forfeiture rates. See Note 1 for thectfd@ reported net income and earnings per shave Had accounted for our stock option and
stock purchase plans using the fair value recagmiprovisions of Statement 123.

Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assi On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued StatementBB8,Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting formiametary TransactionsStatement 153 addresses the measurement of gashah
nonmonetary assets and redefines the scope oattamss that should be measured based on thedhie wf the assets exchanged. Statement
153 is effective for nonmonetary asset exchanggmbing in our second quarter of fiscal 2006. Wendbbelieve adoption of Statement 153
will have a material effect on our consolidatedafinial position, results of operations or cash #ow

Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Fordigarnings Repatriation Provision within the Americiobs Creation Act of 200. On
December 21, 2004, the FASB issued Staff PositionmA\S 109-2Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreligarnings

Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs &tien Act of 200.. The American Jobs Creation Act introduces a sppecie-time

dividends received deduction on the repatriationasfain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer (mgit&n provision), provided certain criteria
are met. FSP FAS 109-2 provides accounting andiogigie guidance for the repatriation provisionthe fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we
repatriated $3.1 billion of cumulative foreign eiags invested outside the United States. The additincome tax associated with this amount
was $118 million.

Accounting Changes and Error Correctior On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement Nb.Aceounting Changes and Error
Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 2;counting Changesand Statement No. Beporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statemeni. Statement 154 changes the requirements for twuating for and reporting of a change in accoungrinciple.
Previously, most voluntary changes in accountingggules were required recognition via a cumulag¥iect adjustment within net income of
the period of the change. Statement 154 requitesspective application to prior periods’ financsghtements, unless it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects oradtmulative effect of the change. Statement 1®4fective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005;éh@r, the Statement does not change the trangitmnsions of any existing accounting
pronouncements. We do not believe adoption of Btate 154 will have a material effect on our corgatiéd financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Factors That May Affect Our Future Results or the Market Price of Our Stock

We operate in a rapidly changing economic and teldgical environmenthat presents numerous risks, many of which areedrby factor:
that we cannot control or predict. The followingalission, as well as that above of critical acdagrolicies and estimates, highlights som
these risks.
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Economic, political and market conditions can adsety affect our revenue growth and profitabilit Our business is influenced by a range
of factors that are beyond our control and thateee no comparative advantage in forecasting. Timetgde:

. the overall demand for enterprise computer softvaaie services;

. conditions in the high technology, telecommuniaasidfinancial services and manufacturing indusctars;
. governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegpment spending priorities;

. general economic and business conditions;

. general political developments, such as the waeoorism.

Recovery in the global economic environment hasilmeedest and uneven. A general weakening of thHeafjleconomy, or a curtailment in
government spending, could delay and decreasemastourchases. In addition, the war on terrorischthe potential for other hostilities in
various parts of the world continue to contributatclimate of economic and political uncertairttgttcould adversely affect our revenue
growth and results of operations. These impactemgdy fall most strongly on our sales of softwhcenses, and to a lesser extent, also affect
our renewal rates for software license updatespanduct support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dteinaccurate sales forecasts or other factor©ur revenues, and particularly our new
software license revenues, are difficult to forécasd as a result our quarterly operating resaltsfluctuate substantially. We use a “pipeline”
system, a common industry practice, to forecasissaihd trends in our business. Our sales persomorétor the status of all proposals and
estimate when a customer will make a purchase idecd the dollar amount of the sale. These estisrare aggregated periodically to
generate a sales pipeline. Our pipeline estimategmove to be unreliable both in a particular tprasr over a longer period of time, in part
because the “conversion rate” of the pipeline odotracts can be very difficult to estimate. A a#in in the conversion rate, or in the pipeline
itself, could cause us to plan or budget incoryeatid adversely affect our business or resultpefations. In particular, a slowdown in
information technology spending or economic coodii generally can reduce the conversion rate iticpéar periods as purchasing decisions
are delayed, reduced in amount or cancelled. Theersion rate can also be affected by the tendehsgme of our customers to wait until the
end of a fiscal period in the hope of obtaining enfavorable terms. In addition, we have limitedengnce regarding how the PeopleSoft
pipeline will convert into actual sales. Becausibstantial portion of our software license revecmmstracts are completed in the latter part
quarter, and our cost structure is largely fixethia short term, revenue shortfalls tend to haslsroportionately negative impact on our
profitability. A delay in even a small number ofda software license transactions could cause wanteyly results to fall significantly short of
our predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and servicesRapid technological advances and evolving statedi@r computer hardware, software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and indnggy sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the enterprise softwareetrin which we compete. If we are unable to tgveew products and services, or to
enhance and improve our products and support ssrifca timely manner or to position and/or prioe roducts and services to meet market
demand, customers may not buy new software licemsemnew software license updates and productastidp addition, standards for netw:
protocols, as well as other industry adopted anfhd® standards for the internet, are rapidly @wgl. We cannot provide any assurance that
the standards on which we choose to develop nedupts will allow us to compete effectively for buegs opportunities in emerging areas.

Following the PeopleSoft acquisition, we announieegject Fusion, a next generation platform plarieetbmbine the best features, flows and
usability traits of the Oracle and PeopleSoft aggtlons. If we do not develop and release Projastdh products within the anticipated time
frames or if there is a delay in market acceptaridhe combined product line, our applications hass may be adversely affected.
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There are specific risks remaining from the acquish and integration of PeopleSoft.We completed the acquisition of PeopleSoft inuday
2005 and have substantially integrated PeopleSoftssness operations into our global business tipesas of June 2005. Despite this
progress, we are still in the process of completirgintegration and continue to face several irsgon-related risks, including:

. we may have higher than anticipated costs in caim@qsupport and development of acquired PeoplgBottucts

. we may not realize the anticipated increase inrewenues if a larger than predicted number of Resxft customers decline to
renew software license updates and product suf

. we may disrupt PeopleS’s indirect sales channel network as a result ghalgy our business practice

. our operations could be disrupted if we fail to qukgtely retain and motivate the combined employeseb

. until we combine the PeopleSoft and Oracle apptioatwe will have multiple and overlapping prodlices that may be offere
priced and supported differently, which could cacsstomer confusion and dela

. we may lose anticipated tax benefits or have amfthfilegal or tax exposures if we have prematuseiynproperly combined local
entities;

. goodwill may become impaired and we may incur niateharges relating to that impairment; and

. there may be other unknown liabilities associatéti WeopleSo’s acquisition and integration of J.D. Edwards amdazquisitior

and integration of PeopleSo

PeopleSof's Customer Assurance Program may expose us to tuti&l liabilities if triggered. In June 2003, in response to our tender offer,
PeopleSoft implemented what it referred to as thustomer assurance program” or “CAP”. The CAP ipooaited a provision in PeopleSoft's
standard licensing arrangement that purports teractually burden Oracle, as a result of its adtjois of PeopleSoft, with a contingent
obligation to make payments to PeopleSoft customtersiid Oracle fail to take certain business astion a fixed period of time subsequent to
the acquisition. The payment obligation is fixedaatamount generally between two and five timeditdemse and first year support fees paid to
PeopleSoft in the applicable license transactidms purported obligation was not reflected as hiliix on PeopleSoft’'s balance sheet as
PeopleSoft concluded that it could be triggereq dollowing the consummation of an acquisition. ple&oft used six different standard
versions of the CAP over the 18-month period coneimgndune 2003. PeopleSoft ceased using the CARecamber 29, 2004, the date on
which we acquired our controlling interest in P&guft. We have concluded that, as of the dateec&tiguisition, the penalty provisions under
the CAP represent a contingent liability of Oradlbe aggregate potential CAP obligation as of MayZD05 was $3.5 billion. We have not
recorded a liability related to the CAP, as we dbbelieve it is probable that our post-acquisitmtivities related to the PeopleSoft product
line will trigger an obligation to make any paymeutsuant to the CAP.

In addition, while no assurance can be given akeailtimate outcome of litigation, we believe weuld also have substantial defenses with
respect to the legality and enforceability of th&RCcontract provisions in response to any clainekisg payment from Oracle under the CAP
terms. While we have taken extensive steps to assistomers that we intend to continue developimysaipporting the PeopleSoft line of
products, we cannot assure you that PeopleSofmess will not assert claims for CAP payments.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may notlisathe financial and strategic goals that wererdemplated at the time of ar
transaction. An active acquisition program is an importantedat of our corporate strategy, and we expect mbirmoe to acquire companies,
products, services and technologies. Risks we meguater in acquisitions include:

. the acquisition may not further our business sfygter we may pay more than it is worth;
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. we may have difficulty incorporating the acquiredhnologies or products with our existing produgtd and maintaining unifor
standards, controls, procedures and polic

. our relationship with current and new employeestamers and distributors could be impaired;

. our due diligence process may fail to identify teichl problems, such as issues with the com’s product quality or produ
architecture

. we may face contingencies related to product lgbintellectual property, financial disclosuresdsaccounting practices or internal
controls;

. the acquisition may result in litigation from temated employees or third parties;

. our ongoing business may be disrupted and our neaneg’s attention may be diverted by transition or inéigin issues; an

. we may be unable to obtain timely approvals fromegpmental authorities under competition and argtttaws.

These factors could have a material adverse effecur business, results of operations, finan@abdion or cash flows, particularly in the
case of a larger acquisition or number of acquoisgi

While we have generally paid for acquisitions isltao the extent that we issue equity securitiennection with future acquisitions, exist
stockholders may be diluted and earnings per shasedecrease.

We may need to change our pricing models to competecessfully. The intensely competitive markets in which we pete can put presst
on us to reduce our prices. If our competitorsrofieep discounts on certain products, we may neéxiver prices or offer other favorable
terms in order to compete successfully. Any suanges would be likely to reduce margins and codigesely affect operating results. Our
software license updates and product support feegemerally priced as a percentage of our newmdiedees. Our competitors may offer a
lower percentage pricing on product updates angatpwhich could put pressure on us to furthecaist our new license prices. Any
broadly-based changes to our prices and pricinigipslcould cause new software license and serv@esiues to decline or be delayed as our
sales force implements and our customers adjubletoew pricing policies. Some of our competitoyrbundle software products for
promotional purposes or as a long-term pricingteghaor provide guarantees of prices and produptédmentations. These practices could,
over time, significantly constrain the prices that can charge for our products. In addition, ifdeenot adapt our pricing models to reflect
changes in customer use of our products, our néwaee license revenues could decrease. Additignaltreased distribution of applications
through application service providers may redueeaterage price for our products or adversely tfitieer sales of our products, reducing |
software license revenues unless we can offses peiductions with volume increases or lower spandin

We may be unable to compete effectively in a ranfenarkets within the highly competitive softwanedustry. Many vendors develop and
market databases, internet application server ptsdapplication development tools, business agiitins, collaboration products and business
intelligence products that compete with our offgenin addition, several companies offer businegsaurcing as a competitive alternative to
buying software. Some of these competitors havatgrdinancial or technical resources than we dsofour competitors who offer business
applications and application server products mélyémce a customer’s purchasing decision for thgedying database in an effort to persuade
potential customers not to acquire our products.cdléd lose market share if our competitors inteelnew competitive products, add new
functionality, acquire competitive products, redpciees or form strategic alliances with other camips. We may also face increasing
competition from open source software initiativiesyvhich competitors may provide software and iethlal property free. Existing or new
competitors could gain market share in any of oarkats at our expense.

Our periodic sales force restructurings can be digtive. We continue to rely heavily on our direct salexé. We have in the past
restructured or made other adjustments to our $afles in response to management changes, prodanges, performance issues and other
internal considerations. We recently made somesadjents to focus our sales force separately omlaabase management software or
applications software products and to simplify oaverage model. Also, in conjunction with the inmtggpn of PeopleSoft we are
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modifying our applications coverage model and safebconsulting management. In addition, we hagenty made some adjustments to our
consulting sales force organization in North Amarilm the past, sales force restructurings havergdiy resulted in a temporary lack of focus
and reduced productivity; these effects could rétuwonnection with future restructurings and ewanues could be negatively affected.

Disruptions of our indirect sales channel could &t our future operating results Our indirect channel network is comprised prinyaof
resellers, system integrators/implementers, coastdf education providers, internet service pragideetwork integrators and independent
software vendors. Our relationships with these nkbaparticipants are important elements of our ratinlg and sales efforts. Our financial
results could be adversely affected if our congradth channel participants were terminated, if @lationships with channel participants were
to deteriorate, if any of our competitors enteoistrategic relationships with or acquire a siguaifit channel participant or if the financial
condition of our channel participants were to weakéhere can be no assurance that we will be ssftdeés maintaining, expanding or
developing our relationships with channel partioigalf we are not successful, we may lose salpsmpnities, customers and market share.

Charges to earnings resulting from past acquisit®may adversely affect our operating resultéJnder purchase accounting, we allocate the
total purchase price to an acquired company’sargjible assets, amortizable intangible assetsraptbicess research and development based
on their fair values as of the date of the acqoisiand record the excess of the purchase pricetbuse fair values as goodwill. Management’s
estimates of fair value are based upon assumpbieliesved to be reasonable but which are inheremtertain. Going forward, the following
factors could result in material charges that wadsdersely affect our results:

. impairment of goodwill;
. charges for the amortization of identifiable intdolg assets and for stc-based compensatio
. accrual of newly identified pre-merger contingeabilities, in which case the related charge cdwddequired to be included in

earnings in the period in which the accrual is deieed to the extent it is identified subsequerth®finalization of the purchase
price allocation; an

. charges to income to eliminate certain Oraclerpegger activities that duplicate those of the aeglicompany or to reduce our ¢
structure

We expect to continue to incur additional cost®eisted with combining the operations of our prergiy acquired companies, principa
PeopleSoft, which may be substantial. Additionatsanay include costs of employee redeploymerdcation and retention, including salary
increases or bonuses, accelerated amortizatioafefréd equity compensation and severance paynrentgjanization of closure of facilities,
relocation and disposition of excess equipmenttanmdination of contracts that provide redundantanflicting services. Some of these costs
may have to be accounted for as expenses that wleglgase our net income and earnings per shatteefg@eriods in which those adjustments
are made.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ouremating results. We derive a substantial
portion of our revenues, and have significant ofj@na, outside of the United States. Our intermatimperations include software
development, sales, customer support and sharethigthative service centers, and we plan to exghede international operations, including
in China and India. We are subject to a varietyisKs, including those related to general econaninditions in each country or region,
political unrest, terrorism and the potential fther hostilities, particularly in areas in which wave facilities. We face difficulty in managing
an organization operating in various countries,clvldan entail longer payment cycles and difficsliie collecting accounts receivable,
overlapping tax regimes, fluctuations in currenggh@ange rates, difficulties in transferring fundsnh certain countries and reduced protection
for intellectual property rights in some countriége must comply with a variety of international kand regulations, including trade
restrictions, local labor ordinances, changestrifff tates and import and export licensing requiests. Our success depends, in part, on our
ability to anticipate these risks and manage thig§eulties.
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We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&/e conduct a portion of our business in currenoither than the United States dollar.
Our revenues and operating results are adversielgtafl when the dollar strengthens relative torotherencies and are positively affected
when the dollar weakens. Changes in the value gdmh@reign currencies, particularly the Euro, Jagse Yen and British Pound relative to the
United States dollar positively affected revenusd aperating results in fiscal 2005 and 2004, attgei dollar strengthens relative to other
currencies in the future, our revenues and opeyaéaults will be adversely affected.

Our foreign currency transaction gains and logsesyarily related to sublicense fees and otherements among us and our subsidiaries and
distributors, are charged against earnings in &meg incurred. We enter into foreign exchange mdvcontracts to hedge certain transaction
and translation exposures in major currenciesyauvill continue to experience foreign currencyngaand losses in certain instances where it
is not possible or cost effective to hedge foraigrrencies.

Oracle On Demand may not be successfulVe offer outsourcing services for our productstigh three core offerings: Oracle E-Business
Suite On Demand, Oracle Collaboration Suite On Dedrend Oracle Technology On Demand, delivered e&h®racle or at a customer
designated location. We have also announced thaitered to extend Oracle On Demand offerings toRewpleSoft products. Our Oracle On
Demand business model is rapidly evolving and weg nwd be able to compete effectively or generajaiicant revenues. This business is
subject to a variety of risks including:

. demand for these services may not meet our exp&ETss
. we may not be able to operate this business at@eptable profit level;
. we manage critical customer applications, dataathdr confidential information through Oracle Onnitend and thus would fa

increased exposure to significant damage claintisarevent of system failures or inadequate disast@very or misappropriation
of customer confidential informatio

. we may face regulatory exposure in certain areels as data privacy, data security and export canpé, as well as workfort
reduction claims as a result of customers tranisfgtheir information technology functions to |
. the laws and regulations applicable to hosted semioviders are unsettled, particularly in theaaref privacy and security and use

of offshore resources; changes in these laws aftedt our ability to provide services from or tnse locations and could increase
both the cost and risk associated with providirgggérvices; an

. our demand offerings may require large fixed ceath as for data centers, computers, network imiretsire and security.

We may be unable to hire enough qualified employeesve may lose key employeedVe rely on the continued service of our senior
management and other key employees and the hifingve qualified employees. In the software industingre is substantial and continuous
competition for highly skilled business, producvel®pment, technical and other personnel. We mag®ance increased compensation costs
that are not offset by either improved productiatyhigher prices. We may not be successful inuigng new personnel and in retaining and
motivating existing personnel. With rare exceptiome do not have long-term employment or non-coitipetagreements with our employees.
Members of our senior management team have leftl©cver the years for a variety of reasons, andavmot assure you that there will not
additional departures, which may be disruptiveuoaperations.

Part of our total compensation program includeskstptions. If our stock price performs poorly iaynadversely affect our ability to retain or
attract key employees. In addition, because webheiliequired to treat all stock-based compensatscan expense beginning in fiscal 2007, we
may change both our cash and stock-based compemgatictices. Some of the changes we are consigerihave already implemented
include the reduction in the number of employeestgd options, a reduction in the number of optgmasted, the reduction of benefits under
the employee stock purchase plan and a changeetoative forms of stock-based compensation. Arangles in our compensation practices or
changes made by competitors could affect our gliditretain and motivate existing personnel anduieoew personnel.
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We might experience significant errors or securitaws in our products and servicesDespite testing prior to their release, softwan@ducts
frequently contain errors or security flaws, esplgiwhen first introduced or when new versions i@leased. Errors in our software products
could affect the ability of our products to worktkwvbther hardware or software products, could diHaydevelopment or release of new
products or new versions of products and could e affect market acceptance of our productaelfexperience errors or delays in relea
new products or new versions of products, we ctadd revenues. In addition, we run our own busiogesations, Oracle On Demand, and
other outsourcing, support and consulting servioesgur products and networks and any securitydJafxexploited, could affect our ability to
conduct business operations. End users, who reguoproducts and services for applications thatcaitical to their businesses, may have a
greater sensitivity to product errors and secwitinerabilities than customers for software produggnerally. Software product errors and
security flaws in our products or services couldase us to product liability, performance and/orramty claims as well as harm our
reputation, which could impact our future salepmiducts and services. The detection and correofi@my security flaws can be time
consuming and costly.

We may not receive significant revenues from our@nt research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at all. Developing and
localizing software is expensive and the investnieproduct development often involves a long pakbeycle. In fiscal 2005, our research
development expenses were $1.5 billion, or 13%uoftotal revenues. Our plans for fiscal 2006 inelgifnificant investments in software
research and development and related product apptes. Accelerated product introductions and shovduct life cycles require high levels

of expenditures for research and development thatiadversely affect our operating results if off¢et by revenue increases. We believe that
we must continue to dedicate a significant amofinésources to our research and development efimrtsaintain our competitive position.
However, we do not expect to receive significameraies from these investments for several yeatsali.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesfy. We rely on a combination of copyright, paterdade secrets, confidentiality
procedures and contractual commitments to protecpmprietary information. Despite our effortsesle measures can only provide limited
protection. Unauthorized third parties may try ¢y or reverse engineer portions of our productstioerwise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidat&cumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinfuture patent applications, whethe
not being currently challenged, may not be issuitk thie scope of the claims we seek, if at alladidition, the laws of some countries do not
provide the same level of protection of our projanig rights as do the laws of the United Statewdfcannot protect our proprietary technology
against unauthorized copying or use, we may noaieicompetitive.

Third parties may claim we infringe their intelleatl property rights. We periodically receive notices from others claigwe are infringing
their patent or other intellectual property rightge expect the number of such claims will increas¢éhe number of products and competito
our industry segments grows, the functionality mfducts overlap, and the volume of issued softwatents and patent applications continues
to increase. Responding to any infringement claggardless of its validity, could:

. be time-consuming, costly and/or result in litigatj

. divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

. require us to pay monetary damages or enter iy@altsoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find acceptable;
. require us to stop selling or to redesign certdiou products; o

. require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers.

If a successful claim is made against us and wedaievelop or license a substitute technology,business, results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows could be adversely affecfegatent infringement case, which has reachedrtbigon stage, is discussed in Note 22 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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Our sales to government clients subject us to rigkduding early termination, audits and investigains. We derive a substantial portion of
our revenues from contracts with the United Stgtagernment, state and local governments and tegprective agencies, who may terminate
most of these contracts at any time, without cause.

There is increased pressure for governments amdatipencies, both domestically and internationathyeduce spending. Our federal
government contracts are subject to the approvappfopriations being made by the United Stategy@&ss to fund the expenditures under
these contracts.

Additionally, government contracts are generalljeat to audits and investigations which could Keisuvarious civil and criminal penalties
and administrative sanctions, including terminatidicontracts, refund of a portion of fees recejMedeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspensions or debarment framefgovernment business. If we were assessefdeamajties or sanctions, our business
operating results could be adversely affected.

Business disruptions could affect our operating téts. A significant portion of our research and devebent activities and certain other
critical business operations are concentratedf@wageographic areas. We are a highly automatexhéss and a disruption or failure of our
systems could cause delays in completing salepanviding services, including Oracle On Demand. &jon earthquake, fire or other
catastrophic event that results in the destruaiodisruption of any of our critical business dioimmation technology systems could severely
affect our ability to conduct normal business ofiers and as a result our future operating resaltdd be materially and adversely affected.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitiesAs a multinational corporation, we are subjedhttome taxes as well as nércome base
taxes, in both the United States and various fargigsdictions. Significant judgment is requireddetermining our worldwide provision for
income taxes and other tax liabilities.

In the ordinary course of a global business, theeemany intercompany transactions and calculatidrese the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We are regularly under audit by tax adties. Our intercompany transfer prices are autyebeing reviewed by the IRS and by
foreign tax jurisdictions and will likely be subjgo additional audits in the future. We previousbgotiated two Advance Pricing Agreements
with the IRS that cover many of our intercomparmnsfer prices and preclude the IRS from makinguastier pricing adjustment within the
scope of these agreements. The agreements, hovaesemly effective for fiscal years through May 3001, do not cover all elements of our
transfer pricing and do not bind tax authoritietsale the United States. We are currently negatigilateral and unilateral Advance Pricing
Agreements to cover periods beyond June 1, 2001.

Although we believe that our tax estimates areaealsle, we cannot assure you that the final detextioin of tax audits or tax disputes will not
be different from what is reflected in our histalicncome tax provisions and accruals.

We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchyaslpaales, use, value-added, net worth, propenty goods and services taxes, in both the
United States and various foreign jurisdictions. &e regularly under audit by tax authorities wihpect to these non-income taxes and may
have exposure to additional non-income tax ligibait

Our stock price could become more volatile and yanwvestment could lose valueAll of the factors discussed in this section cbaffect our
stock price. The timing of announcements in thelipubarket regarding new products, product enhamegsor technological advances by our
competitors or us, and any announcements by usquiigitions, major transactions, or management@esucould also affect our stock price.
Our stock price is subject to speculation in thesprand the analyst community, changes in recomatiend or earnings estimates by financial
analysts, changes in investors’ or analysts’ vadnaneasures for our stock, and market trends ate@lto our performance. A significant drop
in our stock price could also expose us to theofskecurities class actions lawsuits, which caakllt in substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which calvdraely affect our business.

49



Table of Contents

Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk Based on our intentions regarding our invests)eme classify our investments as either -to-maturity or availabl-for-
sale. Held-to-maturity investments are reportedhenbalance sheet at amortized cost. Availablesébe-securities are reported at market value.
Auction rate securities, which are classified agilable-for-sale, are reported on the balance shtgedr value, which equals market value, as
the rate on such securities re-sets generally evémy28 days. As a majority of our investmentsteagkel-tomaturity, interest rate movements

not affect the balance sheet valuation of the fix@dme investments. Changes in the overall lef/giterest rates affect our interest income
that is generated from our investments. For fi2€d5, total interest income was $184.6 million withestments yielding an average 1.93% on
a worldwide basis. This interest rate level waspproximately 47 basis points from 1.46% in fis2@D4. If overall interest rates fell by a
similar amount (47 basis points) in fiscal 2006, imtierest income would decline approximately $48iflion, assuming consistent investment
levels.

Table of Investment Securities:

The table below presents the cash, cash equivatehiarketable securities balances, related welghterage interest rates and maturities for
our investment portfolio at May 31, 2005. The castsh equivalent and marketable securities balamm®ximate fair value at May 31, 2005:

Amortized Weighted Average
Principal
(Dollars in millions) Amount Interest Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 3,89 2.32%
Marketable securities (within 1 yee 90¢ 0.77%
Marketable securities -2 years; 12 3.53%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable s $ 4,81¢ 2.03%

The table above includes the United States dofjaivalent of cash, cash equivalents and marketsaiarities, a portion of which is
denominated in foreign currencies as shown bel@g.@scussion of our foreign currency risk belowdalescription of how we hedge net
assets of certain international subsidiaries froreifin currency exposure.

Amortized

Principal

Amount at
(in millions) May 31, 2005
Japanese Ye $ 807
Euro 41¢€
UK Pound 214
Chinese Renmint 18¢
Canadian Dolla 18C
Australian Dollar 94
South African Rani 88
Other currencie 861
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 2,84

Interest Expense Rate Ris  On April 7, 2005, we introduced a commercigbgraprogram with an authorized maximum outstandimgunt
of $3 billion. As of May 31, 2005, $2.0 billion ebmmercial paper remained outstanding (effectivighted-average interest rate of 3.13%). A
1/2% change in interest rates would increase aredse interest expense by $10.0 million annually.
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On May 20, 2005, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ogdabrrowed $700 million under an unsecured 364telay loan agreement (OTC Loan
Facility). Borrowings under the OTC Loan Facilitgdy interest at a rate per annum equal to a ratdban the London interbank offered rate
from time to time plus a margin, which fluctuatesed upon the ratings assigned from time to timklbgdy’s Investors Service, Inc. and
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services to our senigeaared long-term debt. As of May 31, 2005, theai¥e interest rate on our OTC Loan
Facility was 3.53%. A 1/2% change in interest ratesld increase or decrease interest expense Bydilion annually.

We have $150 million in 6.91% senior notes dueehriary 2007. In February 2002, we entered intmeanest-rate swap agreement that has
the economic effect of modifying the interest oltigns associated with these senior notes soltedhterest payable on the senior notes
effectively becomes variable based on the threemioBOR set quarterly until maturity. The notiorehount of the interest rate swap and the
termination date match the principal amounts anturitg date of the outstanding senior notes. Otearigst rate swap reduced the effective
interest rate on our 6.91% senior notes to 5.23% &ay 31, 2005. The fair value of the intereserswap was $3.1 million at May 31, 2005
and is included in other assets in the accompargongolidated balance sheets.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk. We transact business in various foreign currenaiel have established a program that primarilizesi
foreign currency forward contracts to offset thekrassociated with the effects of certain foreigrrency exposures. Under this program,
increases or decreases in our foreign currencysexpe are offset by gains or losses on the foreamntracts, to mitigate the possibility of
foreign currency transaction gains or losses. Thaségn currency exposures typically arise froneinompany sublicense fees and other
intercompany transactions. Our forward contractegaly have terms of 90 days or less. We do netfoisvard contracts for trading purposes.
All outstanding foreign currency forward contraggcluding our Yen equity hedge described below)raarked to market at the end of the
period with unrealized gains and losses includetbim-operating income, net. Our ultimate realizaih@r loss with respect to currency
fluctuations will depend on the currency excharajes and other factors in effect as the contraatsima. Net foreign exchange transaction
losses included in non-operating income, net inait@mpanying consolidated statements of operatiene $27.2 million, $20.9 million and
$1.0 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respty. The fair values of foreign currency forwardntracts were not individually significant
and approximated $0.2 million and $(0.7) millionadidMay 31, 2005 and 2004. These amounts are iedurd other assets in the accompan
consolidated balance sheets.

The table below presents the notional amountsogatract exchange rates) and the weighted averageactual foreign currency exchange r:
for the outstanding forward contracts as of MayZ&1)5. Notional weighted average exchange ratequaoted using market conventions where
the currency is expressed in currency units petddristates dollar. All of our forward contracts aratin 30 days or less as of May 31, 2005.
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Table of Forward Contracts:
United States Dollar Foreign Exchange Contrac

(Dollars in millions)

Functional Currency:
Australian Dollar
Chinese Renmint
Columbian Pes
Euro
Indian Rupet
Israeli Sheke
Japanese Ye
Korean Wor
New Zealand Dolla
Philippine Pes:
Saudi Arabian Riys
Singapore Dolla
Swedish Krong
South African Rani
Taiwan Dollar
Thai Baht

Total

Euro Foreign Exchange Contract

(Euros in millions)

Functional Currency:
Swiss Fran
Danish Krone
British Pounc
Israeli Sheke
Norwegian Krone
Swedish Krong
United States Dollz
South African Rani

Total

Exchange
Foreign Currency
for U.S. Dollars
(Notional Amount)

$ 9.1
122.¢
2.9
25
52.¢
15.2
727
20.5
5.6
17.c
29.2
2.5
15
4.C
6.C
5.9

$ 392.¢

Exchange
Foreign Currency
Euros
(Notional Amount)

€ 8.2
3.1
38.t
3.4
3.6
6.C
2.4
10.4

€ 75.€

Exchange
U.S. Dollars for
Foreign Currency
(Notional Amount)

Exchange
Euros for
Foreign Currency
(Notional Amount)

Notional
Weighted Average
Exchange Rate

0.7¢
8.2¢
2345.0(
1.2¢
43.67
4.4(C
107.9(
1003.0(
0.71
54.5
3.7¢
1.6¢
7.34
6.6
31.3¢
40.37

Notional
Weighted Average
Exchange Rate

1.5¢
7.44
0.6¢
5.51
7.9¢
9.2C
1.2¢
8.3z

Net Investment Risk Periodically, we hedge the net assets of ceidmnational subsidiaries (net investment hedgss)g foreign currenc
forward contracts to offset the translation andnecoic exposures related to our investments in teabsidiaries. We measure the
ineffectiveness of net investment hedges by usiagchanges in spot exchange rates because thiedetiiects our risk management

strategies, the economics of those strategiesrifirancial statements and better manages intemgsdifferentials between different countries.

Under this method, the change in fair value offtrevard contract attributable to the changes irnt ggehange rates (the effective portion) is
reported in stockholders’ equity to offset the slation results on the net investments. The remgiohange in fair value of the forward
contract (the ineffective portion) is recognizedhom-operating income, net.
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Net losses on investment hedges reported in stédéty equity were $23.1 million, $38.4 million and $Z4million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Net gains on investment hedggsrted in non-operating income, net were $13Ibanj $7.5 million and $8.9 million in
fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

At May 31, 2005, we had one net investment hedgaanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimizesrey risk arising from net assets
held in Yen as a result of equity capital raisedrdyuthe initial public offering and secondary offey of Oracle Japan. The fair value of our®
investment hedge was $0.5 million and $1.4 milksnof May 31, 2005 and 2004. The Yen investmengé&dis a notional amount of $615.5
million and an exchange rate of 107.23 Yen for Eahitates dollar.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Form 10-K. See Item 15.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 1-K, we carried out an evaluation under the supeisind with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and o@nagement, including the Chief Executive Officed #ime Interim Chief Financial Officer,

of the effectiveness of the design and operatioouofdisclosure controls and procedures pursuaBkttange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
(e). Disclosure controls are procedures that asegded to ensure that information required to Iseldsed in our reports filed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange #Axh as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is réed, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by tl&CSDisclosure controls are also designed to ertbiatesuch information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chiefcutive Officer and Interim Chief Financial @#r, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our gqugréxaluation of disclosure controls includes &aleation of some components of our
internal control over financial reporting. We alserform a separate annual evaluation of internatrobover financial reporting for the purpc

of providing the management report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls includagview of their objectives and design, the Comgpmimplementation of the controls and
effect of the controls on the information generdtaduse in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In ttreirse of the controls evaluation, we
reviewed data errors or control problems identified sought to confirm that appropriate correcéiggons, including process improvements,
were being undertaken. This type of evaluatioreidggmed on a quarterly basis so that the conahgsod management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial O#i; concerning the effectiveness of the disclosorgrols can be reported in our periodic
reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the ponents of our disclosure controls are also evatlah an ongoing basis by both our
internal audit and finance organizations. The oVgcals of these various evaluation activities @renonitor our disclosure controls and to
modify them as necessary. We intend to maintairdibeosure controls as dynamic systems that wesadp circumstances merit.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executivec®ffand Interim Chief Financial Officer concluddst our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of theogexrovered by this report.
Managemen’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrig

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Underdupervision and with the participation of oumagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial
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Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtiess of our internal control over financial repaytas of May 31, 2005 based on the
guidelines established Internal Control — Integrated Framewoiésued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (COSO). We have excluded from our ev@nadhe internal control over financial reportiofPeopleSoft, Inc., which we acqui

on December 29, 2004. As of and for the period fia@ecember 29, 2004 through May 31, 2005, totaltassed total revenues subject to
PeopleSoft, Inc.’s internal control over finanaieporting represented 7% and 6% of the Companyisaalated total assets and total revenues
as of and for the fiscal year ended May 31, 200%. i@ternal control over financial reporting inckalpolicies and procedures that provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaifcial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptimgiples.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finahmeporting was effective as of May 31,
2005. We reviewed the results of management’s sissad with our Finance and Audit Committee.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness ohtmrnal control over financial reporting as of W2, 2005 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrftrm, as stated in their report which is inahadin Part 1V, Iltem 15 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportmn

There were no changes in our internal control diwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that was cdeduturing the last fiscal quarter that have maligraffected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaacreporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

The Compan’s management, including our Chief Executive Offiged Interim Chief Financial Officer, do not exp#wt our disclosur

controls or our internal control over financial ogfing will prevent all errors and all fraud. A daol system, no matter how well conceived and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absasteirance that the objectives of the controksystre met. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are regotmastraints, and the benefits of controls mustdmesidered relative to their costs. Because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems,evaluation of controls can provide absolute asmedhat all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detkcidese inherent limitations include the realitlest judgments in decision-making can be
faulty, and that breakdowns can occur becauseshple error or mistake. Additionally, controls da circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more peopleyamanagement override of the controls. The desigmy system of controls also is based
in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihof future events, and there can be no assuthatany design will succeed in achieving
stated goals under all potential future conditiangr time, controls may become inadequate beaafusganges in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may detatmrBecause of the inherent limitations in a effgetive control system, misstatements

to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Iltem 9B.  Other Information
None
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PART IlI

ltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registran

The information required by this Item with respercthe directors and compliance with Section 16{ahe Securities and Exchange Act is
incorporated by reference from the information jided under the headings “Board of Directors” andct®n 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” respectively, containedim Broxy Statement to be filed with the Securitied Exchange Commission in connection
with the solicitation of proxies for our Annual Me® of Stockholders to be held on October 10, 2005

The information required by this Item with respecbur executive officers is contained in Item 1Pairt | of this Annual Report under the
heading “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

The information required by this Item with respecbur audit committee members and our audit cotemitinancial experts is incorporated
herein by reference from the information providedier the heading “The Finance and Audit Committefelur Proxy Statement.

The information required by this Item with respecbur code of business ethics is incorporatedihdnereference from the information
provided under the heading “Statement on Corpdeateernance—Employee Matters” of our Proxy Statement

The information required by this Item with respgcmaterial changes to the procedures by whickstmakholders may recommend nominees
to our Board of Directors is incorporated hereirréference from the information provided underhkading “The Nomination and
Governance Committee” of our Proxy Statement.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is incorp@by reference from the information provided untierheading “Executive Compensation”
of our Proxy Statement. The information specifiedtém 402 (k) and (I) of Regulation S-K and setHdn our Proxy Statement is not
incorporated herein by reference.
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ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:
Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

May 31, 2005
Number of
Shares to be Issued Weighted-Average Number of Shares
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Remaining Available for
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options
Future Issuance Under
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Equity Compensation
Plans®
Equity compensation plans approved
stockholder: 407,919,93 $ 11.8¢ 528,187,76 @
Equity compensation plans not approvec
stockholder$? 6,75(C $ 1.2¢ —
Equity compensation plans not approvec
stockholders® 61,047,28 $ 12.4( —
Total 468,973,96 528,187,76

@ These numbers exclude the shares listed undeothmn headin¢Number of Shares to be Issued Upon Exercise oft@nding Options
Warrants and Right”

@ This number includes 92,041,541 shares availablufare issuance under the Oracle Corporation Bygs Stock Purchase Plan (1992).
3 These options were assumed in connection with twaiaitions in fiscal 1997 and 1998. No additioaaiards were or can be granted under
the plans that originally issued these optic

@ These options were assumed in connection with gopleéSoft acquisition in fiscal 2005. No additioaalards were or can be granted ur
the plans that originally issued these optic

Information required by this Iltem with respect toc& Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Bigement is incorporated herein by
reference from the information provided under teading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @rs and Management” of our Proxy
Statement.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transaction:

The information required by this Item is incorp@herein by reference from the information prodidader the headirRelated Part
Transactions” of our Proxy Statement.

ltem 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is incorp@herein by reference from the information prodideder the headir”Ratification of
Selection of Independent Registered Public Accognfiiirm” of our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(8)1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?eblic Accounting Firn
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2005 and -
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag@15, 2004 and 20(
Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended May 31, 2005, 2004 0GB,
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag®15, 2004 and 20(
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

(a)2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is filsla part of this report:

Il Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

Page

6C

62
63
64
65
66

Page

10z

All other schedules are omitted because they dareeqaired or the required information is showithia financial statements or notes ther

b Exhibits
EI'r?e following exhibits are filed herewith or arearporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieith the SEC.
Exhibit
Number
Exhibit Title
2.01w Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 12 26tong Oracle Corporation, Pepper Acquisition Cargl
PeopleSoft, Inc
3.01@ Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed witletbelaware Secretary of State on January 11,
3.0z Oracle Bylaws, as adopted on October 30, 1986aamehdments dated January 13, 1989 and Decemb@9(
3.043 (zioeét(i)ficate of Amendment of Restated Certificatéraforporation filed with the Delaware SecretarySoéte on June 5,
3.0t Certificate of Designations, Series B Preferreccsttated as of April 25, 20C
4.016) I1n9d9e7nture between Oracle Corporation and StateSBank and Trust Company of California, N.A., dafebruary 24,
4.020 Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rlammended and restated as of November 15,
4.0am) Amended and Restated Preferred Shares Rights Agreedated as of March 31, 19
4.040 Amendment Number One to the Amended and RestatdfdrRrd Shares Rights Agreement, dated March 29
4.0z Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stoc
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Exhibit
Number

10.0%e)*

10.0%10)*
10.0411)*
10.0fa2)*
10.0¢a3)*
10.0as*
10.0¢&us)*
10.0¢qs)*
10.1(as)*
10.17a5)*

10.1za5)*
10.1%5)*
10.1414*
10.1%ae)*
10.1¢€ae)*
10.1%e)*
10.1&a7)
10.1¢qs)
10.2(9)
10.27a9)
10.2%20)
10.2%2y)
10.2422)*
16.01=3)

21.01
23.01

Exhibit Title

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pla®2)1@&s amended and restated as of March 22,
Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 ire’ Stock Plan, as amended through August 26, :
The 1991 Lon-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through ot 8, 199¢

Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated January 7, 2

Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated June 2, 2

Amended and Restated 2000 L-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as approved on Oct@%e2004

Form of Stock Option Agreements for the 2000 L-Term Equity Incentive Pla

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Oracle Corpanathmended and Restated 1993 Dire¢ Stock Plar

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors gfxiecutive Officers

Letter dated September 15, 2004 confirming severan@ngement contained in Offer Letter dated M&y2D03 tc
Charles E. Phillips, Jr. and employment agreemategdiMay 15, 200

Offer letter dated July 9, 2004 to Harry L. You amdployment agreement dated September 16,

Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 to JuergetidR@ind employment agreement dated Septembel03,
Description of the Fiscal Year 2005 Executive BoRlaen

Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreement for the @r&xecutive Bonus Plan, N-Sales

Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreement for the @r&xecutive Bonus Plan, Sales and Consu
Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rla@mended and restated as of November 14,
364-Day Term Loan Agreement dated December 28, :

$3,000,000,000 3t-Day Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 18, 2

Form of Dealer Agreement for $3,000,000,000 ComiakRaper Prograr

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement dated Marci2@G5

$700,000,000 Facility Agreement dated May 20, 2@@%ween Oracle Technology Company and ABN AMROIBErY.
Guaranty dated May 20, 2005, by Oracle Corpordtorthe benefit of ABN AMRO Bank N.V

Offer letter dated June 20, 2005 to Gregory B. Kiagihd employment agreement dated June 21,

Letter from Ernst & Young LLP dated May 12, 2C
Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdtablic Accounting Firn
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saels-Oxley Act—Lawrence J. Ellisol
31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act—Safra A. Cat:
32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saelk-Oxley Act
* Indicates management contract or compensatorygularrangemer

@  Incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on December 14, 20(

@ Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedlanuary 14, 2000
® Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedfargust 28, 2000
@  Incorporated by reference to Item 10.22 of the F8&-K filed on April 25, 200t

®  Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedJane 24, 2003

©® Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K filed on July 29, 200:

™  Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-A/A filedMarch 31, 1998
® Incorporated by reference to the For-A/A filed on March 22, 199!
© Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedfargust 10, 2001
@) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q filed on December 18, 20(

11 Incorporated by reference to Item 10.11 of the Fb@+Q filed on January 14, 2000

12 Incorporated by reference to Item 10.09 of the Fb€-K filed on August 28, 200
13 Incorporated by reference to Item 10.10 of the Fb@K filed on August 28, 2000
@4 Incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on November 4, 200

@5)  Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedSeptember 17, 2004

@e) Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedatember 22, 2004

an Incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on January 3, 20C
18 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\éerch 22, 2005
@) Incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on March 29, 200

o) Incorporated by reference to Item 10.23 of the F8rkafiled on May 26, 2005

21 Incorporated by reference to Item 10.24 of the F&-K filed on May 26, 200!

22 Incorporated by reference to Item 10.24 of the F8¢khfiled on June 27, 2005

@3) Incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on May 12, 200!
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20@562004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgrsty, and cash flows for each of the three géarthe period ended May 31, 2005. Our
audits also included the financial statement scleclitied in the Index at Item 15(a) 2. These friahstatements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlogUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aHasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@love present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Ora
Corporation at May 31, 2005 and 2004, and the dateged results of its operations and its cash $léar each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. genlkgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumig, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasimcial statements taken as a whole, presenty faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the effectivenes:
Oracle Corporation’s internal control over finadeiporting as of May 31, 2005, based on critesi@llished irinternal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission and our report datee B0, 2005 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLI
San Francisco, Californ
June 30, 2005
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited management’s assessment, incloded accompanying Management’s Report on InteéCoakrol Over Financial Reporting,
that Oracle Corporation maintained effective in&control over financial reporting as of May 3008, based on criteria established in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Oracle Corporation’s management is resfide for maintaining effective internal contrales financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal coatret financial reporting. Our responsibility isggpress an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectivenesg afdmpany’s internal control over financial repartbased on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgv@r financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirg#ign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the ctanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redde basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyesaktepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaipeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Manager's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repaytimanageme’s assessment of a
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal contradr financial reporting did not include the imtak controls of PeopleSoft, Inc., which Oracle
Corporation acquired on December 29, 2004. As dffanthe period from December 29, 2004 through Kay2005, total assets and total
revenues subject to PeopleSoft Inc.’s internal rmbatver financial reporting represented 7% andd%racle Corporation’s consolidated total
assets and total revenue as of and for the fisd gnded May 31, 2005. Our audit of internal adrdver financial reporting of the Company
also did not include an evaluation of the intemitrol over financial reporting of PeopleSoft,.Inc

In our opinion, manageme¢'s assessment that Oracle Corporation maintainedtafé internal control over financial reportingaisMay 31,
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respectsdd on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinionacle Corporation maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of May 31, 2005, based on the CO%€rier.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the 20t
consolidated financial statements of Oracle Coriamaand our report dated June 30, 2005 expregsedi@ualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLI
San Francisco, California
June 30, 2005
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2005 and 2004

(in millions, except per share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalel

Marketable securitie

Trade receivables, net of allowances of $269 argd:

Other receivable

Deferred tax asse

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Non-current assett
Property, ne
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Deferred tax asse
Other asset

Total nor-current asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Shor-term borrowings and current portion of l-term debt
Accounts payabl
Income taxes payab
Accrued compensation and related bent
Accrued restructurin
Deferred revenue
Deferred tax liabilities
Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and lo-term debt, net of current portic
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued restructurin
Deferred revenue
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total nor-current liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n

Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paithpital— authorized: 11,000 shares; outstandirigi5 shares at May 31, 2005 and 5,171

shares at May 31, 20(
Retained earning
Deferred compensatic
Accumulated other comprehensive incc

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

62

May 31,

2005 2004
$ 3,89¢ $ 4,13¢
90¢ 4,44¢
2,57( 2,012
33C 32z
48€ 301
291 114
8,47¢ 11,33¢
1,44z 1,06¢
3,37 39
7,00: 41
32 92

35¢ 187
12,20¢ 1,427
$20,687 $12,76:
I I
$ 2,69: $ 9
23C 191
904 92¢
927 81¢€
15€ —
2,28¢ 1,497
12 21

85€ 80¢
8,06 4,272
15¢ 162
1,01C 59
12C —
12€ 43
37z 231
1,787 49€
6,59¢ 5,45¢
4,04: 2,38:
(45) —
242 15€
10,831 7,99t
$20,687 $12,76¢
I I
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2005 2004
Revenues
New software license $ 4,091 $ 3,541
Software license updates and product sug 5,33( 4,52¢
Software revenue 9,421 8,07(C
Services 2,37¢ 2,08¢
Total revenue 11,79¢ 10,15¢
Operating expense
Sales and marketir 2,511 2,12
Software license updates and product sug 61€ 547
Cost of service 2,03: 1,77(
Research and developme 1,491 1,25¢
General and administratiy 55C 50¢
Amortization of intangible asse 21¢ 36
Acquisition relatec 20¢ 54
Restructuring 147 —
Total operating expens 1,77 6,292
Operating incomi 4,022 3,86¢
Interest expens (135) (21)
Non-operating income, ne
Interest incom: 18t 11¢€
Net investment gains (losses) related to equityrsies 2 29
Other (23 (45
Total nor-operating income, nt 164 10z
Income before provision for income ta» 4,057 3,94t
Provision for income taxe 1,16¢ 1,26¢
Net income $ 2,88¢ $ 2,681
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 0.5¢ $ 0.51
Diluted $ 0.5t $ 0.5C
Weighted average common shares outstant
Basic 5,13¢ 5,21t
Diluted 5,231 5,32¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2003

$3,27(
3,92¢

7,19¢
2,27¢

9,47¢
2,05(C

474
1,86¢
1,15¢

441
43

6,03t
3,44(
(16)

12¢
(112)

5,30z

541¢
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Common Stock and

Additional Paid in Capital Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Comprehensive
Number of Amount Retained Deferred

(in millions) Income Shares Earnings Compensatior Income (Loss) Total
Balances, May 31, 20( 5,431 $ 5,02¢ $ 1,21(C $ — $ (122) $ 6,117
Common stock issued under stock

option plans $ — 48 19z — — — 19z
Common stock issued under stock

purchase pla — 24 164 — — — 164
Repurchase of common sta — 270) (22¢) (2,425 — — (2,659
Settlement of forward contra — — (16€) — — — (16€)
Tax benefits from stock plar — — 11C — — — 11C
Foreign currency translatic 25€ — — — — 25€ 25€
Net equity hedge loss, net of tax

$(11) (33 — — — — (33 (33
Unrealized gain on equity securities,

net of tax of $1! 2€ — — — — 26 26
Net income 2,307 — — 2,307 — — 2,307
Comprehensive incor $ 2,55¢€
Balances, May 31, 20(C 5,23: 5,101 1,092 — 127 6,32(
Common stock issued under stock

option plans $ — 38 19C — — — 19C
Common stock issued under stock

purchase pla — 18 164 — — — 164
Repurchase of common sta — (11¢) (109) (1,390 — — (1,499
Tax benefits from stock plat — — 11C — — — 11C
Foreign currency translatic 7t — — — — 75 75
Net equity hedge loss, net of tax

$(15) (23 — — — — (23 (23
Reversal of unrealized gain on equity

securities, net of tax of $1 (25) — — — — (25 (25)
Unrealized gain on equity securities,

net of tax of $: 2 — — — — 2 2
Net income 2,681 — — 2,681 — — 2,681
Comprehensive incor $ 2,71(
Balances, May 31, 20(C 5,17: 5,45¢ 2,38:¢ — 15€ 7,99¢
Common stock issued under stock

option plans $ — 71 46¢ — — — 46¢
Common stock issued under stock

purchase pla — 17 161 — — — 161

Issuance of stock and assumption of

stock options in connection with

acquisitions — 1 504 — (129) — 381
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation, including forfeitures

of $6 — — (6) — 78 — 72
Repurchase of common sta — (115) (117) (1,226 — — (1,347
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 13C — — — 13C
Minimum benefit plan liability

adjustment: (16) — — — — (16) (16)
Foreign currency translatic 111 — — — — 111 111
Net equity hedge loss, net of tax of $ (14) — — — — (14) (14)
Unrealized gain on equity securities,

net of tax of $Z 6 — — — — 6 6
Net income 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢
Comprehensive incor $ 2,97

I
Balances, May 31, 20( 5,14¢ $ 6,59¢ $ 4,04 $ (45) $ 242 $ 10,831
I I L} I I L}

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $ 2,88¢ $ 2,681 $ 2,300
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 20¢€ 19¢ 243
Amortization of intangible asse 21¢ 36 43
Provision for trade receivable allowanc 197 17z 12¢
Deferred income taxe (66) 58 a0
Minority interests in incom 42 37 33
Amortization of stoc-based compensatic 72 — —
Non-cash restructurin 33 — —
In-process research and developn 46 — —
Net investment (gains) losses related to equityrsises 2 (29) 111
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effecsifacquisitions
(Increase) decrease in trade receiva (88) (245) 11¢
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and abets 164 (30) 82
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and dadbdities (539 25 (93
(Decrease) increase in income taxes pay (18 20C (81
Increase in deferred revent 394 91 68
Net cash provided by operating activit 3,552 3,19¢ 3,05(
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of investmer (7,107 (10,310 (4,713
Proceeds from maturities and sale of investm 12,19 8,00¢ 5,94.
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (10,65¢) (21 (46)
Capital expenditure (18¢) (189 (291)
(Increase) decrease in other as 2 (37) 3
Net cash provided by (used for) investing actigi (5,759 (2,54 89t
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchase of common sl (1,349 (1,499 (2,659
Proceeds from issuance of common st 59¢ 354 35€
Proceeds from borrowing 12,50¢ 6 —
Payments of det (9,830 (150 9
Distributions to minority interes! (449 (31 (27
Settlement of forward contra — — (16€)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing acti 1,88¢ (1,320 (2,487
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casraénts 73 74 17¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (244 (599 1,64:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 4,13¢ 4,731 3,09t
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 3,89 $ 4,13¢ $ 4,73%
Non-cash financing transactior
Fair value of options and stock issued in conneatith acquisitions $ 504 $ — $ —
Supplemental schedule of cash flow di
Cash paid for income tax $ 1,26¢ $ 1,01C $  1,14¢
Cash paid for intere: $ 11¢ $ 23 $ 20

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2005

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We develop, manufacture, market, distribute andiseidatabase and middleware as well as applicagoftware that helps organizations
manage and grow their businesses. Database antemate software is used for developing and depbpyipplications on the internet and on
corporate intranets. Applications software can $eduto automate business processes and to pravéiteebs intelligence. We also offer
software license updates and product support aref services including consulting, advanced prodactices, and education.

Basis of Financial Statemer

The consolidated financial statements include esapants and the accounts of our wh- and majorit-owned subsidiaries. We consolidate

of our majority-owned subsidiaries and reflect mityointerest of the portion of these entities thet do not own in other long-term liabilities
on our consolidated balance sheets. At May 31, 20@52004, the balance of minority interests we89%1 million and $203.0 million,
respectively. Intercompany transactions and bakhege been eliminated. Certain prior year balahegs been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation. Such reclassificationsdt affect total revenues, operating incomeedrincome.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogrmtiinciples (GAAP). These accounti
principles require us to make certain estimatetguents and assumptions. We believe that the @simadgments and assumptions upon
which we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable to us at the time that these estimaidgments and assumptions are made.
These estimates, judgments and assumptions can tiféereported amounts of assets and liabilitiesfahe date of the financial statements as
well as the reported amounts of revenues and egpehging the periods presented. To the extens thier material differences between these
estimates, judgments or assumptions and actudtgesur financial statements will be affectedmany cases, the accounting treatment of a
particular transaction is specifically dictated®}AP and does not require management’s judgmeits epplication. There are also areas in
which management’s judgment in selecting amonglalviai alternatives would not produce a materiaiffecent result.

Revenue Recognitic

We derive revenues from the following sources:s(fjware, which includes new software license afthare license updates and prod
support revenues and (2) services, which inclussualting, advanced product services and educatieenues.

New software license revenues represent all fegeddrom granting customers licenses to use otabdae and middleware technology as
as applications software, and exclude revenueseateéfiom software license updates, which are ireduid software license updates and
product support. While the basis for software |B®Enevenue recognition is substantially governethbyprovisions of Statement of Position
No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognitissued by the American Institute of Certified Palfliccountants, we exercise judgment and use
estimates in connection with the determinatiorhefamount of software and services revenues tedmgnized in each accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not reignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenue when: (1) we enter ifegally binding arrangement with a customer forltbense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixecetgrchinable and free of contingencies or significarcertainties; and (4) collection is
probable. Substantially all of our new softwareltise revenues are recognized in this manner.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2005

The vast majority of our software license arrangetsiéclude software license updates and prodyspat, which are recognized ratably over
the term of the arrangement, typically one yeaftvgoe license updates provide customers with sightunspecified software product
upgrades, maintenance releases and patches rethagsggithe term of the support period. Productpsupincludes internet access to technical
content, as well as internet and telephone acodsshnical support personnel. Software licensetgsdand product support are generally
priced as a percentage of the net new softwaredeéees.

Many of our software arrangements include congylitimplementation services sold separately undeswting engagement contracts.
Consulting revenues from these arrangements aerglgnaccounted for separately from new softwarense revenues because the
arrangements qualify as service transactions ageatkin SOP 972. The more significant factors considered in dateing whether the reveni
should be accounted for separately include thereatiuservices (i.e., consideration of whethergbevices are essential to the functionality of
the licensed product), degree of risk, availabififyservices from other vendors, timing of paymeard impact of milestones or acceptance
criteria on the realizability of the software licenfee. Revenues for consulting services are ginegaognized as the services are performe
there is a significant uncertainty about the prog@mpletion or receipt of payment for the consgtservices, revenue is deferred until the
uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. Contractsiwiiixed or “not to exceed” fees are recognized @naportional performance basis.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewatting of the software license and consultinggeanions, then new software license reve

is generally recognized together with the consglsarvices based on contract accounting usingretteepercentage-of-completion or
completed-contract method. Contract accounting@ied to any arrangements: (1) that include miless or customer specific acceptance
criteria that may affect collection of the softwéicense fees; (2) where services include significaodification or customization of the
software; (3) where significant consulting serviees provided for in the software license contreithout additional charge or are substantially
discounted; or (4) where the software license payrisetied to the performance of consulting sersice

Advanced product services revenues are recognizerdtioe term of the service contract, which is geleone year. Education revenues are
recognized as the classes or other education nffedre delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allecavenue to each element of a transaction baseditgpfair value as determined by
“vendor specific objective evidence.” Vendor spiecifbjective evidence of fair value for all elemenf an arrangement is based upon the
normal pricing and discounting practices for thpeeducts and services when sold separately argbfoware license updates and product
support services, is additionally measured by émewal rate offered to the customer.

We defer revenue for any undelivered elements reoagnize revenue when the product is deliverealer the period in which the service is
performed, in accordance with our revenue recagmipiolicy for such element. If we cannot objectyvéétermine the fair value of any
undelivered element included in bundled software service arrangements, we defer revenue unélathents are delivered and services have
been performed, or until fair value can objectivieéydetermined for any remaining undelivered elémaithen the fair value of a delivered
element has not been established, we use the absithod to record revenue if the fair value btiabelivered elements is determinable.
Under the residual method, the fair value of th@alivered elements is deferred and the remainimtigooof the arrangement fee is allocated to
the delivered elements and is recognized as revenue

Our software license arrangements generally danchide acceptance provisions. However, if accegggmovisions exist as part of public
policy, for example in agreements with governmaetiities when acceptance periods are required bydawithin previously executed terms
and conditions that are referenced in the currgregeanent and are short-term in nature, we provade sales return allowance in accordance
with Financial
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Accounting Standards Board Statement No.Re/enue Recognition when Right of Return Exi§tacceptance provisions are long-term in
nature or are not included as standard terms afrmmgement or if we cannot reasonably estimatentlidence of returns, revenue is
recognized upon the earlier of receipt of writtestomer acceptance or expiration of the acceptpexed.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential’ o the software licenses and the planning, btidgexnd approval processes undertaken by
the governmental entity. If we determine that tkelihood of non-acceptance in these arrangemsmeniote, we then recognize revenue once
all of the criteria described above have been thstich a determination cannot be made, reventexiggnized upon the earlier of cash receipt
or approval of the applicable funding provisionthg governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalihe éitme of sale and recognize revenue if all otheenue recognition requirements are met.
Our standard payment terms are net 30; howevenstaray vary based on the country in which the agese is executed. Payments that are
due within six months are generally deemed to Xedfior determinable based on our successful calebistory on such arrangements, and
thereby satisfy the required criteria for revenagognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-term financing to credit
worthy customers through our financing divisiom fiscal 1989, when our financing division wasved, we have established a history of
collection, without concessions, on these receaablith payment terms that generally extend upvoyfears from the contract date. Provided
all other revenue recognition criteria have beet me recognize new software license revenue fese¢tarrangements upon delivery, net of
payment discounts from financing transactionsidodl 2005, 2004 and 2003, $455.6 million, $356iion and $364.1 million or
approximately 11%, 10% and 11% of our new softwiaense revenues were financed through our finandivision. We have generally sold
these receivables on a non-recourse basis toghitgt financing institutions. We account for théesaf these receivables as “true sales” as
defined in FASB Statement No. 148ccounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Retu

We record allowances for doubtful accounts basexh @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices r
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided ifeding rates, based upon the age of the receévdbldetermining these percentages, we
analyze our historical collection experience andlent economic trends. We also record a provisiorestimated sales returns and allowances
on product and service related sales in the samedphe related revenues are recorded in accoedaith Statement 48. These estimates are
based on historical sales returns, analysis ofittnegimo data and other known factors.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primaofjinvestments and trade receivab
Investment policies have been implemented that limiestments to investment grade securities. ®iewith respect to trade receivables is
mitigated by credit evaluations we perform on austomers, short duration of our collection termd by the diversification of our customer
base.

Property

Property is stated at the lower of cost or realzahlue, net of accumulated depreciation. Deptiecids computed using the straight-line
method based on estimated useful lives of the §ssich range from two to
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forty years. Leasehold improvements are amortizenl the lesser of estimated useful lives or leasmd, as appropriate. Property is
periodically reviewed for impairment whenever ewent changes in circumstances indicate that thgingramount of an asset may not be
recoverable. We did not recognize any property impant charges in fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueetftangible and intangible assets acquired
in a business combination. Goodwill amounts areanobrtized, but rather are tested for impairmeteadt annually. Intangible assets that are
not considered to have an indefinite useful life amortized over their useful lives, which rangefrs to 10 years. The carrying amount of
these assets is reviewed whenever events or changesumstances indicate that the carrying valian asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of these assets is measured by casapaof the carrying amount of the asset to ther&uundiscounted cash flows the asset is
expected to generate. If the asset is considerbd tmpaired, the amount of any impairment is messas the difference between the carrying
value and the fair value of the impaired asset.didenot recognize any goodwill or intangible asegtairment charges in fiscal 2005, 2004 or
2003.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The carrying value of our cash and cash equivakgmpsoximates fair value due to the short periotimé to maturity. Based on interest rates
we could obtain for borrowings with similar terntise carrying value of our short-term borrowings raxpmates fair value. We record changes
in fair value for our marketable securities, pulgtitaded equity securities, interest rate swaponlong-term debt, foreign currency forward
contracts and investment hedge based on quotecetraikes.

Legal Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess
potential financial exposure. If the potential I&gsn any claim or legal proceeding is considersabpble and the amount can be reasonably
estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimdtes.

Foreign Currency Translatio

We transact business in various foreign currentiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigremtion is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatinsisi® the United States are translated into UrStiadies dollars using weighted-average
exchange rates while assets and liabilities ofatp@rs outside the United States are translateduUnited States dollars using year-end
exchange rates. The effects of foreign currenaystedion adjustments not affecting retained easang included in stockholders’ equity as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoes) in the accompanying consolidated balaneetshForeign currency gains (loss
are included in non-operating income, net of ourstdidated statements of operations and were $ypn, $(13) million and $8 million in
fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We issue stock options to our employees and outBidetors under stockholder approved stock opti@yrams and provide employees the
right to purchase our stock pursuant to employeekgburchase programs. We account for our stockébasmpensation plans under the
intrinsic value method of accounting as definedMogounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2&;counting for Stock Issued to Employeasc
related interpretations. We apply the disclosumvisions of FASB Statement No. 128;counting for Stock-Based Compensatias amende
by FASB Statement No. 148¢counting for Stock-Based Compensation—Trans#iahDisclosure As discussed in Note 2, we assumed 97
million stock options in connection with the
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PeopleSoft acquisition. For pro forma disclosuties,estimated fair value of the unvested optiorsrisrtized using the accelerated expense
attribution method over the vesting period, tydic&ur years, and the estimated fair value ofgtexk purchases is amortized over the six-
month purchase period. The following table illustsathe effect on reported net income and earrpegshare if we had accounted for our si
option and stock purchase plans under the fairevadathod of accounting:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003
Net income, as reporte $ 2,88¢ $ 2,681 $ 2,30
Add: Employee compensation expense indudaet income, net of

forfeitures and related tax effec 7C — —
Deduct: Stockased employee compensation expense determined thedair

value based method for awards, net of relatedffexte® (20%) (209 (330
Pro forma net incom $ 2,751 $ 247¢ $ 1,977

Earnings per shar

Basi—as reporte! $ 0.5¢ $ 0.51 $ 0.44
Basic—pro forma $ 0.5¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.37
Diluted—as reportel $ 0.5t $ 0.5C $ 0.4
Diluted—pro forma $ 0.52 $ 0.4¢€ $ 0.3¢€

@ Includes reversal of unearned stock compensaitiparese for forfeitures, net of related tax effaft$28 million, $59 million and $51
million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively

We estimate the fair value of our options usingacB-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which veeveloped for use in estimating
the fair value of traded options that have no westestrictions and are fully transferable. Optiatuation models require the input of
assumptions, including the expected stock pricatility. Our options have characteristics signifitg different from those of traded
options, and changes in the input assumptions edarially affect the fair value estimates. The failue of options granted, excluding the
options assumed in connection with the PeopleSaftigition, and the option component of the empéogerchase plan shares were
estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Sshilerton option-pricing model with the following wgé@ted average assumptions:

Year Ended May 31,

2005 2004 2003
Employee and Director Stock Options

Expected life (in years 1.2¢-6.5¢€ 1.2€-7.0C 1.25-6.84
Risk-free interest rat 2.4(-4.05% 1.65-4.0%% 1.1(-3.3%%
Expected volatility 27-36% 35-44% 48-56%
Dividend yield — — —
Weighted average fair value of gra $ 3.4 $ 4.7€ $ 3.8¢
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Expected life (in years 0.5C 0.5C 0.5C
Risk-free interest rat 1.65-2.92% 1.02-1.1(% 1.12-1.22%
Expected volatility 32-37% 40-48% 56-57%
Dividend yield — — —
Weighted average fair value of gra $ 2.9: $ 3.04 $ 2.52

SeeNew Accounting Pronouncementselow, for discussion of the requirement foraisdopt FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 208#gre-
Based Paymenbeginning June 1, 2006.
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Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.efliBing expenses were $66.5 million, $68.2 millgord $103.6 million in fiscal 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively.

Research and Developme

All research and development costs are expensit@sed. Costs eligible for capitalization und&3B Statement No. 8@ ccounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leasedtlmer@ise Marketedyere not material to our consolidated financiatestents.

Income Taxe

We account for income taxes in accordance with FAEBement No. 10‘Accounting for Income Tax. Deferred income taxes are recort
for the expected tax consequences of temporargrdiftes between the tax bases of assets andikshitir financial reporting purposes and
amounts recognized for income tax purposes. Wedez@aluation allowance to reduce our deferredatsets to the amount of future tax
benefit that is more likely than not to be realized

New Accounting Pronounceme

Share-Based Paymen On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued StateMeni23 (revised 2004Share-Based Paymer, which is @

revision of Statement 123. Statement 123(R) sudess®pinion 25, and amends FASB Statement NdS@Hement of Cash Flowsenerally,
the approach in Statement 123(R) is similar toahygroach described in Statement 123. However,8&te123(R) generally requires share-
based payments to employees, including grants pfame stock options and purchases under empldgek gurchase plans, to be recognized
in the statement of operations based on theiwtlires. Pro forma disclosure of fair value recdgniwvill no longer be an alternative.

Statement 123(R) permits public companies to al®pequirements using one of two methods:

» Modified prospective method: Compensation coset®gnized beginning with the effective date of dop(a) based on the requireme
of Statement 123(R) for all shabased payments granted after the effective daael@fbtion and (b) based on the requirements of Gt
123 for all awards granted to employees prior &dfiective date of adoption that remain unvestethe date of adoptiol

» Modified retrospective method: Includes the requieats of the modified prospective method descrddmm/e, but also permits restatem
using amounts previously disclosed under the pnméoprovisions of Statement 123 either for (apalr periods presented or (b) prior
interim periods of the year of adoptic

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Casion announced that the Statement 123(R) efie¢tansition date will be extended to
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We&xo adopt this new standard on June 1, 200&g tise modified prospective method.

Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits ofleaductions in excess of recognized compensatioaresepto be reported as a financing cash
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow asgpitesd under current accounting rules. This reeué@et will reduce net operating cash flows
and increase net financing cash flows in perioter @doption. Total cash flow will remain unchandexsin cash flow as it would have been
reported under prior accounting rules.

As permitted by Statement 123, we currently accéamshare-based payments to employees using @pRits intrinsic value method. As a
consequence, we generally recognize no compengaigirfor employee stock options and purchasesrungeEmployee Stock Purchase Plan.
Although the adoption of Statement 123(R)’s
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fair value method will have no adverse impact onlmlance sheet or total cash flows, it will affeat net income and diluted earnings per
share. The actual effects of adopting StatemenfR)28ill depend on numerous factors including theoants of share-based payments granted
in the future, the valuation model we use to vdiluere share-based payments to employees and éstifaafeiture rates. Sestock-Based
Compensation above, for the effect on reported net incomeeartiings per share if we had accounted for ouksiption and stock purchase
plans using the fair value recognition provisiohStatement 123.

Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assi On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued StatementBB8,Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting forlammetary Transactiongtatement 153 addresses the measurement of exshafnge
nonmonetary assets and redefines the scope oattamss that should be measured based on thedhie wf the assets exchanged. Statement
153 is effective for nonmonetary asset exchanggmbing in our second quarter of fiscal 2006. Wendbbelieve adoption of Statement 153
will have a material effect on our consolidatedfinial position, results of operations or cash #ow

Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Fordigarnings Repatriation Provision within the Americiobs Creation Act of 200. On
December 21, 2004, the FASB issued Staff PositionmA\S 109-2Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreligarnings

Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs &tien Act of 2004The American Jobs Creation Act introduces a speciatime dividend:
received deduction on the repatriation of certameifjn earnings to a U.S. taxpayer (repatriatiavision), provided certain criteria are met.
FSP FAS 109-2 provides accounting and disclosuidagee for the repatriation provision. In the féuquarter of fiscal 2005, we repatriated
$3.1 billion of cumulative foreign earnings investeutside the United States. The additional inctameassociated with this amount was $118
million.

Accounting Changes and Error Correctior On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement Nb.Alceounting Changes and Error
Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 2;counting Changesand Statement No. Beporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statemeni. Statement 154 changes the requirements for twuating for and reporting of a change in accoungrinciple.
Previously, most voluntary changes in accountinggiules were required recognition via a cumulagfiect adjustment within net income of
the period of the change. Statement 154 requitesspective application to prior periods’ financsghtements, unless it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects oradtmulative effect of the change. Statement 1®4fective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005;éh@r, the Statement does not change the trangitmnsions of any existing accounting
pronouncements. We do not believe adoption of Btate 154 will have a material effect on our corgatiéd financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

2. ACQUISITIONS
We completed the following acquisitions in fiscQ05:

PeopleSoft, Inc.

Pursuant to our Agreement and Plan of Merger witbpReSoft Inc., a Delaware corporation, dated Désgrh2, 2004 (Agreement Date), we
acquired approximately 75% and 97% of the outstepdommon stock of PeopleSoft (including sharegestito guaranteed delivery) for
$26.50 per share in cash as of December 29, 20Ddamuary 6, 2005, respectively (Acquisition). \eguared PeopleSoft to expand our
footprint in enterprise applications. On Januar2Q5, we completed the merger of our wholly-owsebsidiary with and into PeopleSoft
(Merger) and converted each remaining outstandiagesof PeopleSoft common stock not tendered,dantght to receive $26.50 per share in
cash, without interest. As of May 31, 2005, $6 il
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remained payable to PeopleSoft stockholders whanbadubmitted their shares. We have includedittential results of PeopleSoft in our
consolidated financial statements beginning Decer2®e2004 (Acquisition Date), the date we acquaadajority interest. The minority
interest in the earnings of PeopleSoft for thequefrom December 29, 2004 to January 7, 2005 wasma.

The Acquisition has been accounted for as a busic@mbination. Assets acquired and liabilities easstdiwere recorded at their fair values
of December 29, 2004. The total purchase pricd 1s1billion, and is comprised of:

(in millions)

Cash paid or payable to acquire the outstandingrmmmstock of PeopleSoft
(399.1 million shares at $26.50 per sh: $ 10,57¢
Fair value of PeopleSoft stock options assul 497
Acquisition related transaction co: 12
Total purchase pric $ 11,08(

The fair value of options assumed was determinetywm average price of $13.86, which represemite@verage closing price of our comn
stock from two trading days before to two tradimysl after the Agreement Date and was calculated)esBlack-Scholes-Merton valuation
model with the following assumptions as of the Aisiiion Date: expected life from vest date randirggn 90 days to 1.31 years, risk-free
interest rate of 2.5% - 3.4%, expected volatility3@% and no dividend yield. In accordance with Agreement and Plan of Merger, the
number of Oracle options exchanged was determigeduitiplying the number of PeopleSoft options ¢ansling at closing and the amount
determined by dividing $26.50 by the average clpgirice of our common stock for the 10 trading daseceding the Merger, which was
$13.52. Approximately 48 million of the 97 millidPeopleSoft options outstanding were fully vestedfahe Merger. The portion of the
intrinsic value of unvested PeopleSoft optionstezldo future service has been allocated to defesteck-based compensation and is being
amortized using the accelerated expense attributiethod over the remaining vesting period, whicarages 2.6 years.

Acquisition related transaction costs include inmesnt banking, legal and accounting fees, and aktrnal costs directly related to
Acquisition and Merger.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocatic

Under business combination accounting, the totedlmse price was allocated to People’s net tangible and identifiable intangible as:
based on their estimated fair values as of Dece2®e2004 as set forth below. The excess of thehase price over the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets was recorded as wdbd he preliminary allocation of the purchaségerwas based upon a valuation and our
estimates and assumptions are subject to changeprithary areas of the purchase price allocatiahdhe not yet finalized relate to
restructuring costs, certain legal matters, incame non-income based taxes and residual goodwitlddition, upon the finalization of the
combined company’s legal entity structure, addaicadjustments to deferred taxes may be required.
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(in millions)

Cash and marketable securit $ 2,20(
Trade receivable 61C
Other current asse 30t
Property 377
Goodwill 6,487
Intangible assel 3,38¢
Other nor-current assei 10¢€
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (762)
Restructuring (380)
Deferred revenue (419
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (947)
Other nor-current liabilities (37)
Deferred stoc-based compensatic 123
In-process research and developn 33
Total purchase pric $ 11,08(

Intangible Asset

In performing our purchase price allocation, wesidered, among other factors, our intention foufeituse of acquired assets, analyses of
historical financial performance and estimatesutdife performance of PeopleSoft’s products. Theviaue of intangible assets was based, in
part, on a valuation completed by Standard & PoGogporate Value Consulting using an income apgr@ex estimates and assumptions
provided by management. The rates utilized to distaet cash flows to their present values weredbas our weighted average cost of ca|
and ranged from 10% to 20%. These discount rates determined after consideration of our rate tfrreon debt capital and equity and the
weighted average return on invested capital. THeviing table sets forth the components of intaleiissets associated with the acquisition at
May 31, 2005:

Accumulated Net Book
(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Amortization Value Useful Life
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 2,101 % 88 $ 2,01: 10 year
Developed technolog 614 (51) 563 5 year
Core technolog 34¢ (29 32C 5 year
Customer relationshiy 25C (20 24C 10 year
Trademarks 70 (4 66 7 year
Total intangible asse $ 338 % (182) $ 3,20

Customer relationships and software support agretnaad related relationships represent the unidgrhglationships and agreements v
PeopleSoft’s existing customers. Developed tectgywlahich is comprised of products that have reddbehnological feasibility, includes
products across most of PeopleSoft's product lipeacipally the PeopleSoft Enterprise, JD Edwdtdserprise One and JD Edwards World
products. Core technology represents a combinafiéteopleSoft processes, patents, trade secretsnamdhow related to the design and
development of its applications products. Trademagpresent the estimated fair value of the Peofie®d JD Edwards trade names and
trademarks. Intangible assets are being amortiged) uhe straight-line method.
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In-Process Research and Development

In-process research and development (IPR&D) reptesecomplete PeopleSoft research and developprejgcts that had not reached
technological feasibility and had no alternativeufe use as of the acquisition date. Technolodezaibility is established when an enterprise
has completed all planning, designing, coding, @sting activities that are necessary to estalttisha product can be produced to meet its
design specifications including functions, featugesd technical performance requirements. The vads@ned to IPR&D was determined by
considering the importance of each project to aarall development plan, estimating costs to dqvéhe purchased IPR&D into commercit
viable products, estimating the resulting net dashis from the projects when completed and discimgrthe net cash flows to their present
value based on the percentage of completion offRR&D projects. Purchased IPR&D relates primaridyptojects associated with the
PeopleSoft Enterprise financial management systeman capital management, supply chain managemdrdustomer relationship
management modules, which had not yet reached aéxdinal feasibility as of the acquisition date drave no alternative future use.

Deferred Revenu

In connection with the purchase price allocation,have estimated the fair value of the supporgatibn assumed from PeopleSof
connection with the Acquisition. We based our deteation of the fair value of the support obligatiin part, on a valuation completed by
Standard & Poor’s Corporate Value Consulting usisggmates and assumptions provided by managemieate§timated fair value of the
support obligation was determined utilizing a dmgitd-up approach. The cost build-up approach detees fair value by estimating the costs
relating to fulfilling the obligation plus a normatofit margin. The sum of the costs and operapirgdit approximates, in theory, the amount
that we would be required to pay a third partygsueme the support obligation. The estimated codtdfill the support obligation were based
on the historical direct costs related to providihg support services and to correct any erroPempleSoft software products. We did not
include any costs associated with selling efforteegearch and development or the related fulfifitmeargins on these costs. Profit associated
with selling effort is excluded because People8aft concluded the selling effort on the supportreamts prior to the acquisition date. The
estimated research and development costs havesantibcluded in the fair value determination, &séhcosts were not deemed to represent a
legal obligation at the time of acquisition. Weimstted the normal profit margin to be 30%. As ailieén allocating the acquisition purchase
price, we recorded an adjustment to reduce thgiogrvalue of PeopleSoft's December 29, 2004 detbsupport revenue by $418 million to
$280 million, which represents our estimate offievalue of the support obligation assumed.

As of the Acquisition Date, PeopleSoft had enténéal support agreements for which the underlyingise period had not yet started and for
which PeopleSoft had not yet been paid. These supgoeements were not reflected on PeopleSoftteDéer 28, 2004 balance sheet since
the service period had not yet begun and paymeahhbayet been received. We have recorded an iititiengsset of $208 million to reflect the
fair value of these contracts as of the Acquisitimte. The fair value of these contracts was deterthon the same basis used to value the
support contracts reflected on PeopleSdftecember 28, 2004 balance sheet. This intang#set is reflected in other current assets inabie
above, and its amortized carrying value is refléets a component of prepaid expenses and othemtassets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 2005./araortizing this intangible asset over the tefrthe related support contracts. The
amortization is being reflected as a reductionofitvgare license updates and product support reverezordingly, the revenue recorded ur
these contracts will reflect the fair value to fiithe assumed obligations.

As a result of the adjustments to record Peoplé&Ssifipport obligations assumed at fair value, $6&#Bon of software license updates and
product support revenue that would have been oikersgcorded by PeopleSoft as
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an independent entity will not be recognized in camsolidated results of operations. As former Re®qft customers renew these support
contracts, we will recognize revenue for the falue of the support contracts over the remaining &@&f the contracts, the majority of which
one year. Software license updates and produciosupgvenues in fiscal 2005 that would have be&emtise recorded by PeopleSoft as an
independent entity were reduced by $314 millioa assult of reflecting the support obligations stiraated fair value.

Pre-Acquisition Contingencies

We have identified certain pre-acquisition contimgjes, but we have yet to conclude whether thevdires for such contingencies are
determinable. If, during the purchase price allmceperiod, we are able to determine the fair vaifia pre-acquisition contingency, we will
include that amount in the purchase price allocatip as of the end of the purchase price allacegieriod, we are unable to determine the fair
value of a pre-acquisition contingency, we will e whether to include an amount in the purcipaise allocation based on whether it is
probable a liability had been incurred and whettreamount can be reasonably estimated. After tHe&the purchase price allocation period,
any adjustment that results from a pre-acquisitiomtingency will be included in our operating résuh the period in which the adjustment is
determined. See Note 17 for a discussion of thpqwed treatment of any liabilities arising from BeppleSoft customer assurance program.

Pro Forma Financial Information (unaudite:

The unaudited financial information in the tablédwesummarizes the combined results of operatidr@racle and PeopleSoft, on a pro forma
basis, as though the companies had been combirgdfses beginning of each of the periods presentld.pro forma financial information is
presented for informational purposes only and isimticative of the results of operations that vebbihve been achieved if the Acquisition and
borrowings under our bridge loan (see Note 5) bidn place at the beginning of each of the pernodsented. The pro forma financial
information in fiscal 2005 includes severance esgsrof $224 million recorded by PeopleSoft in thétorical statements of operations rel:
to change in control provisions that were triggesisgart of our Agreement and Plan of Merger indddger 2004. The pro forma financial
information for all periods presented also incluthesbusiness combination accounting effect orotitstl PeopleSoft support revenues,
adjustments to depreciation on acquired propenycharge for IPR&D, amortization charges from &eglintangible assets, stock-based
compensation charges for unvested options assudradle restructuring costs, acquisition and tewdfier costs reflected in Oracle’s and
PeopleSoft’s historical statements of operatiomgpériods prior to our Agreement and Plan of Mergejustments to interest expense and
related tax effects.

The unaudited pro forma financial information iac&l 2005 combines the historical results for Qrgelar ended May 31, 2005 and the
historical results for PeopleSoft for the perioahfrJune 1, 2004 to December 28, 2004. The unaupiitetbrma financial information in fiscal
2004 combines the historical results for Oraclehwhe historical results for PeopleSoft for thelwve months ended May 31, 2004.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2005 2004
Total revenue $13,38: $12,25¢
Net income $ 2,521 $ 1,947
Basic net income per she $ 0.4¢ $ 0.37
Diluted net income per sha $ 0.4¢ $ 0.3¢€
Retek Inc.

We purchased 5.5 million shares of common stodRei€k Inc., a Delaware Corporation, on March 7 &n2005, through ordinary brokera
transactions at prevailing market prices for a Wwedd average price of $8.82 per share. We acq&ietek to expand our footprint in retail
applications. In April and May 2005, we acquired temaining outstanding common stock of Retek idr.#5 per share, or $584 million.
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The total preliminary purchase price is $701 milliand is comprised of:
(in millions)
Cash paid to acquire the outstanding common stbBletek $ 638
Cash paid for outstanding stock optic 32
Acquisition related transaction co: 36
Total preliminary purchase prit $ 701

Acquisition related other transaction costs inckides25 million fee to terminate a February 28,208@rger agreement that Retek had entered
into with SAP America, Inc.

The preliminary purchase price allocation is akofes:

(in millions)

Net tangible asse $  12¢
Goodwill 432
Intangible assel 13¢
In-process research and developn 7
Total preliminary purchase prit $ 701

Intangible assets, which primarily include develbpechnology, core technology and customer corgrainti software support agreements and
related relationships, are being amortized usiegsthaight-line method over 5-10 years. PurchaB&&D relates to projects that had not yet
reached technological feasibility at the time afjaisition and have no alternative future use.

In allocating the preliminary purchase price, weorgled an adjustment to reduce the carrying valletek’s deferred support revenue by $18
million to $12 million, which represents our estimaf the fair value of the support obligation assd. The preliminary allocation of the
purchase price was based upon a preliminary valuathd our estimates and assumptions are subjebataje upon the receipt and
management’s review of the final valuation andfthal determination of restructuring costs as diésct in Note 3. In addition, upon the
finalization of the combined company’s legal enstyucture, additional adjustments to deferredgaray be required

Other Acquisitions of Businesses and Technology

In fiscal 2005, we acquired two other companiesaftotal of $94.0 million in cash and $12.0 millidmough the issuance of common stock
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, we acquired technoliogsn companies for $20.5 million in cash and $4%iflion in cash, respectively. Pro forma
financial information including Retek or our otharquisitions, other than PeopleSoft, has not beesepted, as the historical operations of the
acquired entities were not material to our conséd financial statements either individually othe aggregate.

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, managenapyroved and initiated plans to restructure bloghpre-merger operations of Oracle a
PeopleSoft to eliminate certain duplicative acitdgt focus on strategic product and customer basgseduce our cost structure. The
restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2005 aeb on restructuring plans that have been conthiiitby management. We have completed
the substantial majority of our planned legal-gntitergers, information system conversions and natégn of PeopleSoft's operations and
expect to finalize our remaining integration adtes within the next six months. We currently estimtotal
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restructuring costs associated with exiting adésibf pre-merger Oracle and PeopleSoft to appratdrs546 million.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, managetagproved and initiated plans to restructure therations of the other companies we
acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 tinéhate duplicative facilities and personnel, priityageneral and administrative functions.
Total estimated restructuring costs associated ewiting activities related to these acquisitioppraximate $32 million.

Acquisition Related Restructuring Costs Expensed€isoal 2005

In fiscal 2005, we recorded approximately $147 ionillof expenses in connection with restructurirg pire-merger Oracle organization, which
primarily included employee severance, including $8llion in non-cash stock-based compensationgdmrand facility consolidations. These
costs are recorded as restructuring expenses ecttampanying consolidated statements of operatiesexpect to incur $19 million of
additional restructuring charges within the nextrabnths. Total expected costs under this plai$h66 million ($145 million of severance and
$21 million of facilities charges). Oracle emplogekat have been or will be terminated under #m$ructuring plan, subject to final
negotiations with local country employee worker mails, which could continue for the next six montfanges to the estimates of executing
the currently approved plans of restructuring theemperger Oracle organization will be reflecteaur future results of operations.

The following table shows the activity related e trestructuring liabilities that pertain to the{merger operations of Oracle as of and for the
year ended May 31, 2005 by operating segrn

Total

Expected Year Ended May 31, 200t

Program

Costs at Restructaring

May 31, 200t Total Costs Cash Non-cash at
(in millions) Incurred Payments Iltems May 31, 200t
Employee severanc
New software license $ 46 $ 36 $ (22 $ — $ 14
Software license updates and product sug 7 5 ()] — 1
Consulting 23 19 (13) — 6
Advanced product servict 2 2 (2 — —
Educatior 5 4 2 — 2
Other non-operating 62 60 (21 (39 6
Total severanc $ 14E $ 12€ $ (64) $ (33) $ 29
Facilities
New software license $ 2 $ 2 $ — $ — $ 2
Software license updates and product sug 1 1 — — 1
Consulting 2 2 — — 2
Advanced product servici 1 1 — — 1
Educatior — — — — —
Other non-operating’ 15 15 — — 15
Total facilities $ 21 $ 21 $ — $ — $ 21

Total Oracle restructurin $ 16€ $ 147 $ (64) $ (39) $ 5C

@ Other nor-operating includes severance and facility charges@ated with research and development, genedehéministrative an
marketing functions
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Liabilities aggregating $31 million related to émg certain pre-merger activities of Oracle areorded in accrued restructuring, current in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The marga#19 million, which relates primarily to fagjliobligations for which we expect to
incur costs through 2012, is recorded in accrustfueturing, non-current.

Estimated Acquisition Related Restructuring Costsofinted for in Fiscal 2005 Purchase Allocati

We recorded approximately $380 million of restruictg costs in connection with restructuring the-prerger PeopleSoft organization, which
primarily included employee severance, facility solidation costs, and contract termination costepieSoft employees have been or will be
terminated under this restructuring plan, subjecitch matters as final negotiations with localntpuemployee worker councils, which could
continue for the next six months. Severance paysnmaide to pre-merger PeopleSoft employees wereamby plans established by
PeopleSoft and subsequently assumed by Oraclethparompletion of the Acquisition. These costs wemmgnized as a liability assumed in
the PeopleSoft purchase price allocation and, dawgly, have resulted in an increase to goodwilpdktion of the restructuring liabilities
related to facility lease commitments is classifisdong-term liabilities in the accompanying baksheets.

Estimated restructuring expenses may change asgeareat executes the approved plan. Decreases éstingates of executing the currently
approved plans associated with pre-merger activitfePeopleSoft are recorded as an adjustmentadvgih indefinitely, whereas increases to
the estimates are recorded as an adjustment tanglbddring the purchase price allocation perio@rggrally within one year of the acquisition
date) and as operating expenses thereafter.

The following table shows the activities relatedtte restructuring liabilities that pertain to fhre-merger operations of PeopleSoft and Retek:

Severanci
(in millions) Facilities Other Total
Initial estimated restructuring costs of People! $ 21€ $ 13t $ 49 $ 40C
Initial estimated restructuring costs of Re £ 2: ¢ 3:
Adjustments to reserv@ 9) 3 14 (20
Cash payment (149 (18 (29 (18€)
Restructuring liabilities as of May 31, 20 $ 63 $ 14c $ 20 $ 22¢

@ Primarily relates to changes in estimates relatexbt’erance payments, facility plans and the reregm of contractual obligations relating
to the PeopleSoft acquisitio

Liabilities aggregating $125 million related to &xg certain pre-merger activities of PeopleSoft anr other fiscal 2005 acquisitions are
recorded in accrued restructuring, current, ingbeompanying consolidated balance sheets. The merga8101 million, which relates to
facility obligations that we expect to incur cofisthrough 2012, is recorded in accrued restrugmon-current.
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4. ACQUISITION RELATED CHARGES

Acquisition related charges primarily consist ofjirocess research and development expenses, sestiaded with our tender offer for
PeopleSoft prior to the Agreement Date, stock-camspton expenses, as well as personnel relates fmrdransitional employees who have
been or will be terminated after the completionthef legal entity mergers or integration activiti®tock-based compensation included in
acquisition related charges resulted from unvespeibns assumed in the PeopleSoft acquisition whestng was fully accelerated upon
termination of the employees pursuant to the tashisese options.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
In-process research and developrr $ 46 $ — $ —
Transitional employee related co 52 — —
Stock-based compensatic 47 — —
Tender offer cost 6: 5¢ —
Total acquisition related charg $ 20¢ $ 54 $ —

We also incurred $5.5 million in commitment feelated to an unused $1.5 billion acquisition créaliflity that expired in December 2004,
which we recognized as interest expense in themapanying consolidated statement of operationssitafi2004.

5. BORROWINGS
Borrowings consisted of the followin

May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004
Commercial paper notes with various maturities ulgfoSeptember 2005, net of unamortized discoufi7: $ 1,99 $ —
OTC Loan Facility due May 20C 70( —
Notes payable due May 20 — 9
Shor-term borrowings and current portion of l--term debt 2,69: 9
6.91% senior notes due February 2! 158 157
Notes payable due May 20! 6 6
Notes payable and lo-term debt 15¢ 163
Total borrowings $ 2,852 $ 172

364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement

On March 18, 2005, we entered into a-day revolving credit agreement (Credit Agreemenite Credit Agreement is unsecured and prov
a $3.0 billion credit facility (Credit Facility) tbackstop any commercial paper we may issue andddking capital and other general corpo
purposes. We may borrow, prepay and re-borrow atsaurder the Credit Facility at any time under@redit Agreement. As of May 31,
2005, we have not borrowed any funds against teeiCAgreement.
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$3.0 Billion Commercial Paper Program

On April 7 and 8, 2005, we issued and sold unsecsinert-term promissory notes with an aggregatecjpal face value of $2.0 billion (the CP
Notes), under our $3.0 billion commercial papergoaon (CP Program). The CP Notes were issued addysosuant to a private placem:
exemption from the registration requirements uridéeral and state securities laws. The proceeds tihe issuance of the CP Notes were used
to repay certain borrowings under the Bridge Loan.

The CP Notes, which were issued at a discount fhain principal face value, have various maturitiéth different yields. We reissued $620.9
million of the CP Notes that originally maturedApril and May 2005. The average weighted yieldhaf CP Notes outstanding at May 31,
2005 is 3.13%. The CP Notes are not redeemabletprimaturity and are not subject to voluntary jrgpent.

$700 Million Loan Facility for Oracle Technology @pany

On May 20, 2005, Oracle Technology Company (OT@)hally-owned subsidiary, entered into an unsecured $70@mioan facility (OTC
Loan Facility) with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. guaranteeg hs. OTC borrowed $700 million on May 20, 2005 &nis amount remains
outstanding at May 31, 2005 (effective interest i@t3.53% based on a LIBOR-based formula). All ams under the OTC Loan Facility are
due in May 2006.

$150 Million Senior Notes

We have $150 million in 6.91% senior notes dueghriiary 2007. In February 2002, we entered intmgemest-rate swap agreement that has
the economic effect of modifying the interest ohtigns associated with these senior notes sohbanhterest payable on the senior notes
effectively becomes variable based on the threetmolBOR set quarterly until maturity. Our intereate swap reduced the effective interest
rate on our 6.91% senior notes to 5.23% as of MayB05. The fair value of the interest rate swag %3.1 million at May 31, 2005 and is
included in other assets in the accompanying cafeteld balance sheets.

Aggregate annual principal payments on borrowirrgsaa follows: $2.7 billion in fiscal 2006 and $1dlion in fiscal 2007. We were in
compliance with all financial covenants at May 32Q05, including the requirement that our totalaltt to total capitalization ratio not exceed
40%.

$9.5 Billion Unsecured 364-Day Term Loan Agreement

On December 28, 2004, we entered into a $9.5 billiesecured 3t-day term loan agreement (Bridge Loan) with Wach®aak Nationa
Association, Credit Suisse First Boston and cemnéier syndicated lenders for the acquisition afffeSoft common shares and for related
costs, fees and expenses. On December 29, 200zhmeved $9.2 billion under the Bridge Loan. Weaie$2.0 billion in February 2005 and
the remaining $7.2 billion in April and May 2005.
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6. DEFERRED REVENUES
The following table sets forth the components déded revenues:

May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004
Software license updates and product sug $ 1,98 $ 1,32¢
Services 22t 99
New software license 79 69
Deferred revenues, curre 2,28¢ 1,497
Deferred revenues, n-current 12¢€ 43
Total deferred revenus $ 241" $ 1,54

Deferred software license updates and product stippgenues represent customer payments made aneevor annual support contracts.
Software license updates and product support aiealy billed on a per annum basis in advancerawdnue is recognized ratably over the
support period. The deferred software license wggdand product support revenues are typically Isighiethe end of our first fiscal quarter due
to the collection of cash from the large volumeseifvice contracts that are sold or renewed inifealfquarter ending in May of each year.
Deferred service revenues include prepaymentsdieswting, advanced product services and educatorices. Revenue for these services is
recognized as the services are performed. Defaeadsoftware license revenues typically result framdelivered products or specified
enhancements, customer specific acceptance prosisiosoftware license transactions that are rgrhsatable from consulting services.
Deferred revenues, non-current are comprised pifyrafrdeferred software license updates and produpport revenues.

As discussed in Note 2, we recorded adjustmentsdioce PeopleSoft's and Retek’s support obligatamugiired to their estimated fair value.

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 L-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), whieplaced the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentiv¢

Plan (the 1991 Plan) and provides for the issuafhc@n-qualified stock options and incentive stogkions, as well as stock purchase rights,
stock appreciation rights and long-term performaaeards to our eligible employees, officers, dioestwho are also employees or
consultants, independent consultants and advisefiscal 2005, the 2000 Plan was amended andteesta, among other things, eliminate the
ability to reprice options without stockholder apyal, to provide the Board with the ability to graestricted stock units, to permit us to deduct
certain performance-based equity awards for tapqres, to provide the Board with the ability taiss$ransferable equity awards and to
eliminate the ability to buyout employees’ stockiops with cash or common stock. Under the termthe®f2000 Plan, options to purchase
common stock generally are granted at not lessfdiamarket value, become exercisable as estaulibly the Board of Directors (Board)
(generally ratably over four years), and generadgire ten years from the date of grant. Optiomsitgd under the 1991 Plan were granted on
similar terms. If options outstanding under the 18%an are forfeited, repurchased, or otherwisaiteate without the issuance of stock, the
shares underlying such options will also becomédaiva for future awards under the 2000 Plan. AMaly 31, 2005, options to purchase 4C
million shares of common stock were outstandingeuttbth plans, of which 300.9 million were vestagproximately 433.04 million shares
common stock are available for future awards utlgde2000 Plan. To date, we have not issued an¥ ptachase rights, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock units or long-term perfarmoe awards under this plan.

82



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2005

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirexttStock Option Plan (the Original Directors’ Plamhich provided for the issuance of non-
qualified stock options to non-employee directtmdiscal 2004, the Original Directors’ Plan waserded and restated to eliminate a term
limit, eliminate the ability to reprice options Wwaut stockholder approval, decrease the numberarks of common stock reserved for issui
under the Original Directors’ Plan, provide the Bbwith the ability to make grants of restrictedct, restricted stock units or other stock-
based awards instead of the automatic option geamtgename the Original Directors’ Plan, the 1B@@&ctors’ Stock Plan (the Directors’

Plan). Under the terms of the Directors’ Plan, @msito purchase 8.0 million shares of common stosle reserved for issuance, are granted at
not less than fair market value, become exercisalse four years, and expire ten years from the dagrant. The Directors’ Plan provides for
automatic, nondiscretionary grants of options tthe@on-employee director upon first becoming aadmeand thereafter on an annual basis, as
well as automatic nondiscretionary grants for dhgicertain Board committees. The Board has thereli®n to replace any automatic option
grant under the Directors’ Plan with awards ofniettd stock, restricted stock units or other stbaked award. The number of shares subje
any such stock award will be no more than the exjeit value of the options, as determined on aagarable basis by the Board, which wc
otherwise have been granted under the applicalbderatic option grant. The Board will determine pgaeticular terms of any such stock
awards at the time of grant, but the terms wiltbasistent with those of options, as describedvibefpwanted under the Directors’ Plan with
respect to vesting or forfeiture schedules andrtreat on termination of status as a director. AyNa, 2005, options to purchase 3.8 million
shares of common stock were outstanding under388 Directors’ Plan, of which 2.9 million were vedt Approximately 3.1 million shares
are available for future option awards under ttésphowever, no more than 1.8 million shares mawsed for grants other than options.

In connection with our acquisition of PeopleSofg assumed all of the outstanding stock optionb@féspective stock plans of PeopleSoft.
These options generally retain all of the rightsits and conditions of the respective plans undiectwoptions were originally granted. In
September and October 2004, PeopleSoft amendsehigsance policies and option agreements to prdeideccelerated vesting of all
unvested options for eligible employees terminat@tin one year after a change in control. As ofy\84.,, 2005, options to purchase 61.0
million shares of common stock were outstandingeuridese plans.

The following tables summarize information abowc&toptions outstanding:

Shares Under Weighted Average

(in millions, except exercise price Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 4t $ 11.31
Granted 66 $ 8.8¢
Exercisec (48) $ 3.9¢
Forfeited a7 $ 20.5¢
Balance, May 31, 200 45% $ 11.41
Granted 44 $ 12.62
Exercisec (38) $ 4.8¢
Forfeited (21) $ 21.4:
Balance, May 31, 200 44C $ 11.61
Granted® 13¢ $ 11.6¢
Exercisec (71 $ 6.1€
Forfeited (39 $ 18.01
Balance, May 31, 200 46¢ $ 11.9:

@ Includes PeopleSoft options assumed of 97 million.
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In June 2005, we made our annual grant of stodemgto employees of the company to purchase appetgly 52.8 million shares.

The range of exercise prices for options outstapdirMay 31, 2005 was $0.09 to $45.60. The rangeefcise prices for options is due to the
fluctuating price of our stock over the period o€ grants.

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Options Outstanding Remaining Weighted Average Options Exercisable Exercise Price of
Range of Exercise Price as of May 31, 2005 Contractual Life Exercise Price as of May 31, 2005 Exercisable Option:
(Shares in millions) (Shares in millions)
$ 0.09—$ 4.07 47 2.0¢ $ 3.7¢ 47 $ 3.7¢
$ 4.08—3% 4.61 44 2.4 $ 4.34 43 $ 4,32
$ 461—% 6.88 99 3.9¢ $ 6.82 99 $ 6.8
$ 6.94—3 8.68 57 6.8 $ 8.4t 30 $ 8.3¢
$ 8.70— $11.50 64 8.4( $ 10.0z 15 $ 10.5¢
$11.53— $12.60 44 7.7¢ $ 12.4¢ 15 $ 12.2¢
$12.70— $15.82 17 6.81 $ 14.0C 11 $ 14.3(
$15.86— $15.90 36 6.0C $ 15.8¢ 27 $ 15.8¢
$15.92— $22.95 17 5.7¢ $ 18.4¢ 15 $ 18.51
$23.38— $45.60 44 4.67 $ 39.5¢ 43 $ 39.52
$ 0.09— $45.60 46¢ 5.3¢ $ 11.92 34¢ $ 12.1¢

Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Po date, 408.7 million shares of common stioake been reserved for issuance
under the Purchase Plan. Prior to the April 1, 288%i-annual option period, under the Purchase étgsloyees could purchase shares of
common stock at a price per share that is 85%eofasser of the fair market value of Oracle staxkfathe beginning or the end of the semi-
annual option period. Starting with the April 1,080semi-annual option period, we amended the Psech&an such that employees can
purchase shares of common stock at a price pee shatris 95% of the fair value of Oracle stoclofthe end of the semi-annual option period.
Through May 31, 2005, 316.7 million shares had hssmed and 92.0 million shares were reservedutoré issuances under the Purchase
During fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we issued 16lom, 17.5 million and 23.8 million shares, resgigely, under the Purchase Plan.

8. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Stock Repurchast

Our Board of Directors has approved a programponehase shares of our common stock to reducelltitere effect of our stock option and
stock purchase plans. From the inception of thekstepurchase program in 1992 to May 31, 2005t& td 1.8 billion shares have been
repurchased for approximately $20.4 billion. Weurghased 114.8 million shares for $1.3 billion, Blillion shares for $1.5 billion and
270.4 million shares for $2.7 billion in fiscal Z8@004 and 2003, respectively. At May 31, 200frapimately $1.9 billion was available to
repurchase shares of our common stock pursuahetstock repurchase program.

Shareholder Rights Plan

On December 3, 1990, the Board of Directors adopt8dareholder Rights Plan. The Shareholder Rigjlars was amended and restated on
March 31, 1998 and subsequently amended on March9®®. Pursuant to the Shareholder Rights Plardistebuted Preferred Stock
Purchase Rights as a dividend at the rate of ogktRor
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each share of our common stock held by stockholoferscord as of December 31, 1990. The Board oéd@rs also authorized the issuanc
Rights for each share of common stock issued #fterecord date, until the occurrence of certagctjed events. The Shareholder Rights Plan
was adopted to provide protection to stockholdetsié event of an unsolicited attempt to acquireAssa result of stock splits, each share of
common stock now has associated with it one-sikénRight.

The Rights are not exercisable until the earlie(Df ten days (or such later date as may be datethby the Board of Directors) following an
announcement that a person or group has acquiregfibial ownership of 15% of our common stock ortéh days (or such later date as may
be determined by the Board of Directors) followthg announcement of a tender offer which wouldItéswa person or group obtaining
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our outstagccommon stock, subject to certain exceptions @arlier of such dates being called the
Distribution Date). The Rights are initially exesable for one-six thousand seven hundred fiftiéth share of our Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock at a price of $125 per one-sixghad seven hundred fiftieth of a share, subjeatljostment. However, if: (1) after the
Distribution Date we are acquired in certain typEfansactions, or (2) any person or group (withited exceptions) acquires beneficial
ownership of 15% of our common stock, then hola@éRights (other than the 15% holder) will be datitto receive upon exercise of the
Right, common stock (or in case we are completetjuaed, common stock of the acquirer) having aketavalue of two times the exercise
price of the Right.

We are entitled to redeem the Rights, for $0.001&8Right, at the discretion of the Board of Dicest until certain specified times. We may
also require the exchange of Rights, at a rateefamd one-half shares of common stock, for eaghtRiinder certain circumstances. We also
have the ability to amend the Rights, subject ttad® limitations.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc

The following table summarizes the components otiawlated other comprehensive income, net of inctaxes:

May 31,
(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Foreign currency translation adjustm $ 30: $ 19( $ 11!
Unrealized loss on derivativi (51) (37 (14)
Unrealized gain on investmer 9 3 26
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustme! (16) — —
Accumulated other comprehensive inca $ 24c $ 15€ $ 127

Settlement of Forward Contract

In fiscal 1998, we entered into a forward conttactell 36.0 million shares of our common stock4&#2 per share plus accretion, subject to
adjustments over time. The forward contract hathged maturity of February 13, 2003 and was ac@ulifdr as an equity instrument. The
forward contract collateralized our master leasdifa that provided for the construction or purskaof up to $182.0 million of property and
improvements to be leased by us. In fiscal 2003setded the forward contract with a cash paymé®tl66.3 million, which was recorded as a
reduction to additional paid in capital, and exeed an option to purchase the leased propertiegpfmoximately $168.3 million.

85



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2005

9. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incobegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Domestic $ 195 $ 2,114 $ 1,92

Foreign 2,09t 1,831 1,50(
Total $ 405 $ 394 $ 342

The provision for income taxes consists of theofelhg:
Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Current provision

Federal $ 624 $ 701 $ 54¢
State 13t 77 10C
Foreign 472 42¢ 382
Total current provisiol 1,231 1,20¢ 1,02¢

Deferred provision (benefit
Federal (1) 9 12C
State (24) 48 (15)
Foreign (32) 1 (15)
Total deferred provision (benef (66) 58 90
Total provision for income taxce $ 1,16! $ 1260 $ 1,11¢
Effective income tax rat 28.8% 32.0% 32.6%

The provision for income taxes differs from the ambcomputed by applying the federal statutory tateur income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 1,41¢ $ 1,381 $ 1,19¢
Foreign earnings at other than United States (380) (260) (214
State tax expense, net of federal ber 66 81 68
Dividend pursuant to American Jobs Creation AR@d4 121 — —
Settlement of audits and expiration of statt (131 — (24)
Other 71 62 89
Provision for income taxe $ 1,16! $ 1,26« $ 1,11
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The components of the deferred tax assets anditiiedconsist of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2005 2004
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar (27) (19
Acquired intangible: (1,257 —
Other (10 (14)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (1,41¢ (163)
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance 342 207
Employee compensation and bene 21t a0
Depreciation and amortizatic 56 46
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 264 15
Differences in timing of revenue recognition antdes 80 11¢€
Total deferred tax asse 95¢ 47¢
Valuation allowanct (44) —
Net deferred tax (liability) ass $ (509 $ 31z
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 48¢€ $ 301
Non-current deferred tax asst 32 92
Current deferred tax liabilitie (12 (22)
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (1,010 (59
Net deferred tax ass $ (509 $ 31z

We provide for United States income taxes on theiegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they are ictemed indefinitely reinvested outside the
United States. At May 31, 2005, the cumulative Egy®: upon which United States income taxes havdeen provided for were approximat
$2.2 billion. If these earnings were repatriateth@ United States, they would generate foreigretadits that would reduce the federal tax
liability associated with the foreign dividend. Aissing a full utilization of the foreign tax credithe potential deferred tax liability for these
earnings would be approximately $500 million. Isckl 2005, we repatriated $3.1 billion of the emgsiof foreign subsidiaries in accordance
with the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 andrded a federal tax expense of $118 million anthte sax expense (net of federal tax
benefit) of $3 million. We repatriated the maximamount available for repatriation under the Ameridabs Creation Act of 2004.

The Internal Revenue Service has examined ourdédeome tax returns for all years through 199thaut any material adjustment of taxes

due. The IRS is currently examining our federabime tax returns for 2000 through 2003. We do nbébe that the outcome of these matters
will have a material adverse effect on our conséd financial position or results of operations ¥e also under examination by numerous
state and non-US tax authorities. We believe tleahawve adequately provided for any reasonably éedsle outcome related to these audits.

The valuation allowance increased from zero at Bthy2004, to $44 million at May 31, 2005. The irage is attributable to acquired deferred
tax assets of PeopleSoft, principally state andifor net operating loss carryforwards. Any subsagegluction of this valuation allowance,
and the recognition of the associated tax benefltdbe applied first to reduce goodwill and themangible assets established pursuant to the
acquisition of PeopleSoft.
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At May 31, 2005, we had federal net operating tasyforwards of approximately $365 million. Thdssses expire in various years between
2016 and 2025, and are subject to limitations eir titilization. We have state net operating lomsydforwards of approximately $364 million,
which expire between 2006 and 2025, and are sutgédichitations on their utilization. We have ngterating loss carryforwards in certain
foreign jurisdictions of approximately $95 milliowhich expire in various years. We have tax credityforwards of approximately $76
million, which are subject to limitations on theiilization. Approximately $39 million of these taxedit carryforwards are not currently
subject to expiration dates. The remainder, apprateély $37 million, expires in various years betw@613 and 2025.

Our intercompany transfer pricing is currently lgereviewed by the IRS and by foreign tax jurisding and will likely be subject to additional
audits in the future. We previously negotiated #tvance Pricing Agreements with the IRS that cawany of our intercompany transfer
pricing issues and preclude the IRS from makinguasfer pricing adjustment within the scope of ¢hagreements. The agreements, however,
are only effective through May 31, 2001, do noteroall elements of our intercompany transfer pgdssues and do not bind tax authorities
outside the United States. We are currently netjogidilateral and unilateral Advance Pricing Agrents to cover the periods from June 1,
2001 through May 31, 2006.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingmo®me for the period by the weighted average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share immated by dividing net income for the period by tieighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus thdiddweffect of outstanding stock options and sh&ssable under the employee stock purchase
plan using the treasury stock method, and witheesio fiscal 2003, a forward contract to sell 3®illion shares of our common stock that
settled on October 31, 2002. The following tables $erth the computation of basic and diluted eagsiper share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Net income $ 288 $ 268 $ 2,30
Weighted average common shares outstan 5,13¢ 5,21t 5,30z
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 95 111 11C
Dilutive effect of forward contrac — — 6
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 5,231 5,32¢ 5,41¢
Basic earnings per she $ 05 $ 051 $ 04«
Diluted earnings per sha $ 058 $ 05C $ 04c
Anti-dilutive stock options excluded from calcutati® 141 132 11t

@ These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutive stgations and could be dilutive in the future. SeseN7 for information regarding the prices
of our outstanding, unexercised optia

11. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily oflgiiguid investments in time deposits held at mdjanks, commercial paper, United States
government agency discount notes, money marketahfunds and other money market securities withinal maturities of 90 days or less.
Marketable securities primarily consist of commakpaper, corporate notes and Unites States gowstnagency notes. In accordance with
FASB Statement No. 11B\ccounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8ecuritiesand based on our
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intentions regarding these instruments, we clagsftain of our debt securities as availabledale and account for these investments at m
value. We classify all of our other investmentslébt securities as held-to-maturity and accounttfese investments at amortized cost.

The amortized principal amount of cash and caslkvatants at May 31, 2005 and 2004 was $3.9 biliad $4.1 billion and the weighted
average interest rates were 2.32% and 1.97%, résggc

The table below presents the amortized principadafor our held-to-maturity investments and therket value of our available-for-sale
investments, maturities and major security typeofarinvestments in marketable securities.

May 31, 2005 May 31, 2004
Held-to- Available- Held-to- Available-
(in millions) Maturity @ for-Sale @ Total Maturity (1) for-Sale @ Total
Marketable securities
(within 1 year) $ 57¢ $ 33C $ 90¢ $ 3,98: $ 46€ $ 4,44¢
Marketable securities
(1 — 2 yearsp — 12 12 — — —
Total investment $ 57¢ $ 34c $ 92 $ 3,98: $ 46€ $ 4,44¢
Debt securities issued by U.S. Treasury and oth8r
governmental entitie $ — $ 14 $ 14 $ 917 $ — $ 917
Debt securities issued by states of the UniteceStand
political subdivisions of the stat — 131 131 — — —
Corporate and other debt securit 57¢ 197 77t 3,06¢ 46€ 3,532
Total $ 57¢ $ 34c $ 92C $ 3,98: $ 46€ $ 4,44¢

@ The original cost of our marketable securities agjnates fair value
@ Included in other assets in the accompanying cateteld balance sheets.

We have entered into securities lending agreenmveitiisa financial institution whereby investmentgiebt securities are loaned and are sec
by collateral in the form of cash or other secesitiAt May 31, 2005 and 2004, total loaned seesritiere $0 and $572.5 million and remain in
marketable securities in the accompanying conselitibalance sheets. The fair values of the colihtetich exceeded the book values of the
loaned securities at May 31, 2004, are not recoaseaksets or liabilities in the accompanying clidated balance sheets because we do not
have the right to repledge or sell the collateral.

Our investment portfolio is subject to market rikle to changes in interest rates. We place ousimants with high credit quality issuers and,
by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure toyane issuer. As stated in our investment poligy are averse to principal loss and seek to
preserve our invested funds by limiting defaulk risarket risk and reinvestment risk.

12. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

In accordance with Statement 115 and based omtamntions regarding these instruments, we clasdifjpnarketable equity securities as
available-for-sale. Marketable equity securities iacluded in intangible assets in
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the accompanying consolidated balance sheets budrahlized holding gains (losses) are reflecteidof tax in stockholders’ equity. If we
determine that an investment has an other thandempdecline in fair value, generally defined dgew our cost basis exceeds the fair value
for approximately six months, we recognize the gtrreent loss in non-operating income, net in th@aganying consolidated statements of
operations. We periodically evaluate our investraéntdetermine if impairment charges are required.

The net carrying value of our equity securitie®fblay 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $60 million, §6lion and $155 million, respectively.
Unrealized gains in stockholders’ equity, net of d4asociated with these equity securities were Bdm $2 million and $26 million for fiscal
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In fiscal 2004, we sold all of our common stock.iherate Technologies to a third-party for approaiely $83.5 million and recognized a
$35.4 million gain on the sale. We previously relgar impairment charges relating to other than teargaleclines in the fair value of our
investment in Liberate Technologies of $87.1 millia fiscal 2003. We concluded that our investmeas other than temporarily impaired
because our cost basis exceeded the publicly tnadeklet value of the Liberate Technologies commonksfor approximately six months.

In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we recognized $1illlom $13.0 million and $23.9 million of impairnmé losses related to our other
investments, which include investments in private®yd companies, venture funds and publicly trasedpanies. We determined that the
decreases in the fair value of these investments ather than temporary based upon the financiadition and near term prospects of the
underlying investees, changes in the market derfartdchnology being sold or developed by the ulyitay investees and our intent regard
providing future funding to the underlying investee

13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB Statement No. 13Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgivities,as amended, establishes accounting and rep«
standards requiring that every derivative instrunfienrecorded in the balance sheet as either @b @skability measured at its fair value.
Statement 133 also requires that changes in theatige’s fair value be recognized currently inrdags unless specific hedge accounting
criteria are met and that a company must formadigutnent, designate and assess the effectivenésmeéctions that receive hedge
accounting. We use derivatives to manage foreigrenay and interest rate risk.

Net Investment Hedg

Periodically, we hedge the net assets of certagrniational subsidiaries (net investment hedgeaspusreign currency forward contracts

offset the translation and economic exposuresaelat our investments in these subsidiaries. Wesoreahe ineffectiveness of net investment
hedges by using the changes in spot exchangelratasise this method reflects our risk managemeategtes, the economics of those
strategies in our financial statements and bettarages interest rate differentials between diffecenntries. Under this method, the change in
fair value of the forward contract attributablethie changes in spot exchange rates (the effectisteop) is reported in stockholders’ equity to
offset the translation results on the net investsierhe remaining change in fair value of the faxdveontract (the ineffective portion) is
recognized in non-operating income, net.

Net losses on investment hedges reported in stédéty equity were $23.1 million, $38.4 million and $Z4million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The net gain on investment Bedgported in non-operating income, net were $adldn, $7.5 million and $8.9 million
in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

At May 31, 2005, we had one net investment hedgaanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimizesrey risk arising from net assets
held in Yen as a result of equity capital raisedrduthe initial public
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offering and secondary offering of Oracle Japare ir value of our Yen investment hedge was $0Ibom and $1.4 million as of May 31,
2005 and 2004. The Yen investment hedge has anab@anount of $615.5 million and an exchange r&t0@.23 Yen for each United States
dollar.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

We transact business in various foreign currermieshave established a program that primarilyzeiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risk associated with the effects ofaiarforeign currency exposures. Under this progiianreases or decreases in our foreign
currency exposures are offset by gains or losséseforward contracts, to mitigate the possibitifyforeign currency transaction gains or
losses. These foreign currency exposures typieaibe from intercompany sublicense fees and otiterdompany transactions. Our forward
contracts generally have terms of 90 days or Ws&sdo not use forward contracts for trading purposd outstanding foreign currency
forward contracts used in this program are markaddrket at the end of the period with unrealizaiohg and losses included in non-operating
income, net. Our ultimate realized gain or los$wiétspect to currency fluctuations will depend o ¢urrency exchange rates and other factors
in effect as the contracts mature. Net foreign erge transaction losses included in non-operatiogme, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations were $2711Bmi$20.9 million and $1.0 million in fiscal 2602004 and 2003, respectively. The fair
values of foreign currency forward contracts weseindividually significant and approximated $0.2lion and $(0.7) million as of May 31,
2005 and 2004. These amounts are included in ad®ats in the accompanying consolidated balanegsshe

Interest Rate Swa

We have $150 million in 6.91% senior notes dueghriiary 2007. In February 2002, we entered intmeemest-rate swap agreement that has
the economic effect of modifying the interest ohtigns associated with these senior notes sohbanhterest payable on the senior notes
effectively becomes variable based on the threetmiolBOR set quarterly until maturity. The notioreahount of the interest rate swap and the
termination date match the principal amounts antlritg date of the outstanding senior notes. Oterist rate swap reduced the effective
interest rate on our 6.91% senior notes to 5.23% &ay 31, 2005. The fair value of the intereserswap was $3.1 million and $7.2 million at
May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004 and is included iheptssets in the accompanying consolidated bakirests.

14. PROPERTY
Property consisted of the followin

May 31,
Estimated

(in millions) Useful Lives 2005 2004
Computer and network equipme 2-5 years $ 1,12 $ 1,09
Buildings and improvemen 2-40 year 1,24z 1,051
Furniture and fixture 3-10 year 35€ 34C
Land — 20z 162
Automobiles 5 years 8 9
Land and buildings held for se 94 —
Total property 2-40 year 3,02 2,65
Accumulated depreciatic (1,587 (1,585
Property, ne $ 1,44 $ 1,06¢
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As part of our restructuring and integration a¢idd in fiscal 2005, we have vacated owned propstes that are actively being marketed for
disposal within the next year. The carrying valtithese properties was approximately $94 milliomfsay 31, 2005.

15. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill falglay 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follo\

Software
License
Updates anc
New
Software Product
(in millions) Licenses Support Services Other Total

Beginning balance as of June 1, 2! $ 8 8 7 % 2 % — % 17
Other acquisition goodwi 12 10 2 — 24
Ending balance as of May 31, 2C $ 20 % 17 % 4 3 — % 41
Beginning balance as of June 1, 2I $ 20 % 17 $ 4 3 — % 41
PeopleSoft acquisition goodw 1,20( 4,84¢ 441 — 6,48’
Other acquisition goodwi — — — 47¢E 47k
Ending balance as of May 31, 2085 $ 1220 $ 4861 $ 441 % 470 $ 7,00

@ Represents preliminary goodwill associated withrfloguarter fiscal 2005 acquisitions, primarily 8etthat will be allocated to operati
segments upon finalization of our intangible assdétations in the first quarter of fiscal 20l
@ All goodwill is not deductible for tax purpose

Intangible assets at May 31, 2005 consisted ofdt@wing:

Useful Life

Accumulated Net Book
(in millions) Gross Amortization Value
Software support agreements and related relatipa 10 year: $ 2,12« $ (88) $ 2,03¢
Developed technolog 5 years 80C (127 67%
Core technolog 5 years 36¢ (30 33¢
Customer relationshir 10 year: 257 (12) 24¢
Trademarks 7 years 84 4 8C
Total intangible assets at May 31, 2( $ 3,63 $ (260) $ 3,37
Intangible assets at May 31, 2004 consisted ofdh@wing:
Accumulated Net Book
(in millions) Gross Amortization Value
Developed technolog $ 8 $ (49 $ 3!
Total intangible assets at May 31, 2( $ 88 $ (49) $ 39
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The total amortization expense related to intamgétgsets was $219 million, $36 million and $43ioniliin fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003.
Estimated future amortization expense relatedtemigible assets is as follows:

Year Endec

(in millions) May 31,
2006 $ 47¢
2007 473
2008 464
2009 464
2010 38C
Thereaftel 1,11«
Total $ 3,37

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 13Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt&eInformation establishes standards for reporting
information about operating segments. Operatingsegs are defined as components of an enterpriag athich separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regyldny the chief operating decision maker, or decisitaking group, in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. Our ghe&ting decision maker is our Chief Executive €fi We are organized geographically
and by line of business. While our Chief Executdféicer evaluates results in a number of diffenealys, the line of business management
structure is the primary basis for which the altamaof resources and financial results are asde¥s¥e are organized into two businesses,
which are further organized into five operatingreegts. Our software business is comprised of tveraijng segments: (1) new software
licenses and (2) software license updates and pt@dport. Our services business is comprisetrettoperating segments: (1) consulting
advanced product services and (3) education.

The new software license line of business is engjagéhe licensing of database and middleware softvas well as applications software.
Database and middleware software includes databhasagement software, application server softwaegldpment tools and collaboration
software. Applications software provides enterpiigermation that enables companies to manage thusiiness cycles and provide intelligence
in functional areas such as financials, human messy maintenance management, manufacturing, nvagketrder fulfilment, product lifecyc
management, procurement, projects, sales, ser@imesupply chain planning. The software licenseatggland product support line of busir
provides customers with rights to unspecified safevproduct upgrades and maintenance releasesi@htecess to technical content, as well
as internet and telephone access to technical supgsonnel during the support period.

The consulting line of business assists custonmettsei design, implementation, deployment and upgodadur database, middleware and
applications software. Advanced product servicescamprised of Oracle On Demand and advanced predpport services. Oracle On
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for ouratzaéchnology and applications
software. Advanced product support services aneegidloy providing customers configuration and penfamce analysis, personalized support
and annual osite technical services. The education line of hess$ provides instructor led, media based andhietérased training in the use
our database, middleware and applications software.

We do not track our assets by operating segmenptsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetsigrating segments.
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The following table presents a summary of our besses and operating segmehts

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003

New software license:

Revenue®) $ 408. $ 353 $ 3,257
Sales and distribution expens 2,05¢ 1,71¢ 1,58¢
Margin ® $ 2027 $ 1817 $ 1,66¢
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue®) $ 565( $ 452¢ $ 3,92¢
Cost of service 56¢ 50¢ 444
Margin @ $ 5081 $ 4,021 $ 3,48t
Total software busines
Revenue®) $ 9,732 $ 8062 $ 7,18C
Expense: 2,62¢ 2,22¢ 2,03(
Margin ® $ 7,10¢ $ 583t $ 5,15(
Consulting:
Revenue® $ 1,79¢ $ 157 $ 1,74¢
Cost of service 1,471 1,27: 1,411
Margin ©® $ 32 $ 30C $ 33¢
Advanced product service
Revenue®) $ 307 $ 267 $ 26C
Cost of service 274 24C 19&
Margin ® $ 33 % 27 % 65
Education:
Revenue® $ 284 $ 254 $ 28¢€
Cost of service 21t 20C 21t
Margin ® $ 68 $ 54 $ 71
Total services busines
Revenue®) $ 238 $ 209 $ 2,29
Cost of service 1,96( 1,71: 1,821
Margin ® $ 427 % 381 $ 474
Totals:
Revenue®) $ 12,11¢ $ 10,15¢ $ 947!
Expense: 4,58¢ 3,93 3,851
Margin ® $ 753 $ 621¢ $ 5,62

@ For business and management evaluation purpogesntlerlying structure of our operating segmenéngk periodically. Segment data
related to the prior periods have been reclassifisdequired by Statement 131, to conform to threeat management organizational
structure

@ Operating segment revenues differ from the extem@drting classifications due to certain softwérense products that are classified as
service revenues for management reporting purpéskeltionally, software license updates and produgiport revenues for management
reporting include $320 million that were not recizgil on the accompanying consolidated statemerdperfations. See the reconciliation of
operating segment revenues to total revenues b



94



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2005

@ The margins reported reflect only the direct cdfalide expenses of each line of business and doepoesent the actual margins for e
operating segment because they do not contain@atbn of product development, information tediogy, marketing and partner
programs, and corporate and general and admiivgratpenses incurred in support of the lines @fitess. Additionally, the margins do
reflect the amortization of intangible assets,reedtiring costs, acquisition related costs andk-based compensatio

Reconciliation of operating segment revenues to altrevenues
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Total revenues for reportable segme $ 12,11¢ $ 10,15¢ $ 9,47t

Software license updates and product support res (320 — —
Total revenue $ 11,79¢ $ 10,15¢ $ 9,47

As a result of the acquisition of PeopleSoft afteobusinesses, we recorded adjustments to redppers obligations assumed in business
acquisitions to their estimated fair value at tbguasition dates. Software license updates andyataslipport revenue related to support
contracts in the amount of $320 million that woblre been otherwise recorded by PeopleSoft and atigeiired businesses as independent
entities, was not recognized in fiscal 2005. As@urers renew these support contracts, we will reizegthe full value of the support contracts
as deferred revenues and recognize the relateduevatably over the contract period.

Reconciliation of operating segment margin to incom before provision for income taxes
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Total margin for reportable segme| $ 7,53t $ 6,21¢ $ 5,62¢
Software license updates and product support res (320 — —
Product development and information technology aspe ,777) (1,537 (1,43%)
Marketing and partner program expen (37¢) (348 (345
Corporate and general and administrative expe (43¢) (379 (321)
Amortization of intangible asse (219) (36) (43
Acquisition relatec (20¢) (54) —
Restructuring 247 — —
Acquisition related stoc-based compensatic (25) — —
Interest expens (135) (21 (16)
Non-operating income, nt 157 10C (39)
Income before provision for income ta $ 4,05 $ 3,94 $ 3,42
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Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiprafor any subsidiary comprising greater thanehpercent of total revenues.
Year Ended May 31,

2005 2004 2003

Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenues Assetst) Revenues Assets) Revenues Assets)
United State! $ 4,94 $ 1,427 $ 4,35¢ $ 927 $ 4,297 $ 94t
United Kingdom 1,01¢ 112 841 11¢E 75€ 97
Japar 79¢€ 43 74€ 41 72C 39
Germany 57¢ 6 51¢& 7 46€ 1C
France 442 15 371 15 344 17
Other foreign countrie 4,02¢ 197 3,321 15C 2,892 23z
Total $ 11,79¢ $ 1,80C $ 10,15t $ 1,25¢ $ 947! $ 1,34(

@ Long lived assets excludes goodwill, intangibleetssind deferred taxes, which are not allocatsgéaific geographic locations as it is
impracticable to do s¢
17. PEOPLESOFT CUSTOMER ASSURANCE PROGRAM

In June 2003, in response to our tender offer, B&mft implemented what it referred to as the “oostr assurance program” or “CAP.” The
CAP incorporated a provision in PeopleSoft’s staddi@ensing arrangement that purports to contiabtiburden Oracle, as a result of our
acquisition of PeopleSoft, with a contingent ohliga to make payments to PeopleSoft customers dheelfail to take certain business actions
for a fixed period of time subsequent to the Acifjiwis. The payment is fixed at an amount generaditfween two and five times the license
first year support fees paid to PeopleSoft in thgliaable license transaction. PeopleSoft custometesn rights to the licensed products
whether or not the CAP payments are triggered.

PeopleSoft used six different standard versionh@fCAP over the 18-month period commencing Juli8 2BeopleSoft ceased using the CAP
on the Acquisition Date. In general, a customerhiargue that a payment is due under the CAP 1 e&the following events occurs:

» Either within one year or two years (depending uftnapplicable version of the CAP) from the cortteffective date, there is i
acquisition of PeopleSoft, as specifically desatibethe version; an

» Either within two or four years (depending upon #pplicable version of the CAP) from the contrdaive date, the acquiring company
takes any of the following action

— Discontinues or reduces support servir

— Announces its intention to not provide updatesew meleases for PeopleSoft products (Version OribeoCAP).

— Discontinues licensing PeopleSoft products to ne{far Versions Two through Six of the CAP) exigtioustomers

— Delays the timing of release of updates or newassie compared to the timing of updates and newsededelivered in the release cy
prior to the acquisition (for Versions Two and Téwaf the CAP)
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— Discontinues providing updates that, for VersiomoThrough Six of the CAP, are of the same frequexrd quality as those delivered
by PeopleSoft in the release cycle completed poidthe acquisition or (i) for Version Six of theA® only, by Oracle for any comparable
products

— Materially reduces the amount of money or resoutimsVersions Two and Three of the CAP) allocatedevelop updates for ti
supportable modules or to provide support senliedsw the level spent by PeopleSoft in the 12 meptteceding the acquisitio

— Reduces or limits the ability of the supportabledoies to integrate or operate with certain thirdypproducts (for Versions Two and
Three of the CAP)

» The customer requests the payment in writing byezified date. In addition, from the contract dat¢he date of the request, the custo
must have been a continuous, compliant subscribgupport services; ar

* The customer has timely paid for support servinesccordance with the terms of the custc's thel-operative software suppc
agreement

The maximum potential penalty under the CAP, bysiar, as of May 31, 2005 was as follows:

Dates Offered to Customerd?)

Maximum
Potential Penalty
CAP Version Start Date End Date (in millions)
Version 1 June 200: September 12, 20( 76 @

Version 2 September 12, 20( September 30, 20( 17C
Version 3 September 30, 20( November 7, 200 40
Version 4 November 18, 200 June 30, 200 1,35z
Version 5 June 16, 200 December 28, 200 792
Version 6 October 12, 200. December 28, 200 1,10¢
$ 3,5¢

1 Some contracts originally submitted to customeisrgo these end dates were executed following slatbs. The majority of the CA
provisions will expire no later than four yearseafthe contract dat

@ As of May 31, 2005, all but two contracts contagnWersion One of the CAP have expired by their ®r#Y6 million is the maximur
potential payment under the two remaining Versid®AP contracts

The purported CAP obligation was not reflected &alility on PeopleSoft's balance sheet as Peagte®ncluded that it could be triggered

only following the consummation of an acquisitit¥ie have concluded that, as of the Acquisition Déie penalty provisions under the CAP
represent a contingent liability of Oracle. We haoeérecorded a liability related to the CAP, asdeenot believe it is probable that our post-
acquisition activities related to the PeopleSodtdurct line will trigger an obligation to make angyment pursuant to the CAP.

In addition, while no assurance can be given dkdaltimate outcome of litigation, we believe weuld also have substantial defenses with
respect to the legality and enforceability of th&®RCcontract provisions in response to any clainekisg payment from Oracle under the CAP
terms.

We are recognizing as revenue, the fair value glimed PeopleSoft software support contracts oroagia basis over the remaining term of
software support period, generally less than orae. ykhis is consistent with Oracle’s revenue redigmpolicy for software support revenues.
Post-acquisition customer license transaction®&apleSoft products do not include CAP provisidite timing of revenue recognition for
post-acquisition license and software support reténansactions will not be affected by Oracle’guisition of PeopleSoft and
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the assumption of the purported CAP obligationg TAP provisions will not impact the timing of regation of post-acquisition license or
software support renewal revenues for the followigsons:

» The contingent CAP penalty is definitively cappsdéthe purchase date of the respective PeopléSeafises on a customer by customer
basis and will not subsequently increase as atrekahy pos-acquisition renewals of software support by theauer.

» The CAP language itself does not serve to creatshfigation on the part of Oracle to provide a $fiett upgrade to any customers that
purchased licenses subject to the CAP. We haveghubtated that customers will receive updatesafotong as they continue to purchase
software support and that we intend to providevallef support services that would not trigger pleaalty provisions under the
requirements of the various CAP’s. We provide safeMicense updates on a when-and-if availablesliaghose customers who have
purchased suppol

» Recording software support revenue over the terthegoftware support arrangements (generally ea€)will result in the recognition
post-acquisition maintenance revenues from forne@plRSoft customers based upon the fair valueso$éhvices rendered (as determined
by the optional renewal of these services) and @pubperly match the maintenance revenue with $secated costs of providing any
upgrades and support servic

18. GUARANTEES

Our software license agreements generally incledtin provisions for indemnifying customers agtliabilities if our software products
infringe a third partys intellectual property rights. To date, we haveinourred any material costs as a result of sndemnifications and ha
not accrued any liabilities related to such obligag in our consolidated financial statements. &ermf our software license agreements also
include provisions indemnifying customers agairaiilities in the event we breach confidentialityservice level requirements.

Our software license agreements also generallydiech warranty that our software products will saibsally operate as described in the
applicable program documentation for a period cf year after delivery. We also warrant that ses/iwe perform will be provided in a man
consistent with industry standards for a perio@@fiays from performance of the service. To dagehave not incurred any material costs
associated with these warranties.

19. LEASE COMMITMENTS

We lease certain facilities and furniture and emépt under operating leases. As of May 31, 20abyéuminimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdioad non-cancellable subleases were as follows:

Year Ended

(in millions) May 31,
2006 $ 157
2007 134
2008 10z
2009 85
2010 66
Thereaftel 11€
Future minimum operating lease payme 66C
Less: Minimum payments to be received from-cancellable subleas (95)
Total, net $  56E
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Rent expense was $173.8 million, $192.3 million &h82.6 million for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 20@spectively, net of sublease income
of approximately $10.1 million, $10.3 million andZ0 million, respectively. Certain lease agreemeonntain renewal options providing for
extension of the lease term.

20. BENEFIT PLANS

We offer various defined contribution plans for &uS. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutigm plan expense was $146.9 million,
$92.3 million and $94.5 million for fiscal years@) 2004 and 2003, respectively. In fiscal 2005jweeeased the number of plan participants
in our defined contribution plans as a result afiidnal employees from PeopleSoft and other adiiis as well as an increase in the number
of countries that offer defined contribution plans.

In the United States, regular employees can ppadteiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings aveédtment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%heir eligible compensation annually as definedHsyplan document or by the section 402(g)
limit as defined by the Internal Revenue Service. Match a portion of employee contributions, cutyamp to 6% of compensation each pay
period, subject to maximum aggregate matching anso@ur contributions to the plan, net of forfeésy were $45.5 million, $32.1 million and
$43.9 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiampto certain key employees whereby they mayragefmrtion of their annual
compensation until retirement or a date specifigthle employee in accordance with the plans. Aday 31, 2005, the deferred compensation
plan assets of $139 million were included in oth®sets and the deferred compensation plan liasildf $139 million were included in other
long-term liabilities of the accompanying consotethbalance sheets. As of May 31, 2004, the defewenpensation plan assets and liabilities
were $100 million.

21. RELATED PARTIES

We have entered into transactions with 15 compamnies the last three fiscal years in which our €Bieecutive Officer, directly or indirectly,
has a controlling interest. These companies puethasftware and services for $4.1 million, $2.1liomland $1.9 million during fiscal 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, we pusekiagoods and services from three of these conp&nmi&0.8 million, $0.9 million and $2.5
million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectivaljie goods and services purchased from these coespelated to computers, consulting,
training services and aircraft rental.

In fiscal 2004 and 2003, we recorded royalty rewsnof $1.0 million and $1.3 million, respectiveisgom a company in which our Chief
Executive Officer holds a controlling interest amdich was permitted to sell its hosted businessagament applications solutions under the
brand name Oracle Small Business Suite. We asstieedompany’s efforts to penetrate the smalless market by incurring $0.3 million
and $1.6 million in marketing expense in fiscal 2@thd 2003, respectively, promoting the Oracle $Bwdiness Suite. In the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2004, we terminated the revenue sharingeageat with this company.

In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we received $0.6ianil $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectivefpr purchases of software and services from
two companies affiliated with two other member®of Board of Directors who are executive officefswch companies.

The Independent Committee of our Board of Direclas reviewed and approved all individual transactigreater than $60,0(
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22. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action

Stockholder class actions were filed in the UnBattes District Court for the Northern District@&lifornia against us and our Chief Executive
Officer on and after March 9, 2001. Between Mar6B2and March 2003, the court dismissed plaintiftsisolidated complaint, first amended
complaint and a revised second amended complaietlast dismissal was with prejudice. On Septertb2004, the United States Court of
Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed the dismlissder and remanded the case for further procgsdifihe revised second amended
complaint named our Chief Executive Officer, owrttChief Financial Officer (who currently is Chaamof our Board of Directors) and a
former Executive Vice President as defendants. @tisplaint was brought on behalf of purchasersuofstock during the period from
December 14, 2000 through March 1, 2001. Plaingfisged that the defendants made false and mislgathtements about our actual and
expected financial performance and the performafcertain of our applications products, while agértindividual defendants were selling
Oracle stock in violation of federal securities sawlaintiffs further alleged that certain indivadwefendants sold Oracle stock while in
possession of material non-public information. iiéfs also allege that the defendants engageddnunting violations. Currently, the parties
are conducting discovery. Trial has been set fpt&Saber 11, 2006. Plaintiffs seek unspecified dagaamjus interest, attorneys’ fees and costs,
and equitable and injunctive relief. We believet the have meritorious defenses against this acéind,we will continue to vigorously defend
it.

Derivative Litigation

Stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed in theut of Chancery in the State of Delaware in ard\few Castle County on and after March
12, 2001. A revised amended consolidated compleastfiled in the Delaware action on October 9, 2(Qh& Delaware Derivative Action).
During the same period, similar stockholder denxatawsuits were filed in the Superior Court of tBtate of California, County of San Mateo
and County of Santa Clara. A consolidated amendetpbtaint was filed in San Mateo Superior Court anuhry 28, 2002 (the San Mateo
Derivative Action). On March 15, 2002, a similarigative suit was filed in the United States DistiCourt for the Northern District of
California (the Federal Derivative Action). The idative suits were brought by alleged stockholagr®racle, purportedly on our behalf,
against some of our current and former directong derivative plaintiffs alleged that these direstoreached their fiduciary duties to us,
abused their control, mismanaged Oracle, unjustticked themselves, committed constructive fraudilieached contracts with us, by mal
or causing to be made alleged misstatements abouewvenue, growth and the performance of certhoduoapplications products, while
certain officers and directors allegedly sold Oeastlbck based on material, non-public informatiod by taking actions that resulted in our
being sued in the federal stockholder class actibhs derivative plaintiffs seek compensatory atitodamages, disgorgement of profits,
treble damages and other relief. On November 2@4 2he Delaware Court issued an opinion grantimgraary judgment in favor of the
remaining defendants. On April 13, 2005, the Delangupreme Court unanimously upheld Court of Chafegrant of summary judgment.

Regarding the San Mateo Action, on April 18, 20D&, San Mateo Court dismissed plaintiffs’ claim foeach of contract. On December 8,
2003, the San Mateo Court approved plaintiffs’ ejun the San Mateo Derivative Action to dismikslefendants other than our Chief
Executive Officer and our then Chief Financial ©&fi. On June 6, 2005, the San Mateo Court sigrstipalated order, dismissing our former
Chief Financial Officer from the case. On June@)2, our Chief Executive Officer brought a motian §ummary judgment. A hearing is
scheduled for July 29, 2005. A trial date has lsrfor September 1, 2005.

On March 5, 2004, the Northern District Court ista@ order dismissing all defendants other tharGiief Executive Officer and then Chief
Financial Officer from the Federal Derivative ActiolThe Federal Derivative Action has been stayestipyllation of the parties. Any party n
terminate the stay with 30 days written notice.
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Litigation Related to the PeopleSoft Acquisit

In connection with our unsolicited offer for Pedptdt, we were involved in several legal proceedimggst of which have been resolved or are
in the process of being resolved:

» Antitrust litigation brought against us by the Ul®partment of Justice and numerous states cortindgeptember 2004 with a fin
judgment in our favor, and the governments conauts to appeal this judgmel

* We sued PeopleSoft and its board of directors ilm®&e Chancery Court in June 2003, alleging bredididuciary duty and other claims.
After the merger, this action was dismissed withjyxdice.

* In June 2003, J.D. Edwards filed suit against ustate court in Colorado and California, and Pespiefiled suit against us in state co
in California. Both companies alleged a varietlaims, including interference with contract antkiference with prospective economic
relations. These claims were dismissed with prepiditer the merger, along with our cross-complagiatinst PeopleSoft and its board of
directors.

» Stockholder class actions were filed in Delawarari@iery Court on and after June 6, 2003 againstl®®oft and its directors, alleging
breach of fiduciary duties in connection with otfeo. The actions were subsequently consolidateularsingle action (the PeopleSoft
Delaware Action). As a result of the merger, theipa have submitted to the Court a proposed dsahif the PeopleSoft Delaware Act
as moot. A hearing to consider any objections éodismissal of the action as moot has been séfgust 11, 200=

* Six similar stockholder class action lawsuits wiezl in California state court in June 2003. Twidlese actions were dismissed as moot,
and we expect to seek dismissal of the remainitigrecon the same grounc

Intellectual Property Litigatior

Mangosoft, Inc. and Mangosoft Corporation filedatgmt infringement action against us in the UnB¢ates District Court for the District of
New Hampshire on November 22, 2002. Plaintiffsggl that we are willfully infringing U.S. Patent 16,148,377 (th‘377 patent) and
5,918,229 (the ‘229 patent), which they claim tanoRlaintiffs seek damages based on our licengs séithe Real Application Clusters
database option, the 9i and 10g databases, afpiieation Server, and seek injunctive relief. Wave denied infringement and asserted
affirmative defenses and have counterclaimed agplamtiffs for declaratory judgment that the ‘3@@d ‘229 patents are invalid,
unenforceable and not infringed by us. On May D@4 the court held a claims construction (Markntagring, and on September 21, 200
issued a Markman order. Discovery closes on JuBO@5 with dispositive motions to be filed by Augldis2005. The court has not set a
hearing date for dispositive motions or a trialedat

Other Litigation

We are party to various legal proceedings and daaither asserted or unasserted, which ariseeinntiinary course of business, includ
proceedings and claims that relate to acquisiteafiave completed or to companies we have acquéade the outcome of these matters
cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not belithat the outcome of any of these claims or drig@above mentioned legal matters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidiedhcial position, results of operations or castwf
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SCHEDULE Il
ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Charged
L to Operations
Beginning
(in millions) Balance Write-offs
Trade Receivable Allowanci
Year Ended
May 31, 2002 $ 41z 12€ (182)
May 31, 200¢ $ 37€ 172 (18€)
May 31, 200¢ $ 36 19 (300)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, on June 30, 2005.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison, Chief Executi
Officer and Directol

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed &éydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the ddiedted.

Name Title Date

/s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal June 30, 2005
Executive Officer)

Lawrence J. Ellisol

Is] SAFRAA. CATZ Interim Chief Financial Officer and Director June 30, 2005
(Principal Financial Officer)

Safra A. Cat:

/sl JENNIFERL. M INTON Senior Vice President, June 30, 2005
Finance and Operations and

Jennifer L. Minton Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer

/sl JEFFREYO. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors June 30, 2005

Jeffrey O. Henle
/s/ JEFFREYB ERG Director June 30, 2005

Jeffrey Berc
/s/ H. RAYMOND B INGHAM Director June 30, 2005

H. Raymond Binghar
/s/  MICHAEL J. BoskKIN Director June 30, 200

Michael J. Boskir

/s/ HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA Director June 30, 200

Hector Garci-Molina

/s/  JosePHA. G RUNDFEST Director June 30, 200

Joseph A. Grundfe:

/sl Jack F. KEMP Director June 30, 200
Jack F. Kemy
/s/ DoNALD L. L ucas Director June 30, 200

Donald L. Lucas

/s/ CHARLESE. PHILLIPS, JR. Director June 30, 200

Charles E. Phillips, J
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT AS OF JUNE 23, 2005

Subsidiary

Oracle Argentina, S.A

Oracle Corporation Australia Pty. Limitt
Oracle Australia Holdings Pty. Lt

Oracle Consolidation Australia Pty. Limiti
Oracle Superannuation Pty. Limit

Retek Information Systems F

Oracle Austria Gmbt

Oracle Belgium B.V.B.A./sprl

Oracle BH d.o.0., Saraje\

J.D. Edwards & Company Foreign Sales,
Oracle do Brasil Sistemas Limita

PSFT (BVI) Holding Corporatio
PeopleSoft China Holding Corporati
Oracle Corporation Canada Ir

Steltor Corporatiol

Steltor Inc.

Steltor General Partnerst

WebGain (Nova Scotia) Compa
WebGain Canada In

Star Acquisition ULC

Oracle Canada Holdings, Ir

Oracle Nova Scotia Compa

Oracle Numetrix Compan

PeopleSoft Canada C

Oracle Systems Limite

Oracle Caribbean, In

Oracle Holding Cayma

Oracle International Holding Compa
PeopleSoft Chile Holdings, Lt
PeopleSoft C.I. Holdings Lt

PeopleSoft Columbia Holdings, Lt

PSFT C.I. Holdings Ltd

Sistemas Oracle de Chile, S.

Centro de Capacitacion Oracles Lt
Beijing Oracle Software Systems Company Limi
Oracle Research and Development Center, Beijindy,
Oracle Research & Development Center, Shenzhen
Oracle Colombia Limitad

Oracle de Centroamerica S.

Oracle Croatia d.o.c

Oracle Czech s.r.(

Oracle Danmark Ap:

Oracle Ecuador, S.A. (inactiv

Oracle Egypt Ltd

Oracle Finland OY

Oracle France, S.A.!

Retek Information Systems &

Oracle Deutschland Gmb

Retek Informationsysteme Gmtk

Oracle Hellas, S.A

Country of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.01

Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria
Belgium

Bosnia & Herzogovini

Barbados
Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands

Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canad¢
Canade
Cyprus

Puerto Ricc
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Chile

Chile

China

China

China
Colombia
Costa Ricz
Croatia

Czech Republi
Denmark
Ecuadot

Egypt

Finland

France

France
Germany
Germany
Greece



Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limit
Oracle Hong Kong Holdings Limite
Oracle Hungary Kft

Oracle India Private Ltc

Oracle Solution Services (India) Private L

PT Oracle Indonesi

J.D. Edwards Europe Lt

Oracle East Central Europe Limit
Oracle EMEA Limited

Oracle Technology Compat
Oracle EMEA Holding:s
PeopleSoft International Limite
PSFT Ireland Holding Compat
Oracle Software Systems Israel Limit
Oracle ltalia S.R.L

Oracle Corporation Jap:

Miracle Linux Corporatior
PeopleSoft Japan K

Retek Japan Kl

Oracle Korea, Ltd

Oracle Finance S.a.r

PeopleSoft Luxembourg S.a.l
Oracle Corporation Malaysia Sdn. Bl
Oracle MSC SDN BhL

Oracle de Mexico, S.A. de C.
Oracle Nederland B.\

Oracle Distribution B.V

Oracle Licensing B.V

Tinoway Nederland B.V

Oracle Scheduler B'

Oracle East Central Europe Services
Oracle UK Finance B\
PeopleSoft International B
Oracle Holding Antilles N.V
Oracle New Zealand, Lt

Oracle Norge A

Oracle del Peru, S./

Oracle Philippines, Inc

Oracle Polska, Sp.z.o.

Oracle Portuge— Sistemas de Informacao Lc¢

Oracle Romania SR
Saudi Oracle Limitet

Oracle Software and Solution Ltd., Belgrz

Oracle Corporation Singapore Pte. L

Oracle Corporation (Singapore) Holdings Private.

Oracle Slovensko spol. s.r.
Oracle Software d.o.o., Ljubljar

Oracle Corporation (South Africa)(Pty) Limitt
Oracle Empowerment (South Africa) (Pty.) L

Oracle Iberica, S.R.L

Oracle Svenska Al

Oracle Software (Switzerland) LL
Oracle AG

Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hungary

India

India

Indonesie
Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Israel

Italy

Japar

Japar

Japar

Japar

Korea
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Malaysia
Malaysia
Mexico

The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
Netherlands Antille:
New Zealanc
Norway

Peru
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Romanisa

Saudi Arabic
Serbia & Montenegr
Singapore
Singapore
Slovakia
Slovenia

South Africa
South Africa
Spain

Sweder
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc



Oracle Corporation (Thailand) Co. Lt
Oracle Bilgisayar Sistemleri Limited Sirke
Oracle APSS Trustee Limite

Oracle Corporation UK Limite

Oracle Corporation Nominees Limiti
Oracle Resources Lt

Oracle EMEA Managemel

Oracle Corporation UK Trustee Company Limi

Retek Information Systems Lt

TimesTen Performance Software (UK) Limit

WebTrak Ltd.

Oracle Uruguay, S.A

Oracle de Venezuela, C..
PeopleSoft Venezuela S.

Oracle Vietnam Pty. Ltc

Business OnLine, In

Delphi Asset Management Corporati
Graphical Information, Inc
Healthcare Acquisition | Corporatic
HighTouch Technologies, In
Istante Softwar

Jade Acquisition Cory

OIC Acquisition | Corporatiol

OIC Acquisition Il Corporatiot

OIC Acquisition Il Corporatior
OIC Acquisition V Corporatiol

OIC Acquisition VI Corporatiot
OIC Acquisition VII Corporatior
Oracle IV Centrum Holding Compar
Oracle Americas Investment LL
Oracle Acquisition | Corporatio
Oracle Cable, Inc

Oracle China, Inc

Oracle Credit Corporatio

Oracle Holdings, Inc

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle International Investment Corporat
Oracle Japan Holding, In

Oracle Taiwan, Inc

OracleMobile, Inc

Oracle OTC Holdings LL(

Oracle OTC Holdings General Partners
Oracle UK Holdings LLC

Oracle USA, Inc

PeopleSoft Texas, In

Reliaty, Inc.

Retek Inc.

Retek Information Systems, Ir
Retek International Inc

RSIB, Inc.

Strategic Processing Corporati
TimesTen, Inc

Thailand
Turkey
UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK
Uruguay
Venezuele
Venezuele
Vietnam
Delaware
Nevada
Florida
Delaware
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
California
Delaware
California
California
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Colorado
Delaware
New Hampshire
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
lllinois
Delaware



Exhibit 23.01
CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERE D PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No.’s 33-1638933564, 33-44702, 33-51754, 33-
53349, 33-53351, 33-53355, 333-18997, 333-19003,43335, 333-63315, 333-74973, 333-74977, 333-96833-73150, 333-122257, and
333-122396) of our reports dated June 30, 2005, wipeet to the consolidated financial statementssahddule of Oracle Corporation, Orz
Corporation management’s assessment of the efgras of internal control over financial reportiagd the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of Oracle Corporation imdéd in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the yeaded May 31, 2005.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLI

San Francisco, California
June 30, 2005



Exhibit 31.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this aahwveport, fairly present in a
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contemid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduttes designed under o

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this annual report is beingpared

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsiannual report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis annual report based on
such evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this annual report any change énrégistrant’s internal control over financial refopay that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; ar

The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing

equivalent function)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: June 30, 20C By: /S/ LAWRENCE J. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct



Exhibit 31.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this aahwveport, fairly present in a
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contemid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduttes designed under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this annual report is beingpared

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsiannual report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis annual report based on
such evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this annual report any change énrégistrant’s internal control over financial refopay that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; ar

The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent function)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: June 30, 20C By: /S/ SAFRA A.CATZ

Safra A. Cat:
President, Interim Chief Financial Officer
and Directol



Exhibit 32.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
June 30, 2005

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth below is being furnighte the Securities and Exchange Commission s@belthe purpose of complying with Rule
13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities ExgjgaAct of 1934 and with Section 1350 of Chaptepo63Bitle 18 of the United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@rfacle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Inte@inief Financial Officer of Oracle
Corporation, each certifies that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of Oracle
Corporation

/S/  LAWRENCE J. ELLISON
Name: Lawrence J. Elliso
Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

IS/ SAFRA A. CATZ

Name Safra A. Cat:
President, Interim Chief Financial
Officer and Directol




